
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Cabinet 
 

Date: Monday, 30 September 2019 at 10.00 am 

Venue: Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Bridge Street, Christchurch BH23 1AZ 

 

Membership: 

Chairman: 
Cllr V Slade 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr M Howell 

Cllr L Allison 
Cllr D Brown 
Cllr L Dedman 
 

Cllr A Hadley 
Cllr S Moore 
Cllr M Phipps 
 

Cllr Dr F Rice 
Cllr K Wilson 
 

 

All Members of the Cabinet are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of 
business set out on the agenda below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to attend. 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Sarah Culwick (01202 795273) or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d

 

o
n
 t

h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

20 September 2019 
 



 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are required to comply with the requirements of the Localism 
Act 2011 regarding disclosable pecuniary interests. Declarations received 
will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Confirmation of Minutes 5 - 20 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 
11 September 2019. 
 

 

4.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements 
for submitting these is available to view at the following link:- 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%2
0-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf  

The deadline for the submission of public questions is Monday 23 
September 2019. 

The deadline for the submission of a statement is 12.00 noon, Friday 27 
September 2019. 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 12.00 noon, Friday 27 
September 2019. 
 

 

5.   Happyland, East Undercliff Promenade – Grant of Lease 21 - 30 

 Happyland is a prime beachfront site that is in need of extensive repair or 
redevelopment in order to comply with the Council’s obligations under the 
lease and to ensure the future stability of the cliff. As a result of 
comprehensive legal and procurement advice, entering into a licence with 
the Meyrick Estate to allow development of the site is considered the most 
appropriate course of action. This Cabinet Report sets out the proposed 
option and seeks approval for the recommendation set out below to enable 
the redevelopment of the site. 
 

 

6.   Lansdowne 31 - 74 

 In 2017 Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) awarded Bournemouth 
Borough Council £8.5 million to deliver fundamental changes to Lansdowne 
Business District and the Lansdowne Programme was created. DLEP grant 
conditions require the £8.5m funding to be spent by 31 March 2021. In addition, 
the Lansdowne Programme requires £2.89m Council  match funding local 
contribution, increasing the total budget to £11.39m.  

The Lansdowne area has been in need of major capital investment for over 30 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%20-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s2305/Public%20Items%20-%20Meeting%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf


 
 

 

years.  Investment of £11.39m public funds will help to deliver the Lansdowne 
Vision where Lansdowne Bournemouth will become an exciting and attractive 
place to live, work, study and enjoy. Over £200m of private funds have already 
been invested in the area creating new university facilities, accommodation and 
offices. The £11.39m will also facilitate increased sustainable travel networks and 
community/cultural spaces. 

 A Lansdowne Programme Update (Appendix 1) outlines the work completed to 
date as well as key future milestones required to complete all works by 2021/22. 
 

7.   Wessex Fields Development Site 75 - 84 

 This paper informs the Cabinet of the current status of the Wessex Fields 
programme which aims to create and retain high quality jobs, reduce 
congestion and support the re-development of Royal Bournemouth and 
Christchurch Hospital.  It sets out the reasons for taking this opportunity 
forward, the key milestones to date and the reasons for the proposed 
changes. The paper recommends an agreed way forward to ensure 
progress towards unlocking the employment site for development, and to 
ensure the retention of the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) 
funding. 
 

 

8.   Garden Waste Collection Service 85 - 104 

 
Refuse and recycling waste collections are a statutory function which local 
authorities are required to by law provide. Separate garden waste 
collections are a discretionary service that Councils can legally charge 
householders a reasonable fee for. Chargeable garden waste collections 
have been operated by the legacy Councils since 2012.  

The service is popular with 49,681 subscribers for 2019, collecting 14,250 
tonnes of garden waste across BCP in 2018/19. 

There are several variations in the service across BCP which over time 
need to be reviewed and aligned to ensure parity. 

In December 2018, the Government published a new Waste and Resource 
Strategy for England and consultations on many aspects of waste 
management followed in April/May 2019. These consultations included 
proposals on garden waste bin size, collection frequencies and whether 
garden waste collections should be provided free of charge by local 
authorities.  
Full alignment of garden waste collection services across BCP must 
consider the Government’s new waste strategy, outcomes of subsequent 
consultations and associated legislation (requiring compliance by 2023). 
 

 

9.   Management of waste & cleansing services in Christchurch from April 
2020. 

105 - 128 

 
From 1 April 2020, BCP will be responsible for operating waste & cleansing 
services within the Christchurch area, meaning a pragmatic operating 
model is required to ensure sustained service delivery and a smooth 
transition for Christchurch residents.  

A new waste strategy and uniform collection methodology for BCP will take 
time to develop, agree and implement across the conurbation. Alignment of 

 



 
 

 

waste & cleansing services will provide parity across BCP, greater flexibility 
operationally, financial efficiencies and environmental improvements. 
In December 2018, the Government released a new Waste Strategy, ‘Our 
Waste, Our Resources: A strategy for England’. The strategy sets out 
proposals for how the Government’s ambitious aims will be achieved. 
These proposals have recently been consulted on and are likely to 
significantly impact on the tonnage, composition and value of waste that 
BCP is required to manage. BCP will be required to comply with new 
legislation resulting from the National Waste Strategy by 2023. 
 

10.   BCP Council Corporate Safeguarding Strategy 129 - 150 

 Ensuring that the Council’s Safeguarding responsibilities are fulfilled and 
delivered is the responsibility of all officers and Councillors.  The BCP 
Council Corporate Safeguarding Strategy sets out how the Council will 
deliver its safeguarding duties; the accountabilities of individual officers and 
Councillors; the training and development standards across the Council and 
how the Council will monitor the delivery of the framework. 
 

 

11.   Dorset Business Growth Programme – EU funding 151 - 156 

 
The Dorset Business Growth Programme, run by WSX Enterprise Ltd, 
provides free business advice to people running or setting up small and 
medium sized enterprises (SMEs) in Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole, and Dorset.  It has been very successful in helping create new 
businesses and new jobs in the area.  

The programme receives EU funding from the European Structural 
Investment Fund, match funding and in-kind support from local partners 
and local authorities.   

At the beginning of the programme, Bournemouth Council agreed to be the 
Accountable Body, and subsequently agreed to guarantee the obligations 
of WSX Enterprise as to the delivery of the programme as set out in the 
funding agreement provided by the Ministry for Housing Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG). Bournemouth Council made appropriate legal 
and financial provisions so as to protect the Council’s interests. These 
agreements have novated over to BCP Council. The original funding is 
coming to an end and a project extension has been applied for by WSX 
Enterprise Ltd.  For this to be granted, BCP Council is requested to extend 
the term of its commitment accordingly. 

 

 

12.   Cabinet Forward Plan  

 To consider the latest version of the Cabinet Forward Plan for approval. 
 

Published 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 11 September 2019 at 10.00 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr V Slade – Chairman 

Cllr M Howell – Vice-Chairman 

 
Present: Cllr L Allison, Cllr D Brown, Cllr L Dedman, Cllr A Hadley, 

Cllr S Moore, Cllr M Phipps, Cllr Dr F Rice and Cllr K Wilson 
 

Also in 
attendance: 

Cllr S Bartlett, Cllr P Broadhead, Cllr R Burton, Cllr D Butler, Cllr B 
Dove, Cllr G Farquhar, Cllr N Greene, Cllr M Haines, Cllr J Kelly, Cllr 
R Lawton, Cllr M Le Poidevin, Cllr T O’Neill and Cllr L Williams  

 
 

26. Declarations of Interests  
 
Councillor K Wilson declared a non-pecuniary interest in relation to Minute 
No. 34 (Housing Compliance Update) and Minute No. 42 (Project Admiral) 
for transparency purposes as a council tenant. 

Councillor A Hadley declared a non-pecuniary interest in relation to Minute 
No. 35 (Traffic Regulation Orders) specifically relating to 11.1 (Appendix 1 
item 84) as he lives opposite the proposed scheme. 
 

27. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 12 July 2019 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed. 
 

28. Public Issues  
 
The Leader reported that no public questions had been submitted on this 
occasion, but that the following statements had been submitted in 
connection with Item 11.5 (James Road to Sheringham Road, record 
unprotected bridleway (currently blocked) as a Public Right of Way (PRoW) 
on the agenda: 

Statement from Mr B Kelsell 

I have lived in Sheringham Road for 35 years with my Wife Margaret and 
we have never seen anyone use this path all these years, my Three 
children also grew up at Sheringham Road and also have never seen 
anyone use this. 

Statement from Mr J Mogg 

My property is located at the start of the proposed Bridleway. This 
application is wholly unnecessary and gives no benefit to my family and the 
vast majority of James Rd residents.  

The path is currently private and used for garden access only.   

5

Agenda Item 3



– 2 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
The creation of a Public Right Of Way would only exacerbate the recent 
spate of antisocial behaviour and undermine the security and privacy of all 
residents.  

This is not an application for the greater good and I know that the vast 
majority of residents are against the path being opened up to the public. 

Statement from Mrs S Jennings 

I strongly object to this proposal 

I cannot see how opening up this path would be of any benefit.  In the last 
couple of years one house (that I know of) in James Road has been 
burgled and cars in the road have recently been tampered with and broken 
into.  Opening up an ‘escape route’ would serve no purpose whatsoever.  
As it stands at the moment any person not residing in James Road would 
have to leave via the road and not be able to scoot down an alley. 

Towards the end of James Road where this so-called path is, there are 
families with young children.  In this day and age of drug use etc, would you 
want the possibility of needles etc being dropped in an area where your 
children or dogs might walk or the possibility of anyone hanging around the 
other side of your garden fence whilst your children were playing.  I feel 
this would be a hideout for drug abuse/alcohol and use as a dumping 
area. 

Another strong objection to this being opened up is I believe it would be 
used as a ‘rat run’ for scooters and motor bikes. 

We have some elderly residents who live in this road and at present with 
James Road being a dead end there is an element of safety for them, the 
opening up of this path I believe infringes their safety. 

One further point, who is going to maintain this path?  If it will be the 
Council’s responsibility I cannot see a regular maintenance plan occurring – 
our road is in dire need of repair and has been in bad repair for some time 
where no maintenance has occurred!   Therefore I cannot possibly see 
any upkeep of the path taking place. 

I hope the Council take the above points into consideration, together with 
signatures presented at the meeting and see fit to refuse the application. 

Statement from Mr & Mrs Hayward 

We have lived at the address for over twenty years with a direct view of the 
proposed DMMO application route from our garden.  We also had a close 
relationship with the previous owner of 104 Sheringham Road  who had 
lived there for over 50 years. 

We are incredibly surprised by this application, as far as we or any previous 
owners where aware, there has never been a public footpath along this 
route and have not seen anyone use the route detailed.  This application is 
due to a boundary dispute between neighbours which we have seen first 
hand and should not be supported. 

 

 

6

x-apple-data-detectors://1/


– 3 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
Petition regarding Item 11.5 on the agenda  

The Leader invited Mr Michael Atherton to present a petition of signatures 
in objection to Item 11.5 on the Cabinet Agenda (James Road to 
Sheringham Road, record unprotected bridleway (currently blocked) as a 
Public Right of Way (PRoW). 

Thank you for the opportunity to address the cabinet. My name is Michael 
Atherton and I live at 104 Sheringham Road. 

I would like to introduce our petition with reference to item 11.5 – the 
DMMO application to create a public bridleway between Sheringham Road 
and James Road. 

To give some back ground 

The catalyst for this DMMO application is a boundary dispute between 
myself and my neighbours, and their confusion of what constitutes as a 
private footpath, therefore this is not a valid DMMO application. 

My solicitor and I spent a month preparing a considerable amount of 
evidence such as photographs, videos statements and a legal 
submission on this matter which are the grounds of our objection.  The 
Senior Rights of Way Officer indicated to me that he had made his 
recommendation without reading any of our evidence.   

The grounds of our objection are: 

 There is insufficient evidence to prove on the balance of probabilities 
that the general public have been using the proposed path as of right 
for a full period of 20 yrs without interruption.  This is supported by 
the mature overgrowth, 7m high oak tree obstructing the route and 
the many honest neighbor statements, some of whom have lived in 
the road for 35+years.  

 There is incontrovertible evidence, which shows that a private right 
of way exists over part of the proposed footpath for the benefit of 
particular property owners that surround the route listed on the land 
registry. 

 OS mapping “portrays physical features, but it expresses no opinion 
on public or private rights” this is a quote from the Definitive Map 
Orders Consistency Guidelines from the Planning Inspectorate. 

 The alleged route running within the boundary of my property is 0.9m 
wide and very steep. How anyone could imagine a bridleway along 
this route is ridiculous. 

 Perhaps if the Senior Rights of Way Officer read our submission and 
conducted a site visit his recommendation would be different. 

 The Ramblers association did conduct a site visit and create a 
report, here is the conclusion “In normal circumstances the Ramblers 
Association would welcome the addition of any right of way to the 
Definitive Map but it is the circumstances and from what I was able 
to see on my visit, I don’t see the addition of this path is practical or 
that its use, if provided, would in my opinion be very light if it was 
used at all.  I don’t see how it could be used as a bridleway”    
 

7



– 4 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
The petition has been signed by 54 residents who object to this application 
and reside within a 200m radius of the proposed route along James Rd and 
Sheringham Road.  I am confident with more notice than the 10days notice 
of the cabinet given by Mr Elias that we could have achieved many more. 

So to reflect how can this application to protect an alleged public right of 
way be supported when the “public” who has been supposedly using it, 
object to it.   

In addition Cabinet were advised that a statement had also been received 
in relation to Agenda Item 5 (BCP Council Disabled Tax-Exempt Vehicle 
(DTEV) Parking Permit Policy) on the agenda; 

Statement from Mrs S Ward 

Cabinet are due to discuss the harmonisation of disabled parking permit 
fees across the conurbation. Given that disabled people are much more 
likely to be financially disadvantaged, and given that one area is already not 
charging a fee at all, the Cabinet should agree today to scrap all fee’s 
associated with disabled parking permits. Not only has this been shown to 
be possible, but it is the right thing to do. Please scrap fee’s for disabled 
parking permits across the BCP area.  
 
In closing Leader advised those present at the meeting that Cabinet had 
been reviewing the ways in which councillors are engaged in the decisions 
which come through the Cabinet and Portfolio Holder route to maximise the 
transparency in decision making.  

She advised that one of the issues that all councillors in their ward role are 
regularly involved in is transportation issues – from disabled parking 
schemes to footpaths to changes to traffic regulation. To ensure that the 
Portfolio Holder gets the input and views of councillors and the public a 
group would be established to consider such issues with the Portfolio 
Holder and input into the recommendations he brings forward to Cabinet. 
This will have some similarities with the Transportation Advisory Group that 
operated within the former Borough of Poole which was considered useful 
by the Portfolio Holders, back bench councillors and officers. 

The Leader further advised that it was proposed to arrange regular monthly 
engagement sessions with all councillors invited and this would enable 
external bodies and businesses who wish to put forward proposals and 
ideas to the members of the Council and seek feedback, or who wish to 
make presentations on major projects.  

The Leader advised that the terms of reference for these groups was being 
prepared and all councillors would be updated shortly.  

The Leader advised that the intention of each of the groups was to support 
Cabinet members in their decision making, feeding back to Cabinet and 
were not decision making bodies, rather to assist with engagement, and did 
not require therefore a formal change to the Constitution. 
 
 
 
 
 

8



– 5 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
29. BCP Council Disabled Tax-Exempt Vehicle (DTEV) Parking Permit Policy  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'A' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet approval was sought to harmonise the qualification criteria, cost 
and use of Disabled Tax-Exempt Vehicle (DTEV) parking permits across 
BCP Council. 

Cabinet discussed the provision of DTEV parking permits for those in 
receipt of Council Tax support and felt that the cost of the permit should be 
waived in such circumstances. 

A Councillor present at the meeting expressed the view that all disabled 
drivers should be entitled to park free of charge, and further to this 
expressed concern with regards to the scope of the consultation process 
and urged Cabinet to consider deferral of the item in order to fully consult 
with stakeholders.  

In relation to this Cabinet were advised that the scheme was a discretionary 
scheme and that the scope of the consultation was also discretionary.   

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) Option C within the report is approved as the BCP Council 
Disabled Tax – Exempt Vehicle (DTEV) parking permit policy; 
and 

(b) The £25.00 annual cost of the Disabled Tax – Exempt Vehicle 
(DTEV) parking permit be waived for those in receipt of Council 
Tax Support 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Transport and Infrastructure 
 

30. Statement of Community Involvement  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'B' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were asked to approve the Statement of Community Involvement 
for consultation in order for the Council to set out how it intends to engage 
residents in the planning system.   

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board reported that the Board, 
at its meeting on 9 September 2019 recommended that at recommendation 
‘b’ of the Cabinet report, the Cabinet should agree Option 1 as set out in 
paragraph 11 of the report, and further to this recommended the following 
amendments to the Statement of Community Involvement;  

- Paragraph 2.30 be amended to add the following words to the first 
sentence after the word will “…have the opportunity to…” 

- Page 12 should be amended to remove Primary Care Trusts and 
replace with Clinical Commissioning Groups. 

9



– 6 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
Cabinet discussed the desire to move to more digital methods of notification 
but expressed concern that the appropriate digital platforms weren’t yet 
available, and that this would need to be a transitional process and that 
currently it was still necessary to write to people. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the draft Statement of Community Involvement at Appendix 1 to 
the report be approved and released for six-week consultation 
from 7th October 2019; 

(b) the recommendation (option 3) on how planning applications are 
to be publicised be approved; and 

(c) any minor changes to the draft SCI needed prior to the 
consultation be delegated to the Director for Growth & 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Strategic Planning; and 

(d) post consultation a final SCI shall return to Cabinet for formal 
adoption later in the year. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Strategic Planning 
 

31. Boscombe & Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan Decision Statement  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'C' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

The Cabinet were asked to agree the Examiners recommendations, as set 
out in the Decision Statement, to enable the Neighbourhood Plan to 
proceed to referendum.  

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board reported that the Board, 
at its meeting on 9 September 2019 commended the plan and the hard 
work which had been carried out but informally requested that Cabinet 
review the suggested date of the 31 October to ensure that this is the most 
appropriate date. 

Councillors present at the meeting extended their thanks and appreciation 
to all those involved in the work which had been carried out and urged that 
the best possible date be chosen in order to ensure the best engagement 
possible. 

Cabinet Members expressed their support for the plan and discussed the 
potential dates for the referendum, confirming their preference to stick to 
the suggested 31 October 2019 date. 

RECOMMENDED that Council:- 

(a) Consider and accept the modifications to the Boscombe & 
Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan recommended in the 
Examiner’s Report 16 July 2019, attached as Appendix 2 to the 
report; 

10



– 7 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
(b) Agree with the Examiner’s recommendation that the Boscombe 

& Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan as modified meets Basic 
Conditions; 

(c) Agree that the Neighbourhood Plan as modified, attached as 
Appendix 4, can proceed to Referendum, and publish this 
decision through issuing the Decision Statement; 

(d) Agree with the Examiner’s recommendation that the area for 
referendum will be the designated Boscombe & Pokesdown 
Neighbourhood area, as shown in the Plan at Appendix 1 (the 
combined area of Boscombe East & Pokesdown and Boscombe 
West wards) 

(e) As competent authority under the Habitats Regulations, agree 
to adopt the Habitats Regulations Assessment of the Boscombe 
& Pokesdown Neighbourhood Plan, attached as Appendix 5 to 
the report; and 

(f) Delegate authority to the Director of Growth and Infrastructure 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning 
to agree further minor changes to the Plan. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Strategic Planning 
 

32. Local Development Scheme – BCP Local Plan  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'D' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet approval was sought for the BCP Council Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) to come into effect from 23 September 2019. In addition 
approval was sought for delegated authority to enable the Director for 
Growth and Infrastructure in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Strategic Planning to make any minor amendments to the LDS document. 

The Portfolio Holder informed Cabinet that the LDS provided the community 
and other interested parties with an indication of what local plan documents 
are to be prepared by the Council and when. In addition the Portfolio Holder 
advised that the timetable includes particular milestones that highlight 
public consultation stages where interested parties can be involved in the 
plan making process. 

RECOMMENDED that Council:- 

(a) approves that all previous planning policy work on emerging 
legacy Local Plans of the preceding authorities is refocused on 
the preparation of an area-wide BCP Local Plan;  

(b) approve the Local Development Scheme to come into effect on 
23 September 2019 and confirm the timetable to produce the 
BCP Local Plan and other related planning policy documents; 
and  

11



– 8 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
(c) delegate authority to the Head of Growth & Infrastructure in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning to 
make minor text changes to the LDS document to be published 
on 23 September 2019. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Strategic Planning 
 

33. BCP Council Local Plan Issues and Call for Sites  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Planning presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'E' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet approval was sought to undertake an initial consultation on 
possible issues the BCP Local Plan will need to address, as well as carry 
out a ‘Call for Sites’ exercise to invite anyone with a potential development 
site to submit it to the Council for consideration as part of the Local Plan 
process. 

A Councillor present at the meeting stressed the importance of reaching as 
wide an audience as possible through the consultation process. 

In relation to this the Portfolio Holder assured Councillors that a variety of 
communication methods were going to be used in order to publicise the 
consultation. 

RESOLVED that the BCP Local Plan issues and call for sites letter be 
released for a minimum of 6 weeks consultation in accordance with 
Regulation 18 of the Local Planning regulation. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Strategic Planning 
 

34. Housing Compliance Update  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Housing presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'F' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were asked to note the update which provided reassurance that 
compliance of the housing stock with regards to water quality, gas safety, 
asbestos, electrical safety, fire safety and lift safety was at good levels and 
well within the legal requirements. 

RESOLVED that performance be reported annually to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board and Cabinet. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Housing 

Councillor K Wilson declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item for the 
purposes of transparency and remained present for the discussion and 
voting thereon. 
 
 

12



– 9 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
35. Traffic Regulation Orders  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure presented a report, a 
copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which 
appears as Appendix 'G' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

The report sought Cabinet approval for public consultation on a number of 
proposed Traffic Regulation Orders and for consideration of Rights of Ways 
Issues. The Cabinet was also asked to agree to delegate approval to allow 
Traffic Regulation Orders and Disabled Parking bays to be advertised in the 
future, with any representations received in response to these 
advertisements being considered by the Cabinet. 

The Leader advised in relation to these items that as raised earlier in the 
meeting it would be the intention that in future such items would be 
submitted to the Transport Advisory Group once established which would 
then discuss the items prior to coming to Cabinet. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the Traffic Regulation Orders be advertised as set out in Report 
11.1;  

(b) the Traffic Regulation Orders be advertised for new disabled 
parking bays as set out in Report 11.2; 

(c) the footpath through the Winter Gardens site be diverted as set 
out in Report 11.3;  

(d) the bridleway on Longfleet Drive be defined as set out in Report 
11.4;  

(e) the decision whether to make an Order to define a bridleway on 
the path between James Road and Sheringham Road as set out 
in Report 11.5 be deferred and passed to the Transport 
Advisory Group once established for their consideration; and 

(f) authority be delegated to the Director of Growth and 
Infrastructure to make Traffic Regulation Orders and related 
Highways Orders where the required public has been 
undertaken and no objections have been received.  

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Transport and Infrastructure 

Councillor A Hadley declared a non-pecuniary interest in relation to Item 84 
of Appendix 1 and remained present for the discussion and voting thereon. 
 

36. Highways Maintenance Severe Weather Plan  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Environment and Climate Change presented a 
report, a copy of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of 
which appears as Appendix 'H' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet approval was sought for the preparation activities for Winter 
Service delivery 2019/20 across the BCP Council conurbation. 

13



– 10 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
The Portfolio Holder advised that the report set out details of the 
operational planning, communications objectives and outlined wider future 
transformational change reviews necessary to ensure BCP Council can 
provide a legally compliant, safe, reliant, fit for purpose, affordable Highway 
Maintenance Scheme. In addition the Portfolio Holder advised that Winter 
Service was a statutory BCP function essential to keeping the BCP 
conurbation safe and moving during periods of ice and snow. 

The Leader informed the Cabinet of a scheme currently run in Sutton which 
enabled neighbours and households to collect an allocated amount of grit, 
and in relation to this advised that it was hoped more information could be 
gathered in respect of such a scheme. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) Cabinet notes that the preparations for Winter Service 2019/20 
are in place to ensure continuity of service previously provided 
by the three preceding Highway Authorities (Dorset County 
Council, Bournemouth & Poole Council’s) for this coming 
Winter; 

(b) a review of Winter Service is undertaken at the end of the 
2019/20 season (during April 2020) to inform the development of 
a BCP Council Winter Service Plan. Including the extent of 
service and associated service priorities are reviewed e.g. 
options for future treatment of roads, pavements and cycle 
paths. 

(c) learning from the review is used to inform the wider response to 
weather related incidents on the highway (gales, flooding and 
heat) 

(d) a wider Highway Maintenance activities review is undertaken, 
and an options report developed. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Environment and Climate Change 
 

37. People Strategy  
 
The Leader of the Council presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'I' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were asked to approve the draft BCP Council 2019-2023 People 
Strategy and action plan, including a set of proposed behaviours that will 
form the basis of a corporate Behaviours Framework.  

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board reported that the Board, 
at its meeting on 9 September 2019 whilst supportive of the report 
suggested that the wording on page 405 of the Cabinet Agenda “where 
good things happen to good people” be amended or removed. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) subject to the removal or amendment of the wording on page 405 
of the Cabinet Agenda “where good things happen to good 

14



– 11 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
people”, the draft BCP Council 2019 - 2023 People Strategy and 
action plan be approved; and  

(b) the proposed behaviours be endorsed. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Leader 
 

38. Implementation of pay and reward strategy  
 
The Leader of the Council presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix ‘J' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were asked to consider and support the approach to implementing 
BCP Council’s pay and reward strategy and to approve the resources 
required to deliver the new arrangements. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board reported that the Board, 
at its meeting on 9 September 2019 made the following recommendations 
in respect of the item: 

(a) Cabinet agree the recommendations at 1-5 of the report 

(b) Cabinet resolve that the recommendation at 6 in the Cabinet report 
be amended to end after the words “Trade Unions” 

(c) Cabinet approve the following additional recommendation to be 
added at 7, “To agree that a report be brought back to Cabinet to 
approve the final pay and reward arrangements in due course” 

(d) Subject to the approval of the above recommendations Cabinet 
agree that the recommendation at 7 in the Cabinet report becomes 
recommendation 8. 

In addition the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board advised that 
Overview and Scrutiny would want to consider this issue again before the 
final report to Cabinet and would appreciate as much time as possible in 
order to consider future Cabinet reports. 

Cabinet discussed the report and advised that they understood the 
concerns raised, but that it was necessary to ensure that the pay and 
reward arrangements were fair and equitable. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: 

(a) support the proposed characteristics of the new pay structure; 

(b) support the aspiration to have new pay and reward; 
arrangements in place as soon as is reasonably possible, and 
preferably within 12 months of mobilisation; 

(c) support the approach to implementation subject to approval of 
funding by Council; 

(d) support a further competition under Lot 4 of the CCS 
Management Consultancy Framework as the process for 
procuring an external partner to support the implementation 
process; 

15



– 12 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
(e) Delegate Authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with 

the Leader of the Council to award the contract for an external 
partner following the procurement process; 

(f) Delegate authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council to undertake collective bargaining 
with recognised trade unions; and 

(g) agree that a report be brought back to Cabinet to approve the 
final pay and reward arrangements in due course. 

RECOMMENDED that Council approve the allocation of £2.1m funding 
for additional internal capacity and external support for delivering the 
pay and reward strategy. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Leader 
 

39. BCP Council Investment to Support the One Dorset Pathology Unit  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'K' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were requested to consider supporting one of the Councils key 
strategic partners in delivering a new modern pathology facility to serve 
both the conurbation and the rest of Dorset, by way of an investment from 
the Council into the Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch National Health 
Service (NHS) Foundation Trust (RBCH) which will be repaid evenly in 
equal instalments of capital of just under £1m per annum. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board queries the existence of 
a BCP Council Investment Strategy, and it was confirmed that a BCP 
Council wide strategy would be coming before Cabinet in due course, but 
that it was desirable to approve this in advance in order to take advantage 
of this investment opportunity.  

Cabinet discussed the benefits of the scheme. Further to this Cabinet were 
advised that the recommendation would go to the 5 November 2019 
Council meeting to enable the Audit & Governance Committee to consider 
the report prior to Council. 

RECOMMENDED that Council:- 

(a) approve a £14.9m investment over a 15-year repayment period to 
The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust on the terms outlined in in paragraph 3 of the 
report; 

(b) extend the Councils schedule of approved counterparties for 
investments to include the Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch 
Hospital NHS Foundation trusts for the purposes of this 
investment only as well as increase the time limit to 15 years;  

(c) delegate to the Chief Finance Officer the approval of any further 
detailed terms for the provision of the investment; and 

16



– 13 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
(d) authorise the Council’s Monitoring Officer to draw up and enter 

into a suitable legal agreement with the NHS Foundation Trust. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Finance 
 

40. Budget Monitoring Report - 2019/20 Quarter 1  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'L' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were asked to consider the council’s performance against budget 
for the period 1 April 2019 to 30 June 2019. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board reported that the Board, 
at its meeting on 9 September 2019 recommended that Cabinet practice 
sustainable budgeting and avoid using reserves for day to day revenue 
needs. 

A member of the Council present requested that more detail be provided in 
terms of the pressures on the Libraries and Cultural Services. 

In relation to this the Portfolio Holder for Finance advised that there were a 
lot of detailed figures within the report and that it would be appropriate for 
the relevant corporate director to provide further detailed information.  

RESOLVED that Cabinet:- 

(a) approves the actions set out in paragraphs 74-77 of the report;  

(b) notes the contents of the report; 

(c) notes the position of the forecast for the General Fund outturn 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2020;  

(d) notes the update (set out in Appendix C) from the Corporate 
Director for Children’s Services on the progress in delivering a 
sustainable solution to the High Needs element of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant; and 

(e) notes the forecast year end outturn positions for capital, 
reserves and Housing Revenue Account neighbourhood 
accounts. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Finance 
 

41. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 
RESOLVED that in view of the nature of the business to be transacted 
it is likely that if members of the public were present during the 
following item there would be disclosure to them of ‘exempt 
information’ as described in the category indicated and they be 
therefore excluded from the meeting in accordance with Section 100A 
(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

17



– 14 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
42. Project Admiral Leasehold Considerations and Acquisition Proposals  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Housing presented a report, a copy of which had 
been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 
'M' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were updated on the current position in respect of Project Admiral 
with particular reference to the need to consider Leaseholder 
Representations following section 20 consultation.  

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board reported that the Board, 
at its meeting on 9 September 2019 made the following recommendations 
in respect of the item: 

(a) Cabinet should carefully consider the recommendations as set out in 
the report and the options set out in the exempt part of the report. 

(b) Cabinet be advised that the Overview and Scrutiny Board do not 
support Recommendation B on the grounds of fairness to 
leasholders due to there only being a small number of properties 
able to be re-purchased, of fairness to the rest of BCP Council’s 
tenants and to those on the Council’s Housing Registers due to the 
way in which it is proposed to use HRA finances to support the 
recommendations as set out in the report. 

A Councillor in attendance raised concerns with regards to the buy back 
arrangements stressing that the value would need to take in to account the 
proposed maintenance costs and could potentially present negative equity. 

Cabinet were advised that the District Valuer would depress the value of 
the property based on the fact that there was a maintenance bill to be paid, 
however the properties would appreciate in value once the work had been 
carried out.  

Following discussion on the recommendations contained within the 
confidential part of the report, the meeting proceeded back into open 
session for the discussion regarding the buy back of properties, the 
summing up from the Portfolio Holder for Housing and the vote on the 
recommendations below. 

RESOLVED that Cabinet:- 

(a) approves the recommendations set out in the confidential report; 
and 

(b) Offers to repurchase a limited number of properties as set out in 
Option 4, and delegates authority to the Director of Housing in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer 
to decide which properties will be repurchased further to this 
decision. 

Voting: Unanimous 

Portfolio Holder: Housing 
 
 
 
 

18



– 15 – 

CABINET 
11 September 2019 

 
43. Cabinet Forward Plan  

 
The Leader advised that the Cabinet Forward Plan was published on the 
Councils website. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 12.45 pm  

 CHAIRMAN 

19



This page is intentionally left blank

20



 

CABINET 

 

Report subject Happyland, East Undercliff Promenade – Grant of Lease 

Meeting date 30 September 2019 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary Happyland is a prime beachfront site that is in need of 
extensive repair or redevelopment in order to comply with the 
Council’s obligations under the lease and to ensure the future 
stability of the cliff. As a result of comprehensive legal and 
procurement advice, entering into a licence with the Meyrick 
Estate to allow development of the site is considered the 
most appropriate course of action. This Cabinet Report sets 
out the proposed option and seeks approval for the 
recommendation set out below to enable the redevelopment 
of the site.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that: 

 (a) The Council issues a Voluntary Ex-Ante 
Transparency (VEAT) Notice advertising the 
Council’s intention to enter into an agreement for 
lease of the Happyland site, shown edged red on 
the attached plan, with a special purpose vehicle 
established by the Meyrick Estate (the SPV) to grant 
a lease to a nominee of that SPV; 

(b) The Council enters into an agreement for  lease with 
the SPV to grant a 150 year lease at an initial rent of 
£1,001 per annum and an initial premium that 
reflects the uplift in value arising from the grant of 
the planning consent, after deduction of the costs 
of obtaining the consent.  This Agreement for Lease 
to be conditional upon the grant of planning 
consent for the redevelopment of the site; 

(c) To enter into a licence to alter and sublet with the 
Meyrick Estate, as freeholder, to permit the future 
development of the site.  In consideration, the 
Estate will receive an appropriate share of the rent 
under this lease and a share of any additional 
capital value accruing to the Council; and  

(d) authority be delegated to agree terms for all the 
relevant legal documentation and the content of the 
VEAT Notice to the Corporate Property Officer in 
consultation with the S151 Officer and Monitoring 

21

Agenda Item 5



 

Officer.  

Reason for 
recommendations 

The Happyland site is a leasehold site earmarked for 
redevelopment under the Seafront Strategy. The existing 
building is in poor condition and will require significant 
expenditure in order for the Council to meet its repairing 
obligations under the lease. 

This decision means that the freeholder of the site is able to 
progress development proposals in accordance with planning 
policy in order to add to the range of facilities for visitors to 
Bournemouth beach.  This proposal is motivated by place-
shaping, rather than financial gain, as it is unlikely to generate 
a significant financial return for the Council. 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Lewis Allison (Portfolio Holder for Tourism, Leisure 
& Communities) 

Councillor Mark Howell (Portfolio Holder for Regeneration & 
Culture) 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton (Corporate Director of Regeneration & Economy) 

Contributors Chris Saunders, Head of Operations, Destination and Culture 

Wards Westbourne & Westcliff 

Classification For Decision  
Title:  

Background  

1. The Happyland site is part of a larger area of the seafront and cliffs leased by the 

Council from the Meyrick Estate under a 999-year lease granted in 1903.  This 

lease restricts the Council’s ability to redevelop this site without the consent of 

the Freeholder. 

2. Previous developments elsewhere on the land covered by the 1903 lease have 

been promoted by the Council, with the Freeholder’s consent sought for 

subletting and redevelopment once a preferred bidder has been selected.  

However, the Meyrick Estate has indicated a desire to take a more active role in 

development on its freehold land. 

3. This has led to a close working relationship on the Happyland site, with the 

Council and the Estate jointly funding site investigations and planning advice.  A 

market engagement exercise in the summer of 2018 indicated strong interest in 

the site for a variety of uses including hotel, restaurants, leisure, and events 

space.  Feedback from this exercise demonstrated that the objectives of the 

Estate are closely aligned with those of the Council. 

4. It is proposed that the Meyrick Estate will create a Special Purpose Vehicle 

(SPV) to promote development of this site.  An SPV is a single-purpose, limited 

22



 

liability company established for the delivery of a single project.  The Council will 

enter into an agreement to grant a 150-year lease to this company, conditional 

upon planning consent for redevelopment.  The SPV will market the site, inviting 

premium bids for the assignment of the SPV’s 150-year lease, when granted.  

The Meyrick Estate will then select its preferred bidder and enter into a 

conditional contract with that party, which will seek planning consent for its 

proposals.  The grant of planning consent will then trigger the grant of the 150-

year lease and it is anticipated that the SPV will direct that this lease is granted 

direct to the developer. 

5. The Estate, through the SPV, will require the developer to re-provide public 

toilets and cliff access should the current arrangements be lost. 

6. The Council will have no ownership of the SPV and will have no direct control 

over its activities.  For example, the Council is not able to specify what 

development it wishes to see on the site.   

7. The Council’s consent for alterations and/or change of use will be required under 

the lease.  Via a licence for alterations, the Council will be able to impose 

conditions on the developer to ensure that the development proposals are 

carried through to completion within a reasonable timescale. 

8. Although the SPV will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Meyrick Estate, the 

consent of the Estate, as Freeholder, will still be required for the grant of the 

150-year lease and for any subsequent alterations.  This separation of roles will 

ensure that their Trustees are be able to properly discharge their duties.  The 

Meyrick Estate will secure a share of any uplift in value via a Licence for 

Alterations and Subletting with the Council. 

9. At the end of the 150-year lease, however terminated, the Meyrick will be able to 

propose terms for the grant of a new lease of up to 150 years.  The Council will 

then be under an obligation to properly consider this proposal and not to 

unreasonably reject this offer provided it constitutes best consideration.  The 

Council will still have legitimate grounds for rejection, e.g. planning policy.  In 

view of the landlord controls in the 1903 lease, which restricts the Council’s 

ability to redevelop or sublet the site without the Estate’s consent, this is seen as 

a reasonable provision. 

10. The Council has ambitions to review and further develop the use of the 

Bournemouth International Centre. Feasibility work is at a very early stage and 

will need to dovetail with the Happyland development at the appropriate stage to 

ensure physical and market compatibility. The Happyland site developer and 

operator will require cliff top access for the build and for future operations of the 

site. While the agreement for lease will make provision for such access the 

specifics of that right of way will depend on the detail of the Happyland scheme 

brought forward, and will need to consider the BIC proposals. However it should 

be noted that the land on the cliff top also forms part of the 1903 lease with the 

Meyrick Estate and therefore changes may require their consent.  

23



 

 

Alternative options considered - and reasons for rejection 
 

a) The Council could market the site itself to seek a developer/operator.   

11. This would ensure that any development proposals coming forward on the site 

are evaluated in accordance with its own criteria and the selection of the 

preferred bidder would fully reflect the Council’s aspirations for the site. 

12. Recent legal decisions suggest that disposals of this nature, that would place 

development obligations on the preferred bidder, would likely fall under the Public 

Procurement Regulations.  Due to the value of the scheme, this would 

necessitate an EU compliant tender, which would be both costly and result in a 

lengthy process.  Furthermore, soft market testing suggests that there would be a 

reluctance to engage in this process in view of market uncertainty around the 

impact of Brexit.  

13. Any procurement on this basis would still require consent for subletting and 

alterations under the lease from the Meyrick Estate, as Freeholder.  Since it may 

be difficult to incorporate sufficient flexibility into a public procurement to meet the 

requirements of the freeholder, this increases the chance of an abortive 

procurement if consent is subsequently withheld. 

14. An agreement for lease with a special purpose vehicle, established by the 

Meyrick Estate, will overcome many of these issues.  The Estate is not subject to 

the same procurement restrictions as the Council and will therefore be able to 

engage with the market and select its preferred development partner via a 

cheaper and more market-friendly process.  This carries a greater chance of a 

bidder coming forward with proposals that meet the requirements of the 

Freeholder.  Whilst the Council will have no direct control over selection of the 

Estate’s development partner, it will hold the right of veto, under this proposed 

agreement in the unlikely event that inappropriate development or proposals that 

restrict seafront access are put forward.  The agreement for lease and lease will 

also include safeguards so that the Council will be able to regain control of the 

site if development does not happen. 

15. For these reasons, a Council-run procurement is not the preferred way forward. 

b) Do nothing, i.e. continue letting the building as an amusement arcade. 

16. Unfortunately, the building housing the amusement arcade is in poor condition 

and requires significant expenditure to put it into good order.  Also, the low ceiling 

at first floor level severely limits commercial use of this space.   

17. The back wall of the building serves as a retaining structure for the cliff above 

and whilst this is performing adequately at present if the whole building remains, 

a long-term solution that will provide new, fit for purpose visitor facilities whilst at 

the same time ensuring cliff stability is the preferred way forward. Modelling of a 

suitable replacement retaining structure has suggested a likely cost of £5million. 

24



 

If we ‘do nothing’ then the Council will be liable for this cost in the short to 

medium term.  

Summary of financial implications  

18. The Happyland site currently generates a rental income of £28,150 per annum for 

the lease of the amusement arcade.  The Meyrick Estate currently receives an 

appropriate share of this income under a licence to sublet.  This income is reliant 

on the building remaining in a safe condition and this is ensured by regular 

monitoring.  However, it is likely that the building will shortly deteriorate to a point 

in the next few years where it is forced to close and this income will be lost.  The 

grant of the Agreement for Lease to the Meyrick Estate SPV will likely bring 

forward the date when this income is lost as this lease will be terminated prior to 

the grant of the proposed 150-year lease. This reduction in income, whether from 

the deterioration of the building or from the grant of the lease, will need to be 

accommodated from within the seafront service budgets.  Whilst there are no firm 

proposals in place at this stage, this adjustment needs to be considered in the 

context of the overall income budget for the Seafront, which is around 

£12,700,000.  This income represents 0.2% of this budget and the rent foregone 

will be added to the savings targets for 2020/21 onwards. 

19. Under the terms of the proposed Agreement for Lease, a premium will be 

payable on the grant of the lease.  This is to be assessed as a capital sum having 

regard to the Planning Consent and the offer received by the SPV from its 

preferred bidder following marketing of the site, after deducting its costs of 

marketing, legal costs, irrecoverable tax, etc.   

20. After deduction of the costs, estimated at £250,000, the Council will be able to 

retain the majority of the next £230,000 of this premium, which represents the 

capital value of the existing rent, with the Estate receiving the remainder, 

reflecting the current rental share.  Any surplus, over and above this figure will be 

distributed appropriately, in consideration for its consent as Freeholder to the 

subletting and alterations.  The Freeholder will also receive a share of the £1,001 

rent.   

21. Although initial indications indicate that redevelopment is viable, it is possible that 

premium offers may be at a level that do not allow the SPV to recover its costs 

and/or for the parties to receive recompense for their lost rental income.   

22. These arrangements will satisfy the Council’s Best Value obligations under S123, 

Local Government Act 1972.  The Council does not have a marketable interest in 

the site without the cooperation of the Freeholder.  Therefore, the grant of a lease 

to an SPV under the control of the freeholder on terms that ensure that the 

quantum of the premium payable for the grant is established following marketing 

of the site will deliver best value for the Council. 

23. The Risk Assessment section below identifies a potential liability of up to 

£125,000 in respect of abortive costs if the Agreement for Lease is terminated. A 

budget for the costs has been provided by the Estate and any change to this will 

25



 

need to be agreed with the Council. In the event that this liability crystallises then 

this will be funded from the Asset Investment Strategy – Rent, Risk and Repairs 

Reserve.  

Summary of legal implications  

24. The proposed 150-year lease to an SPV of the Meyrick Estate, without the 

inclusion of any development obligations, will likely fall outside of the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015 (“PCR 2015”) so will not need to be subject to a 

procurement process 

25. The disposal of land is not an activity governed by the PCR 2015.  However, a 

land transaction incorporating a public works contract (equal or exceeding the 

estimate value of £4,551,413) is likely to be caught by the EU procurement rules.  

If it is below this value, it may still require a degree of advertising and competition 

under EC Treaty principles where there is a realistic prospect of cross border 

interest. 

26. A public works contract is likely to arise where there is a legally enforceable 

obligation upon the developer to carry out works required or specified by the 

Council where the Council receives a direct economic benefit.  The Council does 

not need to be the recipient of the works for a public works contract to arise.  

However, to establish that a contracting authority has specified the requirements, 

the authority must have taken measures to define the type of work, or at the 

least, have had a decisive influence on its design. 

27. Economic benefit can be met when an authority: 

 is to become the owner of the works; or 

 is to hold a legal right over the use of the works (or to make them available 

to the public); or 

 derives economic advantages from the future use or transfer of the work, 

has contributed financially to the work, or has assumed economic risk in 

case the works are not commercially successful. 

28. In this case, the Council will not become the direct owner of the works as it will 

have granted a long-lease for the SPV to develop the site independently.  Nor is it 

reserving rights over the use of the works or investing in the wider scheme. 

29. Whilst the Council will not be the direct owners of the hotel, it will receive a 

premium for the grant of the lease and a rent will be payable under the lease (as 

mentioned above). However, the premium will be calculated on the value of the 

land prior to development taking place and the rent is payable whether or not the 

building works are carried out, so the economic benefit is not linked to the 

completion of the hotel.   

30. If the chosen developer chooses to initiate the works, it will need to covenant 

directly with the Council in a licence to alter to commence and complete the 

approved works in a good and workmanlike manner. However, this ought not to 

26



 

constitute a public works contract requiring competitive tendering where such 

requirements are of a general planning nature (so only have a low level of design 

specification) as this ought not to constitute a "decisive influence" for the 

purposes of creating a public works contract. Furthermore, the main purpose of 

any obligations will not be the delivery of the works but rather obligations 

imposed from the Council’s interest as landlord.  

31. However, if the arrangements are deemed to require advertising and competition 

under the PCR 2015 then the Council would be susceptible to the risk of a 

procurement challenge. In order to mitigate the risk of the contract being set 

aside the Council will use the Voluntary Transparency Notice procedure in 

Regulation 99 of the PCR 2015 (as amended) advertising the Council’s intention 

to proceed on this basis. 

32. The VEAT notice procedure prevents the contract being declared ineffective.  It 

requires that the Council considers it is permitted to award the contract without 

competition in compliance with the procurement rules; to publish a VEAT notice 

setting out those reasons and then observing a 10 day standstill period 

(beginning with the day after the date on which the VEAT notice is published in 

the OJEU) before entering into the contract. 

33. Due to procurement restrictions, the Council is not able to impose any 

development obligations in the lease.  The lease will include a break right if 

development activity does not commence within a certain time period as an 

incentive for works to be carried out and the lease will stipulate that any 

alterations will require the Council’s consent as landlord.  Other than through its 

statutory planning role, the Council will have little influence on the form of 

development that comes forward.  

Summary of human resources implications  

34. None 

Summary of environmental impact  

35. The Environment Impact Checklist indicates that the outcomes are likely to be 

balanced.  One the one hand, the redevelopment of the site will consume raw 

materials, power and water, and result in some waste materials going to landfill 

despite efforts to recycle the demolition materials. The new building will likely be 

larger and more intensively used than the current building.  Whilst it will be more 

energy efficient, it will likely result in a greater energy and water usage.  Balanced 

against this are improvements to the quality of the local built environment, 

enhancement of visitor facilities, and economic benefits, with new jobs created. 

Summary of public health implications  

36. None 

27



 

Summary of equality implications  

37. An Equalities Impact Needs Assessment indicates that the project will have 

broadly positive outcomes with the opportunity to improve access for people with 

a disability both to the beach, via a new lift from the cliff top, and to the building 

itself.  At a socio-economic level at is also likely to be positive, providing new jobs 

both in the construction and operation of the new building.  However, the pricing 

of the new offer may be beyond the means of some sectors in the community. 

Summary of risk assessment  

38. A risk assessment shows this to be medium risk project.  The development risk 

will be borne by the private sector and the procurement risk will be mitigated by 

issuing a VEAT Notice – see legal section above. 

39. There is a risk that the marketing exercise undertaken by the Meyrick Estate SPV 

will fail to secure a suitable developer or, having identified a development partner, 

it is unable to secure a suitable planning consent or to develop the site for 

another reason.  In this eventuality, the Agreement for Lease is terminable, and 

the Council will be liable to pay 50% of the SPV’s abortive costs, which are 

estimated at £250,000.  The Council’s liability for up to £125,000 is addressed in 

the Finance and Resourcing Implications above. 

Background papers  

 Risk Assessment 

 Equalities Impact Needs Assessment Screening Record 

 Environment Impact Checklist 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 - Site Plan  

28



This map is produced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission 
of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery 
Office (c) Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown 
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

BCP Council. Licence: 100000019829. 2019

Happyland 

Date: 03 September 2019

Creator: AJG

Scale: 1:1250 @ A4

Meyrick Estate 

29



T
his page is intentionally left blank

30



 

1 

 

CABINET  

 

Report subject Lansdowne  

Meeting date 30 September 2019 

Status Public 

Executive summary In 2017 Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) awarded 
Bournemouth Borough Council £8.5 million to deliver fundamental 
changes to Lansdowne Business District and the Lansdowne 
Programme was created. DLEP grant conditions require the £8.5m 
funding to be spent by 31 March 2021. In addition, the Lansdowne 
Programme requires £2.89m Council  match funding local 
contribution, increasing the total budget to £11.39m.  

The Lansdowne area has been in need of major capital investment 
for over 30 years.  Investment of £11.39m public funds will help to 
deliver the Lansdowne Vision where Lansdowne Bournemouth will 
become an exciting and attractive place to live, work, study and 
enjoy. Over £200m of private funds have already been invested in 
the area creating new university facilities, accommodation and 
offices. The £11.39m will also facilitate increased sustainable travel 
networks and community/cultural spaces. 

 A Lansdowne Programme Update (Appendix 1) outlines the work 
completed to date as well as key future milestones required to 
complete all works by 2021/22.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 

 (a) Supports the Vision for Lansdowne which includes 
promoting sustainable travel, creating a sustainable 
public realm and facilitating the development of new  
office spaces and accommodation; and  

(b) Approves the continued accrual of £2.89m of match 
funding towards the Lansdowne Programme; and 

(c) Approves the continuation of the Lansdowne 
Programme in accordance with the attached Lansdowne 
Programme Update; and 

(d) Agrees that no expenditure of match funds is incurred 

post exhaustion of DLEP funds, unless sufficient local 

contribution has been received. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The Lansdowne Programme helps to deliver a number of Council 
priorities such as vibrant communities with outstanding quality of 
life where everyone plays an active role.  

31

Agenda Item 6



 

2 

 

Portfolio Holder(s): Cllr Councillor Mark Howell (Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and 
Culture); and 

Councillor Andy Hadley (Portfolio Holder for Transport  and 
Infrastructure) 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton (Corporate Director of Regeneration & Economy) 

Contributors Iona Tovey – Lansdowne Programme Manager 

Anthony Kirby – Engineering & Major Contracts Manager 

Chris Shephard – Director of Development 

Adam Richens – Head of Financial Services 

Shirley Haider – Management Accountant 

Tanya Coulter – Legal 

Wards Town Centre 

East Cliff 

Springbourne 

Classification For Decision 

Title: 

Background  

1. In 2014 key stakeholders in the area such as Bournemouth University, Bournemouth & 
Poole College, Bournemouth Development Company, Bournemouth Borough Council 
(now BCP Council), Meyrick Estates and Redweb coordinated the drafting of a vision for 
the future of the Lansdowne in order to enhance all the positive attributes the area 
boasted. Due to a lack of public investment for approximately 30 years, the area was 
failing to harness its potential and was in danger of deteriorating further and so the 
C:Side Vision document was developed. 

2. In 2015, Cabinet approved the Lansdowne Delivery Plan which was the Council’s formal 
response to the C:side Vision.  It set out an appropriate and deliverable way forward for 
the Lansdowne, as well as defining programme scope amounting to over 20 
interventions. The reduction in funding from Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) 
from the aspirational £18m to £8.5m  and subsequent reduced match funding, required 
prioritisation in order to stretch the benefits as widely as possible whilst still delivering 
positive outcomes. In July 2017, Bournemouth Council Cabinet approved this reprofiling 
of the scheme (Background Paper 1).  

3. The Lansdowne Programme Update (Appendix 1) outlines the work undertaken to date 
following the appointment of the Lansdowne Programme Manager in February 2018. 
The update covers a number of topics including programme objectives and outputs, 
scope, stakeholder engagement, urban realm designs, modelling, highway designs, cost 
estimations, programme milestones, sustainability, future proofing, legacy and risk.  

4. There are multiple objectives for the programme, most of which are long term and hard 
to measure. However, where possible the programme team have created some short-
term objectives and baselines before any changes take place, to provide measures of 
success [Appendix 1 - Chapter 3, p.5] 

 

32



 

3 

 

5. The programme scope has altered as a result of the council being both developer of the 
urban realm and  the Highway Authority. Consequently, the focus is now on Holdenhurst 
Road which will be pedestrianised at the lower third, with the top two thirds becoming 
access only by default as it will no longer be a through route. Lansdowne Roundabout 
will be removed and the highways relocated to create a public realm space from the 
reclaimed highways with the north end of Meyrick Road being closed to traffic. 
[Appendix 1 – Chapter 4, p.6] 

6. Building these changes is not straightforward as there are multiple constraints. These 
are outlined in Appendix 1, Chapter 4.The decisions that have been made and the steer 
given to date by the Lansdowne Steering Group have helped navigate the limitations. 
This has enabled the programme to progress onwards at pace which has been essential 
for the timeframe set by the DLEP to be met, whilst noting the risks of doing so, as 
identified in the risk section of this paper.  

7. Stakeholder engagement, public consultation and communications are vital to the 
success of this programme and will cover a wide variety of stakeholder groups. An 
approach has been developed with colleagues to run public events where the designs 
and implications of the programme designs will be discussed with the public, with 
particular focus given to reaching the local community. The public consultation will also 
involve online surveys, which will enable the wider public to provide feedback on the 
programme’s proposals with particular emphasis on collecting views on the potential 
impact the development could have on them. Furthermore, communications issued will 
notify the public of where they can find  key information about the proposals including 
how it may impact accessibility to the area throughout delivery.  The consultation and 
engagement process will seek to highlight key objections and limit their risks to the 
programme early. [Appendix 1 – Chapter 5, p.8 and Chapter 16, p.34]   

8. The Lansdowne Steering Group, which acts as the Programme Board, has enabled 
Portfolio Holders and senior officers to receive updates and offer guidance on the 
programme, which has ensured progression at pace. This group includes The Leader, 
Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, Culture and Economy, Executive Director for 
Regeneration & Economy, Director of Development,  and the Deputy Director of DLEP, 
along with the Lansdowne Programme Manager and any relevant delivery team 
members, as and when required. Regular update meetings also take place with the 
Portfolio holder for Transport & Infrastructure along with Ward Members from areas in & 
around the Lansdowne. [Appendix 1– Chapter 6, p.10] 

9. Taking the C:Side Vision and programme objectives forward, it is important for the new 
public realm in the Lansdowne to be:  

 Sustainable  

 High quality  

 Durable  

 Flexible  

 Providing more trees and green landscaping 

 Bringing in new technologies  
[Appendix 1– Chapter 7, p.12] 

10. The principles for the highway design are based on DfT (Department for Transport) 
guidance document Manual for Streets 1 and 2, which looks at balancing the movement 
function of the street with its importance as a ‘place’ that provides the wider social, 
environmental and economic benefits that this programme aims to address. This 
approach to highway design moves the focus from a cars/capacity first approach and 
emphasises the importance of addressing the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and public 
transport users as key to delivering the desired outcomes detailed earlier in this 
report.  [Appendix 1– Chapter 8, p.21] 

 

33



 

4 

 

11. Sustainability is at the core of the programme. The proposed changes will encourage 
people to navigate around and through the area by active travel and considers how to 
meet the challenging targets required by the new BCP Council and the declaration of a 
climate emergency. Policy changes at BCP Council will heavily influence new 
developments and refurbishments of old buildings to be sustainable in their design and 
discourage car dependency, for example by reducing car parking. [Appendix 1– Chapter 
10, p.25] 

12. Extensive traffic modelling work has been undertaken to support the development of the 
proposed scheme layout. Developed from a 2016 base model, existing traffic conditions 
have been modified to reflect the preferred design layout and include DfT national 
predicted growth (TEMPro) of 5% plus proposed committed development traffic growth 
estimates. With regards to the important number of bus movements, journey times for 
key routes have been extracted and compared against current conditions. [Appendix 1– 
Chapter 11, p.27]   

13. A core objective of the Lansdowne Programme is to place technology, innovation and 
enterprise at the heart of growth and development in the area.  Central to this is an 
allocation by DLEP of £0.9m for the incorporation of a digital network capable of 
providing public Wi-fi, Internet of Things  (IoT) capabilities and 5G test bed network 

foundations, around the Lansdowne area. [Appendix 1– Chapter 12, p.29]   

14. The Lansdowne Master plan provides the guiding principles for the area. This 
programme is only phase 1 of delivery. There are key areas highlighted in the Delivery 
Plan that still remain blockers to the Lansdowne maximising its full potential, such as 
Station Roundabout and the disconnection between the Travel Interchange and the rest 
of Lansdowne and Bournemouth Town Centre.  If this area were to be redeveloped, 
opening up the connectivity between the Travel Interchange and the rest of Lansdowne 
and the Town Centre, a fundamental and positive change to the area, as well as wider 
conurbation, could be achieved delivering further significant benefits. [Appendix 1– 
Chapter 13, p.30]   

Summary of financial implications   

15. There is the potential for the £8.5m award being reallocated by DLEP to any other 
DLEP prioritised programmes should the recommendations fail to gain Cabinet support. 

16. Originally £4.25m (being 50% of £8.5m) was assumed to be the required match funding 
amount but due to the reduced DLEP contribution from £19m to £8.5m, the match 
funding percentage was later reduced and agreed with DLEP early 2018 to be £2.89m. 
Failure to agree local contributions of £2.89m to continue to be accrued and allocated to 
the Lansdowne Programme may result in a breach of the Council’s commitments to the 
DLEP.  

17. The DLEP funding agreement inherited from BBC requires £2.89m match funding 
towards an £11.39m programme (25%), to be accrued over the course of the 
programme from local contributions. As at 1 April 2019 £1.6m local contribution 
(predominantly s106 contributions) has been accrued and allocated to the Lansdowne 
Programme. 

18. Currently £1.6m as at 1 April 2019 of the £2.89m match funding has been accrued by 
the Council. Work is underway to understand how much of the balance accrued has 
been physically received (in cash) – to ensure that spend is not incurred in advance. 
Risk associated with spending in advance of receipt of s106 developer contributions, is 
minimised as these  sums are not to be invested in the programme until 2021/22.    

19. The Lansdowne Update details how the remaining £7.6m DLEP grant funding (total 
DLEP grant £8.5m less £0.9m spent to date), will be utilised in advance of 31 March 
2021, but there is some degree of operational risk associated which is being mitigated 
against where possible.  

34



 

5 

 

 

20. Failure to approve the continuance of the programme as detailed in the attached 
Appendix 1 will result in undue delay and as such the programme being delivered on 
time. Failure to deliver on time may trigger the DLEP’s right to request full repayment of 
any/all funds spent from the £8.5m. As at 30 June 2019, £0.9m DLEP funding has been 
spent. 

Summary of legal implications  

21. The programme has & continues to work with the council’s legal department in resolving 
any legal issues that may arise. 

22. Should members not wish to proceed with the Lansdowne Programme the council will 
risk being deemed in breach of the agreed DLEP existing agreements. 

23. Failure to spend £8.5m by 31 March 2021 provides the DLEP with the opportunity to 
request repayment of funds claimed to date. 

24. Land ownership and subsequent covenants and rights of way will need to be addressed 
as they could impact on the delivery of the current plans. Discussions are already 
underway with the local landowners. 

Summary of human resources implications  

25. The programme is currently resourced through a virtual team that consists of a cross 
council  combination of officer, WSP and external consultants funded through the capital 
programme.  

26. The programmes governance structure provides ongoing scrutiny of the programme 
from officers at all levels, directorate wide along with Members including Portfolio 
Holders for Regeneration, Culture & Economy and Transport & Infrastructure and the 
Leader of BCP Council. 

Summary of environmental impact  

27. Making Lansdowne a more environmentally friendly place has been and continues to be 
part of the vision and delivery plan.  This is best emphasised through the prioritisation of 
sustainable travel options throughout the public realm works. 

28. Flora and fauna biodiversity enhancements are vital elements of the programme and 
continued working with Council colleagues and other external consultants will prove 
fundamental in delivering this part of the Vision. 

Summary of public health implications  

29. Some key benefits resulting from the programme relate to prioritising reclaimed 
highways for pedestrians and cyclists, combined with the known social and economic 
benefits gained from a more pleasant and inviting environment for the ever increasing 
local population. 

Summary of equality implications  

30. This will continue to be considered and actioned throughout the programme’s planning 
and delivery stages primarily through stakeholder engagement with the relevant formal 
bodies and local groups. 

Summary of risk assessment 

31. The programme manager has been running a risk register which is shared within the 
governance structure. All risks have mitigations and the current risk to the Council is 

35



 

6 

 

Amber/Medium.  The Governance structure enables ongoing risk considerations, with 
the key risks relating to: 

 

 Decision Making changes – impact on delivery timelines/budget 

 Ability to deliver on time – meet DLEP deadline 

 Ability to deliver on budget  

 Gain Stakeholder buy in – avoid appeals to TRO process 

 Lack of resource – BCP & external (impact on costs & timeline) 
 

32. These risks are regularly monitored and have mitigations.  

Background papers  

 C:Side Vision  

 Lansdowne Delivery Plan  

 Bournemouth Borough Council Cabinet Decision July 2017 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 - Lansdowne Programme Update 

 

36



   
 

   
 

 

LANSDOWNE BUSINESS 
DISTRICT 

 
 
 
LANSDOWNE PROGRAMME   

UPDATE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

Major Projects – Development 

Services 

37



   

1 
 

LANSDOWNE 

 

 

38



   

2 
 

CONTENTS 

1 Background         3 

2 Funding Award        4 

3 Objectives & Outputs        5 

4 Scope          6 

5 Stakeholders and Engagement      8 

6 Political Steer & Decisions       10 

7 Public Realm         12 

8 Principles of Highway Design       21 

9 Managing Growth & Development       24 

10 Sustainability and Public Transport      25 

11 Traffic Model Appraisal       27 

12 Future Ready Review        29 

13 Legacy          30 

14 Buildability and Phasing       31 

15 Affordability         33 

16 Communications Strategy       34 

17 Key Delivery Milestones       35 

18 Risk           35 

19 Future Decisions        35 

  

39



   

3 
 

1 BACKGROUND 

1.1 In 2015 a number of stakeholders with interests in Lansdowne agreed the area needed a 

vision for the future in order to enhance all the positive attributes the area boasted. Due to a 

lack of investment for approximately 30 years, the area was failing to harness its potential 

and was in danger of deteriorating further. 

1.2 The C:Side document was drafted with collaborations from Bournemouth University, 

Bournemouth & Poole College, Bournemouth Development Company, Bournemouth 

Borough Council (now BCP Council), Meyrick Estates and Redweb. 

1.3 Lansdowne’s proximity to the Travel Interchange at the north of the area makes it a key 

gateway to the Lansdowne, the Beach and Town Centre, all within a 10 to 15 minute walk. 

1.4 The Lansdowne area is incredibly diverse, with corporate businesses, educational 

institutions, startups (particularly digital), independent traders, retail, restaurants, bars, 

private residences, student residences, commuters and tourists.  

The Vision 

1.5 Lansdowne Bournemouth is an exciting place where ideas, innovations, technology and 

enterprise flourish close to the free and relaxed climate of the beach. 

1.6 Workers, visitors, residents and students exchange ideas and knowledge in the many 

vibrant streets, plazas and parks. 

1.7 The synergy of education, places to live, dynamic workspaces and culture create an 

atmosphere of enterprise. 

Lansdowne Bournemouth will be an exciting and attractive place to live, work, study and 
enjoy. 

  

40

https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/Bournemouth%26PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/Bournemouth%20Projects/B150%20Lansdowne%20Public%20Realm/1.%20BBC%20Documents/5.%20Forward%20Delivery%20Plan/Forward%20Delivery%20Plan%20-%20Members/Supporting%20Documents/C-SIDE%20Document.pdf?csf=1&e=af20Uw


   

4 
 

2 FUNDING AWARD 

2.1 The missing ingredient to the area harnessing its full potential was funding and so a bid for 

£28 million (£18m plus match funding £10m), was put to Dorset Local Enterprise 

Partnership (DLEP) for Growth Deal Funding 3 (GDF3). A master plan for the area was 

drawn up and detailed in the Lansdowne Delivery Plan, which explained road by road and 

junction by junction how the vision for the area could be delivered. The key focus was to 

create an attractive, vibrant and green public realm with people at the heart of the vision. 

This in turn would then trigger private investment into regenerating, developing and 

promoting the rejuvenated Lansdowne Business District as an ideal location for people to 

live, work, study and enjoy. 

2.2 The Lansdowne Business District (Lansdowne Programme), was awarded £8.5 million 

in 2017. Match funding was required in order to secure the £8.5m and £2.89 million was 

agreed, resulting in a total budget of £11.39 million. The DLEP specified that £900,000 

was to be spent on digital infrastructure, including free Wi-fi, with a view to the area 

becoming a digital test bed for technology including 5G and Internet of Things (IoT). 

2.3 Although the DLEP titled the programme the Lansdowne Business District the reality is the 

area boasts a lot more than simply corporate businesses and it’s the diversity of the area 

that makes it so unique with so much potential. It is already becoming the fastest growing 

creative digital hub in the area as various established and entrepreneurial digital firms 

relocate or startup. 

2.4 In July 2017 Cabinet approved the spending of the DLEP £8.5m funds & additional match 

funding required, in order to deliver the programme within the required timeframes. 

  

41

https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/Bournemouth%26PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/Bournemouth%20Projects/B150%20Lansdowne%20Public%20Realm/1.%20BBC%20Documents/5.%20Forward%20Delivery%20Plan/Forward%20Delivery%20Plan%20-%20Members/Supporting%20Documents/Lansdowne-Delivery-Plan-November-2015.pdf?csf=1&e=KxSskT
https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/Bournemouth%26PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/Bournemouth%20Projects/B150%20Lansdowne%20Public%20Realm/1.%20BBC%20Documents/5.%20Forward%20Delivery%20Plan/Forward%20Delivery%20Plan%20-%20Members/Supporting%20Documents/Cabinet%20report%2019.07.17.pdf?csf=1&e=VYiiZK


   

5 
 

3 OBJECTIVES & OUTPUTS 

3.1 There are various objectives for the programme, most of which are long term and hard to 

measure. Where possible we have sought to create some short-term objectives and as 

such baselines before any changes take place, against which we can compare post 

development. 

3.2 The Lansdowne Vision key objectives: 

 A vibrant and dynamic place: 

Where creative collisions between people, organisations and businesses of all sizes 

help foster innovation. 

 A smart and enterprising place: 

Where businesses and education can together attract a highly skilled, knowledgeable 

and talented workforce. 

 A connected and networked place: 

Places for people to meet and exchange ideas with superfast technology and great 

transport links. 

3.3 DLEP key objectives: 

 Deliver a Place that encourages people to live, work, study & enjoy the area. 

 Connectivity improvements in technology as well as traveling in and around the area. 

 Encourage improvements in productivity, increase skilled workforce and job creation, 

leading to talent creation and retention. 

 Trigger private investment and attract new organisations and talent to the area. 

 Create a place that private developers and general public recognise as an ideal location for 

modern private residential living – develop housing. 

3.4 Programme short term objectives: 

 Internet of Things air, noise, traffic and footfall sensors to provide real time data on the 

changing environment to evidence positive and negative impacts the programme may have 

on the immediate area. 

 Successful communications and engagement strategy delivered, gaining buy in for the 

programme as well as proactively informing the public about the changes throughout the 

development programme and aid navigation around during construction. 

 Achieve the 31 March 2021 DLEP deadline for the GDF3 expenditure. 

 Work closely with the local Lansdowne Business Improvement District (BID) team to help 

create a proactive community keen to take ownership of the new space. 

  

42



   

6 
 

4 SCOPE 

4.1 As the £8.5m award was considerably less than the sum required for the delivery of the 

complete master plan for the area, priority sections were highlighted with the aim of still 

triggering and delivering some of the key objectives as phase 1, in the belief that more 

funds/investment will enable the full master plan to be delivered over time.  

4.2 The key areas chosen were Holdenhurst Road (south of Station Roundabout), 

Lansdowne Roundabout and Meyrick Road (top section), as they are at the centre of the 

Lansdowne and are seen to be the best enablers for the various programme objectives. 

This is also seen as a key route from the Travel interchange to the Seafront in preference to 

Bath Road or Old Christchurch Road. 

4.3 Holdenhurst Road will be pedestrianised at the lower third, just below The Helm 

(Watkin Jones new development). There will be no access to vehicles along this section 

except time limited access for waste management and deliveries plus the emergency 

services when required.  The top two thirds will become access only by default as it will 

no longer be a through route, resulting in only those needing to be in the area entering from 

Station Roundabout or York Road via Cotlands Road.  

4.4 Lansdowne Roundabout will be removed and the highways adjusted to create a public 

realm space from the reclaimed highways.  

4.5 Meyrick Road will be closed at the northern end by the Roundhouse Hotel & 

Bournemouth & Poole College. The space created will be an extension of the public realm 

space created at Lansdowne Roundabout. 

4.6 Additional elements have also become critical to the success of the programme’s planned 

changes in order to mitigate particular issues that have arisen as a result of the proposed 

highway changes. These mitigations range from a new multiple lane controlled junction to 

replace the roundabout plus access only (from Stafford Road), for buses and taxis exiting 

Old Christchurch Road eastbound and bus improvements along the northern eastbound 

section of Christchurch Road. 

4.7 As modal shift is also an aim for the programme’s legacy there will be provisions for cycling 

that will endeavour to create a safe and accessible environment for commuters and families 

alike. See Section 13, Legacy. 

4.8 Whilst this programme has a very specific defined area within which fundamental changes 

will be delivered, it is impossible to ignore the bigger picture and the ripple effect these vital 

changes may have on the wider conurbation.  

4.9 Consequently, the delivery team is mindful of delivering changes that are flexible to a point 

as well as provide for future development, technological enhancements and a multitude of 

potential uses for the space(s) created whilst maintaining necessary accessibility and traffic 

network movement. 

  

43



   

7 
 

Constraints 

4.10 There exist multiple constraints in respect of the buildability and the steer given to date by 

the Lansdowne Steering Group have helped navigate the limitations. This has enabled the 

programme to progress onwards at relative speed, whilst noting the risks of doing so, in 

respect of abortive costs etc. but has been essential if the DLEP timeframe is to be met. 

4.11 The main constraints in no particular order are: 

 Budget – current construction price inflation - will there be sufficient funds to create a quality 

space with quality materials? 

 Time – lack of time before DLEP deadline of Mar. 21 to invest their funds. 

 Underground Services and legacy infrastructure - which are multiple, including tram lines, 

utilities and voids and could impact design and costs, particularly in respect of delivering the 

green aspects of the design.  

 Traffic Network – buses prioritised over rest of the network but extent of traffic limits potential 

for programme impact 

Budget Profiling 

4.12 The programme has two key budgetary milestones: 

 31 March 2021, by which time the DLEP GD3F must be spent and something to show for the 

financial outlay.  

 £2.89m match funding to be secured by 31 Mar. 21. 

4.13 This is a particularly complex programme, requiring a balance between  our role as 

developer and that of the Highway Authority. As developer we are keen to deliver as much 

of the vision as possible for the budget available within the timescales and as the Highways 

Authority we have to ensure that the network continues to flow. This necessary balance has 

required considerable modelling to be conducted over the past 18/20 months which is not 

only costly but also time consuming. 

4.14 Consequently, there has been a considerable amount of time spent trying to balance the 

vision against the needs of the network. It was always appreciated that this programme 

would most likely be back loaded in respect of the budget spend profile, but there was also 

the possibility that some early works could enable the profile to be spread across the 

timeline more evenly than our current budget profile. Unfortunately, due to the amount of 

modelling work required to balance our roles and technological unknowns for the digital 

aspects of the programme, this has not been possible and so the profiling has been 

adjusted to reflect the more realistic trajectory. See Budget Profile in Section 15 

Affordability. 

4.15 The budget profile as an indicative and live document is amended to keep on track with any 

changes in the programme delivery plan timeline. 

 

 

44



   

8 
 

5 STAKEHOLDERS AND ENGAGEMENT 

The Stakeholder element of this programme is as complex as the local community is 

diverse, with this piece of work and its success being fundamental to the success of the 

overall Lansdowne Programme. 

5.1 The Stakeholder groups are multiple but the ones currently in existence are as follows: 

5.1.1 C:Side/Lansdowne Group – original C:Side representatives covering land owners, 

educational institutions, developers, Council and business combined with additional local 

influencers such as the Town Centre BID, Lansdowne trader representatives, property 

owners and residents all represented.  

 2 meetings per year (max.) 

 Key advocates for the programme and vision 

 Positive promotion of the benefits of the scheme from non-Council representatives 

5.1.2 Transport Stakeholders – Buses, Taxis & Cycle Forum 

 Key meetings with the transport interests as focal point 

 Information sharing as well as design contribution/requests 

5.1.3 Local Businesses around the key programme focus area 

 Walkabouts & pop-ins to share any relevant information and build relationships 

 Invitations to contribute at design events and/or engagement sessions 

 Invitations to future awareness/engagement events and /or statutory consultations 

5.1.4 Local Community Key Stakeholders 

 not covered by the above, such as Emergency Services, Lansdowne Church and 

Lansdowne BID 

 Relationships built, contact maintained & information shared from time to time 

 Invitation to contribute at design events 

 Invitations to future engagement events and/or statutory consultations 

5.1.5 Council Officer Colleagues 

 Access to all of the know how across the Council 

 Canvass opinion as well as contribute to design 

 Key interests such as Parks, Waste Management and Cycling etc. involved in design at 

the earliest stage 

 Invitation to contribute to design as it is developed 

5.1.6 There has also been a desire to utilise local talent from the Educational Institutions and 

Businesses within the programme and these have also become key advocates for the 

programme. 

  

45



   

9 
 

Governance structure: 

5.2 Lansdowne Steering Group – with the Leader and Portfolio holders for Regeneration & 

Transport plus a Dorset Local Enterprise (DLEP) representative all regular monthly 

participants. 

5.3 Lansdowne Assurance Group – with key divisions across the Council represented, such 

as Transport, Highways, Housing, Planning, Property, Finance as well as a DLEP 

representative. 

5.4 Delivery Team – virtual team covering Economic Development, Major Projects, Highways, 

Urban Realm Planning, Digital, Transport and WSP as consultants in various roles due to 

lack of internal Council resource capacity or specific skills. 

5.5 Engagement is also a key part of the stakeholder piece but is far more than simply 

meetings and events. We are also utilising surveys at key stages of the programme, to gain 

a baseline of perceptions, then thoughts on designs, objections or concerns and a final 

perception survey will be carried out to highlight any changes as a result of the 

engagement, programme changes and communications. 

5.6 All of these have and will continue to contribute at the appropriate time to the shape, 

aspirations and practicalities of the preliminary design and in time the detailed design. 

  

46



   

10 
 

6 POLITICAL STEER & DECISIONS 

6.1 Key decisions are made by the Steering Group. This includes The Leader, Portfolio Holder 

for Regeneration and Culture, Executive Director for Regeneration & Economy and Director 

of Development plus the Deputy Director of DLEP, along with the Lansdowne Programme  

Manager and any relevant delivery team members, as and when required. There are also 

regular meetings with the Portfolio holder for Transport & Infrastructure along with Ward 

Members from areas in & around the Lansdowne. 

6.2 The key questions asked are: 

 What are we going to deliver?  

 What are the impacts? 

 Can we deliver it by the required DLEP timeframe and on budget?  

 Does it deliver the objectives?  

6.3 The information that provided evidence and direction for these decisions to date included: 

 The Public Realm space – what could we strive to achieve/how it could look/function. 

 The Highways – how could it be built, phased etc. as well as affordability. 

 The Transport Modelling – how does the proposed changes impact on the immediate traffic 

area and wider network. 

 The Full Business Case – covering all of the anticipated short term and long-term benefits 

resulting from the programme. 

 Stakeholder feedback. 

Landscape Design see Section 7 Public Realm 

6.4 Despite a multitude of other elements to this programme having priority over how it looks, 

the delivery team appreciate that the programme will be judged on two things: 

 What does it look like?  

 How does it impact the network? See Section 11 Traffic Model Appraisal 

6.5 What does it look like? 

Urban Realm experts have been consulted such as Feria Urbanism, as well as the ideas of 

officers and the local community via various stakeholder events held in 2018, have helped 

inform the concept design and subsequent preliminary designs. Throughout this process the 

Steering Group offered preferences and opinion on the options when required and the 

delivery team then proceeded with those comments in mind. Views of key stakeholders 

have been gained informally and will be sought more publicly in the autumn 2019 by way of 

engagement events and consultation. 

  

47



   

11 
 

Highways Design see Section 8 Principles of Highways Design 

6.6 The desire to create a step change was present from the beginning, evidenced by the 

C:Side vision and Delivery Plan. In order to deliver on the vision an early decision was 

made that Holdenhurst Road needed some form of public realm pedestrianisation. Shared 

spaces was the obvious choice but the Department for Transport recently ruled this out as 

being potentially unsafe for certain users. 

6.7 The Steering Group reviewed various General Arrangement plans of highway layout 

options in conjunction with the landscape concept designs and extensive modelling before 

they took the decision to pedestrianise the lower third of Holdenhurst Road whilst retaining 

access for the top two thirds of the road, which is largely business parking.  

6.8 Does it cause network issues? 

In the unique position of developer and Highway Authority no highways design decision has 

been taken without considering the modelling outputs – that said the Steering Group have 

appreciated the modelling is only indicative and not an exact science and as such not the 

sole basis for any of the decisions made nor should it be in the future. There is also the 

intention to run some trials which will provide additional evidence to support or undermine 

the modelling.  

6.9 Can we deliver it by the required DLEP timeframe? 

In some instances decisions were made not to pursue a particular option because of limited 

time before 31 Mar. 2021, a date the DLEP made very clear was nonnegotiable. That said, 

the preliminary designs are still a huge improvement on the existing landscape and general 

environment and currently there is every intention of delivering on time if the programme 

continues to detailed design in the next 2 months. 

6.10 Can we deliver it on or under budget? 

Once preliminary designs are complete we can then re-evaluate our build costs estimate 

and essentially reduce the number of unknowns, which in turn reduces the optimism bias & 

therefore the price. We are pricing at the gold standard (most expensive), with a view to 

then having flexibility to reduce the costs by opting for lower specification materials in 

certain areas of the build, whilst retaining the high specification in the key areas.  

6.11 Does it deliver the objectives? 

The objectives are varied, as mentioned above, with multiple iterations, delivering a myriad 

of outputs both short and long term. The objectives therefore provide an additional element 

for consideration in conjunction with modelling outputs and highways/landscape design 

options. 

  

48



   

12 
 

7 PUBLIC REALM 

7.1 Taking the C:Side Vision and programme objectives forward, it is important for any new 

public realm in the Lansdowne to be:  

 Sustainable  

 High quality  

 Durable  

 Flexible  

 Providing more trees and green landscaping 

 Bringing in new technologies  

7.2 Key features of the Lansdowne area that have been taken into account during the 

development of the designs include prevailing wind, sun paths, topography, existing trees 

and buildings. 

7.3 There are a number of existing trees at Lansdowne roundabout and on Holdenhurst Road, 

although they are not all of good quality, and many are dwarfed by the tall buildings, leading 

to the area feeling grey despite the existence of some trees.  

7.4 Many of the buildings demonstrate high quality architecture, with a wide range of ages from 

Victorian through to the present day.  This rich mix gives the Lansdowne a distinct 

character that is not found elsewhere in the town. 

7.5 The existing bus stops at the southern end of Holdenhurst Road hinder the appreciation 

and full use of the shops and restaurants as the buses often fill the whole length of this part 

of Holdenhurst Road. 

7.6 Not all of the Lansdowne’s history is visible above ground – there are submerged former 

public toilets at the Lansdowne roundabout and former tram tracks running from Old 

Christchurch Road through to Holdenhurst Road and Christchurch Road.  The concrete 

from these structures may be a consideration when building the scheme. 

7.7 The area currently is dominated by motor vehicle movements.  If their obstruction was to be 

removed, there would be many routes that pedestrians and cyclists would wish to take – 

known as desire lines.  See Figure 7.1 and 7.2. 

Key Principles for Lansdowne Public Realm 
 

7.8 The reclaiming of highway for public realm improvements have enabled a pedestrian 

focused approach to designing the Lansdowne public realm. 

 

49



   

13 
 

 

Figure 7.1 Pedestrian desire lines 

  

 

Figure 7.2 Cycle desire line 

50



   

14 
 

7.9 Figure 7.3. shows the key principles for the public realm following the site study.  Key nodes 

where movement routes meet and cross will have a focus on them. The lower part of 

Holdenhurst Road has good potential for active frontages and spill out uses. In the upper 

part of Holdenhurst Road there are fewer active frontages and more private offices, and this 

gives potential for public realm that supports outdoor working, meetings and lunch breaks.  

7.10 The whole length of Holdenhurst Road is important as a route between the travel 

interchange, beach and town centre – the nodes and spaces should be seen as a series of 

interconnected spaces.  The area of Meyrick Road outside the College is an important part 

of the scheme as this acts as the connection between the Lansdowne and a more pleasant 

route to East Cliff and the Beach.   

 

Figure 7.3 Key principles for the public realm 

 

 
 

51



   

15 
 

Placemaking themes 

7.11 Feria Urbanism was commissioned to take the key principles to the next stage.  Their report 

noted that Holdenhurst Road is the setting for a journey from the Victorian Railway Station 

toward Meyrick Road and ultimately the Coast.  Through this journey one leaves the 

Victorian industrial history of the Station and moves through to a more modern setting 

before encountering increasingly natural surroundings and ultimately the coast.  This 

reflects a pattern of technological change, from steam driven industry, through to the 

modern technological age and beyond to an era of eco-technology.   

7.12 The Feria report suggested that this set up a framework for a series of public realm themes, 

and that the use of colour and styles for the materials and furniture palette – e.g. hard and 

soft landscaping, street furniture, lighting etc. - could enhance this journey.  At the same 

time, Feria noted contrast between this journey from old to new, and the buildings which run 

from new to old from Station Roundabout to Lansdowne Roundabout.  This adds more 

complexity and richness to the story. 

7.13 Figures 7.4 and 7.5 show the key Feria recommendations. 

         

Figure 7.4 Overview of placemaking themes 

52



   

16 
 

 

 

Figure 7.5 Contrast between new and old timelines 

7.14 The Landscape Architects at WSP have woven the Feria recommendations into the 

emerging preliminary designs.  They have linked the colour palette proposed by Feria with 

existing colours used in the Lansdowne already, along with a potential Lansdowne 

branding.  This has resulted in a refined palette of colours.   

7.15 Figures 7.6 to 7.10 explore this and suggest ways in which the palette and the Feria 

suggested themes can be applied.  

 

Figure 7.6 Refined colour palette 

53



   

17 
 

 

Figure 7.7 Integrating colours into the landscape 

 

 

Figure 7.8 Integrating Victorian architectural elements and links to industrial heritage 

54



   

18 
 

 

Figure 7.9 Integrating Victorian and coastal elements – hard landscape 

 

 

Figure 7.10 Integrating Victorian and coastal elements – soft landscape 

55



   

19 
 

 

7.17 Through their work, WSP have sought to bring in the themes recommended by Feria while 

also ensuring that the spaces connect and flow.  Using a refined palette of materials and 

colours helps to ensure that the scheme would not feel too cluttered and complex. 

Uses 

7.18 The framework proposed by Feria included a series of uses intended to be distinct from one 

another through their layout and materials palette.  WSP have taken this forward and 

refined it further to create: 

 Outdoor Office – space in the northern part of Holdenhurst Road for outdoor meetings and 

lunches. 

 Fire Station Square - flexible area outside the former Fire Station which can be used for 

events such as showcasing the local University and College talent. 

 Holdenhurst Gardens – relaxed area of planting and seating for quiet contemplation or 

learning, lunches etc. as well as flexible pockets of space that could be used for temporary 

installations.  These could include themed events such as table tennis tables during 

Wimbledon, arts installations for Arts by the Sea Festival or overspill café, restaurant or bar 

seating. 

 Lansdowne Place – key Amphitheatre area for larger events and informal recreation. 

 Meyrick Road – informal area – meeting and sitting space.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

56



   

20 
 

7.19 Figure 7.11 shows the latest landscape general arrangement drawing. 

 

Figure 7.11 Landscape General Arrangement drawing, also available here. 

57

https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/Bournemouth%26PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/Bournemouth%20Projects/B150%20Lansdowne%20Public%20Realm/1.%20BBC%20Documents/5.%20Forward%20Delivery%20Plan/Forward%20Delivery%20Plan%20-%20Members/Supporting%20Documents/70040876_LA_DR_GA_001%20Prelim%20Landscape%20GA.pdf?csf=1&e=WcgKun


   

21 
 

8 PRINCIPLES OF HIGHWAY DESIGN 

8.1 The principles for the highway design are based on DfT (Department for Transport) 

guidance document Manual for Streets 1 and 2, which looks at balancing the movement 

function of the street with its importance as a ‘place’ that provides the wider social, 

environmental and economic benefits that this project has been commissioned to address. 

This approach to highway design moves the focus from a cars/capacity first approach and 

emphasises the importance of addressing the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and public 

transport users as key to delivering the desired outcomes detailed earlier in this report.  

8.2 To understand how the current preliminary design has followed this approach in highway 

design, this section of the report sets out what changes are intended for the highway 

network around Lansdowne / Holdenhurst Road / Christchurch Road / Meyrick Road / 

Lansdowne Road /Old Christchurch Road and Bath Road and how these changes will 

benefit each of the above user groups.  The following details are still subject to detailed 

design and Stakeholder engagement and as such may be subject to change. [Highways GA 

available here] 

8.3 Holdenhurst Road will be closed to through traffic at its southern end and a pedestrian zone 

will be created between Lansdowne Roundabout (RAB (current) and Cotland’s Road. The 

northern end of Holdenhurst Road will remain a two-way carriageway providing all vehicles 

access to service business premises and private residential properties. (A service and 

access plan to be produced in due course). Vehicles entering from Station RAB will be able 

to exit Holdenhurst Road either via Cotland’s Road or turn around and exit north via Station 

RAB. 

8.4 The above highway arrangement reduces through traffic along Holdenhurst Road therefore 

providing better pedestrian environment through wider footways, pedestrian zone and two 

event spaces at Fire Station Square and Lansdowne Place (working titles).   

8.5 Cycle access along Holdenhurst Road will be maintained but formalised at the northern end 

with two-way cycle lane on the eastern side. Further south, cyclists will have access 

through the pedestrian zone on the eastern side of the street and exit via Lansdowne Place 

connecting with other parts of the network via signal- controlled crossings at the junction.  

8.6 Bus routes will be re-directed away from Holdenhurst Road onto Christchurch Road/ St 

Swithuns Road. (see further details on bus provision and mitigation measures in section 

10). 

8.7 Christchurch Road will be a two - way carriageway with an east bound bus lane added to 

help mitigate delays in journey times (see Section 11 Traffic Model Appraisal). Traffic flow 

will be controlled by a new signaled controlled junction at the western end of Christchurch 

Road (Lansdowne Place) which will replace the current Lansdowne RAB configuration. At 

the eastern end the highway arrangement ties into the current St Swithun’s RAB, there will 

be minor changes at the RAB as part of a proposed safety scheme. 

58

https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/Bournemouth%26PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/Bournemouth%20Projects/B150%20Lansdowne%20Public%20Realm/1.%20BBC%20Documents/5.%20Forward%20Delivery%20Plan/Forward%20Delivery%20Plan%20-%20Members/Supporting%20Documents/70047618-WSP-HML-LA-DR-CH-0100%20-%20P04.pdf?csf=1&e=SrvAC6
https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/Bournemouth%26PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/Bournemouth%20Projects/B150%20Lansdowne%20Public%20Realm/1.%20BBC%20Documents/5.%20Forward%20Delivery%20Plan/Forward%20Delivery%20Plan%20-%20Members/Supporting%20Documents/70047618-WSP-HML-LA-DR-CH-0100%20-%20P04.pdf?csf=1&e=SrvAC6


   

22 
 

8.8 Pedestrian environment along Christchurch Road will be improved by ensuring the 

pedestrian crossings formal and informal are provided at both the signal- controlled junction 

at Lansdowne Place and at the entry/exit arms of St Swithun’s RAB. There will be an 

additional signal- controlled pelican crossing along Christchurch Road providing a safe 

formal crossing linking the north and south sides. Existing entrance and exits on the service 

roads will be raised giving priority to pedestrians. The footway areas will also be decluttered 

by rationalising signing and the removal of pedestrian barriers will increase available space 

for pedestrians. 

8.9 Provision for cyclists will be provided with segregated cycle lane eastbound adjacent to the 

service road and connecting via a shared footway/cycleway to a proposed Toucan crossing 

on St Swithuns Road. Westbound cyclists will have the existing mandatory cycle lane 

extended to the proposed signalised junction at Lansdowne Place. Advanced stop lines will 

be added to the junction arrangement to assist cyclists moving through the junction. Further 

cycle infrastructure improvements are being reviewed to ensure better connectivity and safe 

access will be provided along this corridor.  

8.10 A bus by- pass lane will be added to the eastbound approach to St Swithun’s RAB, and 

buses will then merge with traffic on St Swithuns Road.   

8.11 New bus interchange/waiting facilities will be provided on the eastbound carriageway to 

accommodate the increase in bus services along this route due to the closure of 

Holdenhurst Road. On the westbound carriageway the current bus laybys will remain. 

8.12 Access to businesses and parking will be maintained via existing parallel service roads. 

8.13 Lansdowne RAB will be removed and replaced with a 3 -armed signal- controlled junction. 

This arrangement will control and manage the vehicle movement at this junction and help 

mitigate the wider network impact because of the potential increase in traffic flow along 

Christchurch Road resulting from the closure of Holdenhurst Road.   

8.14 The new junction configuration will provide the opportunity to create a new public realm 

event space (Lansdowne Place). The highway alignment and supporting infrastructure will 

need to be carefully considered to minimise the impact on the aesthetic quality and 

functionality of the public space and to ensure people will be attracted to visit and enjoy this 

new space that sits adjacent to a major highway & controlled junction.  

8.15 Meyrick Road will be no through route and closed at the northern end, this will give an 

opportunity to create improved public space on the southern side of Lansdowne Place. 

Consideration will be given on how to maintain access to local businesses/hotels, this will 

be part of an ongoing study to create a service and access plan for the whole Lansdowne 

Area.  

8.16 Lansdowne Road will remain accessible for all traffic, with changes to road alignment as 

part of the re-configuration of the Lansdowne junction.   

8.17 Pedestrian and cycle access across Lansdowne Road will be via the signal- controlled 

junction, with existing advisory cycle lanes on the north and southbound carriageways 

extended to the signalised junction.  

8.18 Lansdowne Road will be maintained as a strategic bus route linking the town centre and to 

the University campuses.  

59



   

23 
 

8.19 Old Christchurch Road will be bus only eastbound from Stafford Road to Lansdowne with 

all other traffic diverted via Stafford Road. There will be minor changes to the eastern end 

of Old Christchurch Road to accommodate pedestrian crossing facilities and to increase 

pedestrian space on the corners.   

8.20 Bath Road will remain largely unchanged with only minor localised widening at the eastern 

end to accommodate the signal controls and associated pedestrian crossing facilities. 

 

 

 

8.21 There are numerous highway changes required in order to facilitate the creation of the 

public realm space and additional changes as mitigations for the impact these changes will 

have in the area and on the network.  Consequently, there is a need to balance the 

aspirations of the public realm and the benefits it brings to the area against the needs of 

maintaining the traffic network, which was the steer for the programme to date. 

  

60



   

24 
 

9 MANAGING GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT  

9.1 Lansdowne has benefitted from recent investment particularly from and for the educational 

institutions including a state of the art med tech faculty “Gateway” building for Bournemouth 

University and general student accommodation. This accommodation has now reached the 

required levels to accommodate all population peak years students’ in their first year. This 

then frees up family sized housing across the conurbation for families.   

9.2 Knowledge of the Lansdowne DLEP funded programme has also encouraged live/work and 

shared space style developments that cater for the entrepreneurial as well as established 

businesses and provides the opportunity for people to live in the area. These mixed use 

developments are an ideal fit for the Lansdowne as it will compliment both the day time and 

night time economies which will help shape the retail, social and services offered in the 

immediate area. 

9.3 All of this growth and development is a positive step for Lansdowne and the wider 

conurbation, but it forces certain issues to the forefront, namely: 

 congestion on the network, see Section 11 Traffic Model Appraisal 

 capacity in utilities, see Section 12 Future Ready Review 

 access to key services such as Schools and Doctors 

 sustainability in both new developments and the area  

 affordable, accessible and interconnected alternative modes of transport see 

Section 10 Sustainability and Public Transport 

9.4 Growth has been estimated based on BCP Council Planning Board approved 

developments with a view to ensuring that all of the above issues can be proactively 

resolved prior to them escalating into problems that then limit the growth and potential of 

the area. This requires working with the Utility companies and other key service providers to 

highlight a potential shortfall in the near future.  

9.5 There is also the need to factor in and consider the implications of potential developments 

still awaiting planning approval that are of a size, function and/or in a location that will 

definitely impact the area in both positive and negative ways. The delivery team have 

endeavoured to consider these potential developments and try to ensure the programme 

design does not restrict or even prevent these developments.  

9.6 The final element of growth and development which is a total unknown and impossible to 

design for as we cannot predict with any certainty or even control are future social and 

political changes that may occur, which in turn impacts on how people interact with places 

etc. but flexibility has been designed into the programme where possible. 

9.7 Economic development of the area is also vital for the growth and prosperity of the 

Lansdowne and this involves raising awareness of what Lansdowne offers as well as 

connecting interests and people to help drive forward new relationships, collaborations etc. 

that in turn help the area grow and encourage further development and/or refurbishment of 

outdated buildings and new talent to live, work, study and enjoy the area. 

  

61



   

25 
 

10 SUSTAINABILITY AND PUBLIC TRANSPORT 

10.1 Sustainability is primed to become a key ethos for the Lansdowne area, ranging from not 

only how people navigate around and through the area but also how the area seeks to meet 

the challenging targets required in order for the aspirations of the new BCP Council and the 

climate emergency declaration. Policy changes under the new BCP Council may seek to 

ensure new developments and refurbishments of old building provide sustainabile elements 

in their design, as well as the move away from car dependency both in commuting but also 

car parking expectations, bar providing accessibility requirements for the less mobile. See, 

Section 13 Legacy. 

10.2 Public Transport engagement has involved meetings with Go South Coast (GSC/Morebus), 

Yellow Buses, Bournemouth University Buses and the various Taxi firms, which has been 

facilitated by colleagues at BCP Council. 

Bus Operator Engagement  

10.3 The initial specific engagement as part of the project was at the quarterly Local Authority 

and Bus Operator Bus Quality Partnership – BQP, meeting in July 2018. To deliver the 

public realm as part of the project the preferred option was to close the section of 

Holdenhurst Road nearest the Lansdowne Roundabout. With 55 bus movements per hour 

in each direction, serious concerns were raised by the bus operators.  

10.4 Continued liaison with frank discussions from all involved enabled greater understanding of 

perspectives. Data was shared between BCP Council and the bus operators to allow 

evaluation of impacts. Meetings took place in September 2018 between the bus companies 

and the Leader and Executive Director of Bournemouth Borough Council. Clarification of 

delivering the place element of the scheme was confirmed by the Council and the 

consequences for the operator’s business and their passengers – our residents and 

visitors.  

10.5 Further meetings were arranged between the bus companies and the project team with 

detailed modelling enabled, to assess the impact on journey times as well as wider traffic 

flows. A log of issues raised by the bus operators is maintained to accurately record and 

progress concerns raised. Meetings are on-going – the most recent was 2 July 2019 and 

there is a collaborative approach. Further development of modelling will continue the 

dialogue.  

10.6 One of the key areas where the bus operators are engaging with the delivery team 

concerns the necessary mitigations the programme intends to deliver in the Lansdowne, in 

order to assist public transport to flow as well as possible on the congested peak hours 

network.  

Taxi Companies engagement 

10.7 Taxi companies engagement has also taken place very early in the concept design process 

and whilst they were unhappy with the prospect of certain changes they were willing to 

assist with preferred taxi rank locations, numbers and other important factors. 

  

62



   

26 
 

Public Transport Contribution to the Scheme and Mitigations 

10.8 The sustainable ethos of the project will mean that access to the Lansdowne area will be 

favoured by sustainable means including public transport. The critical issue is how to 

provide a supportive agenda for public transport both operationally and with the passenger 

experience in mind when the existing route between Bournemouth Town Centre and the 

Bournemouth Station and wider destinations is changed.  

10.9 Creation of an environment at the Lansdowne less focused on the car and prioritising 

sustainable transport should overall, favour public transport. It is vital that the changes 

required to the way buses operate in the area do not unduly affect the passenger 

experience particularly linked to bus stops regarding their location and suitability. But in the 

same vein it is also crucial that the bus operators enhance the passenger experience by 

utilising technological advancements and delivering a more interconnected and real time 

service. 

10.10 Mitigating measures, especially on Christchurch Road between the Lansdowne and St 

Swithun’s Roundabout but also on the latter roundabout itself, are being developed in 

conjunction with the overall scheme. The proposals have been developed further through 

meetings with the bus operators.  

10.11 These include a bus lane on the northern side – eastbound direction of Christchurch Road 

with a bus hub approach to stops to reflect the multiple destinations that will be served in 

this direction. Based on current levels of service, facilities will need to allow for 82 service 

buses an hour in that direction, with additional consideration for the 11 University buses an 

hour. The stop grouping, will need to be located as close to the core of the Lansdowne 

project as the scheme will allow and be clearly accessible from that area, with good sight 

lines. 

10.12 For the southern side of Christchurch Road less individual stops will be required but the 

space for the stops will need to be increased for the increase in passenger numbers arising 

from the re-routing and generation of demand through a successful overall project. Two bus 

stops will also be lost at the station end of Holdenhurst Road. New bus stops will need to be 

provided on St Swithun’s Road accordingly and the bus operators are assisting with the 

appropriate locations.  

Wider Policy and Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 

10.13 The role of public transport in the Lansdowne will be influenced by how BCP Council 

develops its transport policies and initiatives not just for public transport but for land use, 

car parking, cycling and walking. It is likely that there will be a shift of policy to reflect the 

sustainable agenda of the new Council administration in light of the declared climate 

emergency for the area, combined with the increasing peak hours network congestion, but 

this is yet to be resolved. 

10.14 BCP Council is also currently bidding for Transforming Cities Funding, with an outline 

business case submitted in June 2019 and final bid to be submitted by the end of 

November 2019. The potential is there for significant amounts of funding being made 

available to support sustainable transport. This will complement the Lansdowne 

Programme and depending on the bids outcome/amount secured will support 

improvements in adjacent areas to the Lansdowne in addition to the core scheme.  

  

63



   

27 
 

11 TRAFFIC MODEL APPRAISAL 

11.1 Summary 

Extensive microsimulation traffic modelling work has been undertaken to support the 

development of the proposed scheme layout. Developed from a 2016 base model, existing 

traffic conditions have been modified to reflect the preferred design layout and include 

proposed committed development traffic estimates. With a focus of bus movements, journey 

times for key routes have been extracted and compared against current conditions.   

11.2 Base Model 

The base model was developed by Vectos in 2016. This base year model was validated to 

represent conditions for a 2016 Base Year. The model covered the following time periods:  

AM: 07:45-09:00 (08:00-09:00)  

PM: 16:45-18:00 (17:00-18:00)  

SAT1: 13:45-15:00 (14:00-15:00)  

SAT2: 17:15-18:30 (17:30-18:30)  

The model covers Bournemouth town centre with the extent illustrated below. 

 

 

Figure 11.1 Extents of traffic model 

11.3 Early development  

WSP were appointed by the Council in Jan. 2018 to support the modelling development of 

the scheme. Upon validating the Vectos base model and in conjunction with the highways 

and landscape feasibility design options, modelling output of these layouts were produced.   

In accordance with Department for Transport (DfT) TEMPro, traffic growth has been 

considered with a projection of 5% increase in traffic applied to the base model data. The 

following modelling scenarios were therefore available for comparison. 

 2016 Base Model (existing network conditions)  

 2022 ‘Do Nothing’ (predicted network conditions in 2022)  

 

64



   

28 
 

 2022 Proposed Scheme (predicted 2022 network conditions including proposed scheme)  

Weekday am and pm proposed scheme journeys were compared against the base model. 

Early indications suggested a significant increase in time for the outbound journey whilst the 

inbound journey time was comparable. Further mitigation solutions were worked up to 

improve the outbound journeys.   

Discussions with the local bus operators enabled these results to be presented in Jan.19 

and discussed at length. The agreed next stage was to develop this model in parallel with 

the preliminary design.   

11.4 Committed development traffic  

Committed developments within the town have been identified and the predicted associated 

traffic applied to the 2022 Do Nothing scenario and the 2022 Proposed Scheme. Analysing 

the output resulted in detrimental network performance across the Lansdowne area. 

Modelling outputs available here. 

11.5 Preferred option refinement  

The preferred option which would see Holdenhurst Road closed to traffic has been further 

developed with several highways interventions considered. The cumulative effect of 

including the below options has unlocked the network issues created by applying the 

committed development traffic. 

11.6 Highways interventions considered and modelled: 

 Removal of temporary traffic signal at Station Roundabout  

 Inclusion of St Swithun's roundabout safety scheme  

 Signalisation of Lansdowne Rd/Bath Rd/Christchurch Rd  

 Proposed Livingstone Academy, their travel plan proposals and predictions for additional car 

journeys to and from the area along with highways mitigations as a result of the academy in 

the area 

Table 11.1 provides an indication of how the proposed scheme bus journey times compare with 

existing and Do Nothing under 2022 conditions. 

 

65

https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/:i:/r/sites/Bournemouth%26PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/Bournemouth%20Projects/B150%20Lansdowne%20Public%20Realm/1.%20BBC%20Documents/5.%20Forward%20Delivery%20Plan/Forward%20Delivery%20Plan%20-%20Members/Supporting%20Documents/Do%20Nothing%202022%20screenshot.PNG?csf=1&e=Pcx4fI
https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/Bournemouth%26PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/Bournemouth%20Projects/B150%20Lansdowne%20Public%20Realm/1.%20BBC%20Documents/5.%20Forward%20Delivery%20Plan/Forward%20Delivery%20Plan%20-%20Members/Supporting%20Documents?csf=1&e=YE3rtc


   

29 
 

12 FUTURE READY REVIEW 

12.1 The vision for the Lansdowne project is looking to the future and creating a vibrant and 

dynamic place within which people can live, work, study and enjoy for years to come. 

Digital Infrastructure  

12.2 A core objective of the Lansdowne Project is to place technology, innovation and enterprise 

at the heart of growth and development in the area.  Central to this is the incorporation of a 

digital network capable of providing public Wi-fi, Internet of Things  (IoT) capabilities and 5G 

test bed technology, around the Lansdowne area.   

12.3 The IoT network already exists with sensors installed at key points of interest to monitor air 

quality (NO2 levels), noise levels (dBa) and traffic levels (total vehicles and footfall) on key 

links in Lansdowne.  This data will provide a baseline pre-programme as well as enable 

longer term analysis which may support future decision making in respect of environmental 

impacts (positive & negative).     

12.4 Free public Wi-fi will be available sooner rather than later as the infrastructure is already in 

the ground. 

12.5 The majority of the 5G testbed delivery is being covered by a separate DLEP funded project 

and as such is not covered in this Lansdowne Programme Update. The delivery team is 

working closely with the Smart Places team responsible for the 5G test bed works to ensure 

the two are fully coordinated.  

Services, Utilities and Statutory Undertakers  

12.6 These are currently proving a major constraint to the programme design and as such a 

variety of options are being considered and explored.  

12.7 The Delivery team have liaised with utility companies and service providers to advise of the 

proposed works, and to understand any planned maintenance or significant upgrades to 

services that are planned to ensure any necessary service diversions are identified at the 

earliest opportunity. The relevant services have all confirmed they have no plans for the 

area for the next five years. 

12.8 The changes proposed by the programme presents a rare opportunity to coordinate and 

streamline the routing and access to underground services and utilities with a shared 

utilities corridor or service duct an option. The intention being that the programme creates 

an opportunity for the corridor to be developed at the service providers expense during 

construction of the programme. Over time the service providers could gradually divert their 

services to use this corridor (or corridors). This in turn builds in an extra layer of resilience 

and an element of control over streetworks disruption within this important area of high 

quality public realm. Unfortunately, due to a lack of response from the service companies 

with interests in the area this opportunity will most likely be missed as it has not been 

incorporated into the preliminary designs due to the Lansdowne programme’s limited 

budget and timeframe. 

Flood Risk & Mitigation 

12.9 The design will incorporate appropriate drainage provision to prevent any localised flood 

issues likely to occur within the new areas of public realm, with particular attention to the 

areas of level change in and around the Lansdowne Roundabout area. 

66



   

30 
 

12.10 The landscape design has proposed the use of a range of materials, including permeable 

surfaces in some areas, to ensure rainwater run-off and drainage are effective across the 

scheme with the inclusion of sustainable drainage systems and selective planting. 

13 LEGACY 

13.1 The Lansdowne Master plan provides the guiding principles for the area. This programme is 

only phase 1 of delivery. There are key areas highlighted in the Delivery Plan that still 

remain blockers to the Lansdowne maximising its full potential, such as Station Roundabout 

and the disconnection between the Travel Interchange and the rest of Lansdowne and 

Bournemouth Town Centre.  If this area were to be redeveloped, opening up the 

connectivity between the Travel Interchange and the rest of Lansdowne and the Town 

Centre, a fundamental and positive change to the area, as well as wider conurbation, could 

be achieved delivering further significant benefits. 

13.2 In light of BCP Council’s recent declaration of a climate emergency there is also a desire to 

create an environment that is sustainable. This could include zero emissions vehicles, 

carbon neutral developments and biodiversity net gain in the public realm.  

13.3 Other potential changes that will take place in the coming years are the Council’s views on 

car usage and carbon neutral requirements, which are already creating congestion and 

health issues that have a negative impact on the local community & economy. Decisions 

will need to be made regarding policy in order to meet the national and local target dates. 

Lansdowne’s proximity to the Travel Interchange, town centre, beach and relatively easy 

access to the rest of the conurbation is fundamental in justifying policies that limit the need 

for car provision, particularly in respect to new developments. 

13.4 Public Realm will benefit further from any reduction in highway traffic especially if buses 

move to alternative power sources other than diesel. Should the social and political 

landscape be ready for such a positive step change then options such as creating 

Christchurch Road as a bus only through route, with other traffic being re-routed or a wider 

behavioural shift approach to encourage people to change their travel habits to a far 

healthier mode such as cycling, could be the turning point for the local environment and its 

population. 

  

67



   

31 
 

14 BUILDABILITY AND PHASING 

14.1 The nature of the planned street space and highway infrastructure changes that will come 

about through the construction of the project are such that a planned approach needs to be 

made in how the various elements are built. Understanding the needs of the key transport 

users, including those of public transport and the private/commercial vehicle, together with 

the access and through-route needs of pedestrians and cyclists, is critical in developing an 

appropriate phasing of the construction period.  

14.2 All the space on which construction activity is to take place either forms existing 

carriageway, existing footway or existing islands that segregate the two. As with similar 

schemes in such a built-up environment, buildability is largely reviewed under the 

complexity of how the area will be then built in a series of phases and then how complex or 

inefficient these are to work within for the various works contractors. 

14.3 The most significant change is the space along Holdenhurst Road upon which the current 

two-way vehicle movement is to be rebuilt into areas that accommodate public space and a 

predominately all-vehicle free area. In creating this change a key principal of the phasing 

will be to implement all the planned highway layout and infrastructure changes on 

Christchurch Road and St Swithun’s Road, together with Lansdowne Roundabout and St 

Swithun’s Road Roundabout in advanced of the works in Holdenhurst Road. These 

changes will include the road realignment for the new junction at Lansdowne Roundabout, 

modifications at St Swithun’s Road Roundabout to accommodate both the planned road 

safety modifications and the capacity layout changes for the passage through for public 

transport services and the bus priority measures on both Christchurch Road and St 

Swithun’s Road including the new eastbound bus lane and the improved bus stops 

infrastructure. 

14.4 The completion of the highway changes on Christchurch Road, St Swithun’s Road and at St 

Swithun’s Road Roundabout will enable all-traffic including buses to be re-routed for both 

the temporary and permanent part-length road closure of Holdenhurst Road under which 

arrangements the new public space will be firstly built and secondly implemented.   

14.5 The phasing of these various highway changes will include the undertaking of any ground 

investigations and preparatory works, together with the possible diversion or protection 

works to any existing underground utility equipment that may need to be altered in either 

position or depth from the proposed scheme.  

14.6 The phasing plan for the construction of the scheme will also determine the procurement 

strategy for both the highway and public realm contractors. The highway works at both 

Lansdowne Roundabout and St Swithun’s Road Roundabout, together with the changes on 

Christchurch Road and St Swithun’s Road, will be undertaken by BCP Council’ Highway 

Term Service Contractor. The scope and scale of these phased works suit this form of 

contract and will allow each individual phase to be planned and committed separately in the 

sequencing required. The use of this contract will also provide an opportunity for Early 

Contractor Involvement (ECI), a construction industry recognised approach with the 

contractor bringing construction experience to the decisions on buildability and phasing of 

the works.   

68



   

32 
 

14.7 The public realm works, that include both the hard and soft landscaping, street furniture, 

highway and decorative lighting and the public art spaces will be contracted to a suitably 

experienced civil engineering contractor through a regional framework contract.  

 

14.8 At the preliminary design stage, the phased programme for the works in Table 14.1 below is 

under review and consideration. These construction works phases may be programmed 

concurrently or required to be implemented with the completion of a preceding phase, the 

sequencing of which will be determined through both Early Contractor Involvement (ECI) 

and a review of the funding spend profile as detailed in Section 15. 

Phase  Works Section  Earliest Commencement  

1  Lansdowne Roundabout (West)  November 2019  

2  St Swithun’s Road Roundabout  December 2019  

3  Lansdowne Roundabout (North)  January 2020  

4  St Swithun’s Road  March 2020  

5  Christchurch Road  May 2020  

6  Holdenhurst Road (North of Cotlands Rd)  July 2020  

7  Holdenhurst Road (South of Cotlands Rd)  January 2021  

8  Lansdowne Roundabout (South)  May 2021  

Table 14.1 Works Phasing Programme (Provisional) 

  

69



   

33 
 

15 AFFORDABILITY 

15.1 The current projected funding and spend profile is shown below in Table 15.1 indicating the 

split in allocation between the Growth Deal contribution (through GDF3) from the Dorset 

LEP and the BCP Council Local Contribution  (match funding).   

15.2 Project spend shown in both the 2017/18 and 2018/19 financial years are actual outturns. 

The profile shown in the 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 financial years are projected based 

on the current project delivery programme and the works phasing programme shown in 

Section 14. Costs for construction from industry-based estimate for civil engineering and 

public realm/landscaping works. 

Lansdowne  Total 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

GD3 Profile Total £  8,500,000  363,000  359,000  2,015,600  5,762,400    

Local Contribution £  2,890,000          2,890,000  

Total  11,390,000  363,000  359,000  2015,600  5,762,400  2,890,000  

Table 15.1 Project Funding Profile 

15.3 Working within the approved total budget, the affordability of the project will be managed on 

the projected outturn costs of the public realm spaces within which the final decisions on 

material and features are still be made. As preliminary design is completed for both the 

highway works and the public realm works, decisions around the final budget for each of 

the construction phases will be based on the overall scheme outturn objectives that have 

formed the business case to the DLEP for the Lansdowne Business District.  

  

70



   

34 
 

16 COMMUNICATIONS STRATEGY 

16.1 A strategic approach has and will be developed further, including (but not limited to): 

 Scheme specifics: creative requirements (visuals, illustrations, digital/ animation) plus key 

messages  

 Public engagement opportunities  

 Opinion and perception measurement/ monitoring  

 Ongoing stakeholder dialogue 

 Issue specific positioning – transport infrastructure, housing, economic development, public 

realm, events, asset purchase/ disposal, etc. 

16.2 The strategic approach will be underpinned by the following principles: 

 Activity is planned and targeted based on evidence  

 Communications is early and visible 

 Branding is clear  

 Stakeholders, partners and their networks are involved  

 A two-way empathetic approach is adopted  

16.3 A detailed communications delivery plan will be produced once the Lansdowne Programme   

design and timeline, including key milestones and phasing has been finalised.   

Implementation 

16.4 The Communications Delivery Plan will focus on both outcome requirements and the 

production of a detailed timeline of activity linked to key programme and scheme milestones 

(tbc) 

16.5 This will encompass: Project narrative, Digital and Web, engagement support materials, 

marketing materials, graphics and artwork, photography and video, outdoor location based 

signage, face to face engagement and networking as well as ongoing issues management. 

Overview of the Communications Delivery Activity to date: 

 October 2018 – Filming and production of the Lansdowne inspirational place shaping film  

 November 2018 – Perception survey undertaken to establish insights and gather baseline 

data on current perceptions of the Lansdowne area  

 November 2018 - Stakeholder workshop – planning the future of Holdenhurst Road and 

Lansdowne Roundabout  

 November 2018 – Connected Bournemouth networking event at Lansdowne  

 September 2019 – Launch new look for Holdenhurst Road and Lansdowne Roundabout to 

the public through public engagement roadshows, and a conurbation wide PR campaign 

(tbc) 

71



   

35 
 

16.6 The success of the stakeholder engagement, consultations and communications strategy 

working together will prove key to the positive impression of how BCP Council has 

managed the delivery of this programme, as it will cause disruption over a considerable 

period (approx.18-24 months) and potentially how the finished development is received.  

17 KEY DELIVERY MILESTONES 
 Preliminary design stage for both highway and public realm works to continue on  

current programme to detailed design stage. 

 September 2019 – BCP Cabinet consider Lansdowne Programme Update and 

recommendations for scheme implementation 

 Autumn 2019 – Stakeholder consultation and engagement process begins 

 Late 2019 – Programme team to consider outputs from stakeholder engagement  

 Late 2019/Early 2020 – enabling works commence at Lansdowne Roundabout 

 Summer 2020 – Public Realm works contractor appointed 

 Spring 2021 – DLEP milestone for GD3 funding spend completed. 

 Spring 2022 – Final construction works completed  

 

18 RISK  

18.1 The risks for this programme reflect to a large extent the constraints this programme faces: 

 Decision Making changes – impact on delivery timelines 

 Ability to deliver on time 

 Ability to deliver on budget 

 Gain Stakeholder buy in – avoid appeals to TRO process 

 Lack of resource – BCP & external (impact on costs & timeline) 

18.2 There is a RAG rated risk register that is amended every month with the input from all 

levels of the Governance structure. 

 

19 FUTURE DECISIONS 

19.1 Fundamentally anything can be built, it simply comes down to time, money and appetite. 

We have limited amounts of both time and money and the Steering Group has and will 

provide the relevant steer regarding appetite for change when required.  

19.2 Milestones and key decisions expressed in this Lansdowne Programme Update are based 

on the constraints under which the project is currently being delivered. The Steering Group 

and Cabinet will be given the opportunity to review this plan and the outcomes that it will 

deliver.  

72



   

36 
 

19.3 There is also the ongoing conflict between creating a viable public realm that will become a 

vibrant destination place for the local and wider community whilst also ensuring the existing 

and projected local traffic flow in the Lansdowne area is maintained. To do so requires a 

compromise and the Steering Group has and will going forward be required to make this 

decision which also touches on appetite for change. 

19.4 Finally, the previous political landscape has tailored preferences and direction of travel for 

this programme to date, however due to recent changes resulting from BCP Council 

creation and subsequent elections the way forward may well differ from what has gone 

before which may impact on the programme’s ability to deliver on time and on budget. 

73



This page is intentionally left blank

74



 

CABINET 

 

Report subject Wessex Fields Development Site 

Meeting date 30 September 2019 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary This paper informs the Cabinet of the current status of the 
Wessex Fields programme which aims to create and retain 
high quality jobs, reduce congestion and support the re-
development of Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch 
Hospital.  It sets out the reasons for taking this opportunity 
forward, the key milestones to date and the reasons for the 
proposed changes. The paper recommends an agreed way 
forward to ensure progress towards unlocking the 
employment site for development, and to ensure the retention 
of the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) funding. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 

 (a) Note that Phase 1.1 (of Phase 1), as previously 
agreed with DLEP, is progressing to meet the 
current programme and funding requirements; 

(b) Agree that Phase 1.2 (of Phase 1) will only progress 
to the boundary of the development site at this time, 
and not through the site as previously proposed;  

(c) Agree that Phase 2 will not progress at this stage, 
until the future use of the site is determined 

(d) Agree that a public consultation event is held in the 
coming months to consider views on how the site 
could be developed, including potential use of the 
site and access to and from it;  

(e) Use the information from the consultation to evolve 
the current master plan for the development site.  

(f) Explore means to more directly address the 
congestion on Castle Lane East and other links 
surrounding the wider Littledown employment area, 
including working with employers on travel plans, 
and better joined up support for active travel. 

75

Agenda Item 7



 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The recommendations support the Council’s drive to respond 
to the climate emergency, to recognise that new roads induce 
further traffic, and to listen to the public’s concerns and take 
appropriate action. The recommendations also support the 
Council’s key priorities to encourage well-being, sustainability 
and investment.  

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Mark Howell (Portfolio Holder for Regeneration 
and Culture) 

Councillor Andy Hadley (Portfolio Holder for Transport and 
Infrastructure) 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton (Corporate Director of Regeneration & Economy) 

Contributors Julian McLaughlin, Director for Growth and Infrastructure 

Chris Shephard, Director for Development 

Gary Powell, A338 BIG Programme SRO  

Claire Clark, A338 BIG Programme Project Manager 

Mike O’Gorman, A338 BIG Programme Project Manager 

Wards Littledown & Iford, Muscliffe & Strouden Park 

Classification For decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. The Wessex Fields Link Road Scheme forms part of the A338 Bournemouth 

International Growth (BIG) Programme package of schemes. The BIG 

Programme is a £45m plan to improve connectivity, ease congestion, protect 

existing jobs and create new ones in and around Bournemouth Airport and 

Wessex Fields. To date has delivered improvements to Blackwater East Junction, 

and to the A338 southbound between Blackwater Junction and Cooper Dean 

Roundabout. At present, construction works are taking place on the Blackwater 

West Junction improvements scheme.  

2. The Wessex Fields Scheme consists of four separate packages of work: The 

Cooper Dean Widening project, Wessex Fields Phase 1.1, Wessex Fields Phase 

1.2 and Wessex Fields Phase 2. The split of works is displayed on the drawing 

A338 Wessex Fields Phasing Plan (appendix 1.) The Cooper Dean Widening 

project is complete and work commenced on Wessex Fields Phase 1.1 in early 

September 2018.  This scheme was developed to unlock the employment site 

known as Wessex Fields by providing direct access to and from the site from the 

A338.  

3. A decision was made by Bournemouth Borough Council in November 2016 to 

submit a planning application for Phase 1 (Phases 1.1 and 1.2) and Phase 2 of 

the scheme, on the understanding that Phase 1 would be funded by the DLEP 

76



 

and Phase 2, whilst it has no funding in place, would be suitably progressed 

should the opportunity arise.   

4. A decision was also made by the Council to purchase the Wessex Fields 

development site, land which is allocated for employment use, for £2m. Given 

that the funding was allocated to the Council by Dorset Local Enterprise 

Partnership to help create 500 new jobs and protect the 10,000 existing jobs in 

the immediate area, it was felt that there were significant advantages in 

progressing with the purchase of this land.  For example: 

- It allows the Council to retain 100% of the uplift in value in this land arising 

from the construction of a publicly-funded road scheme.  

- It overcomes any planning policy issues about securing developer 

contributions and negates the risk that these contributions could be eroded as 

a result of viability assessments conducted as part of the planning process.  

- The Council is better able to control development on this land, the mix of uses 

and, potentially, the type of occupiers. 

- The Council can ensure that land is available, at market value, for other public 

sector uses, e.g. the hospital or ambulance trust. 

BCP Council recognise these advantages, and the opportunity to ensure that the 
site is developed for social as well as economic good. 

 

5. The first planning application was submitted in December 2017 (ref: 7-2017-

9177-DH.) In May 2018 an Addendum was submitted to take on board additional 

comments and amendments in response to feedback received from the Statutory 

Consultees and Local Planning Authority (LPA). Further amendments were 

subsequently made, notably the retention of the Cob Barn and the realignment of 

the link road through the site to move it away from the boundary of the Retired 

National Nurses Home (RNNH). As a result, rather than submit a further 

addendum, it was considered more straight forward to submit a new application 

(ref: 7-2018-9177-DL) and withdraw the previous application. 

6. A recommendation to grant approval was made at Planning Board on 28 January 

2019. This was subject to a decision by the Secretary of State as to whether to 

call the application in. The application was not called in and the decision notice 

was issued by the LPA on 28 March 2019. Following the grant of planning 

consent, a claimant application was made for permission to apply for a Judicial 

Review (JR) of the planning decision. The JR response from the High Court was 

received on 11 July 2019 whereby the application for permission to apply for a JR 

was refused. Following the refusal, a further request for a face to face hearing 

was made by the claimant and an oral hearing took place on 4th September, to 

further consider whether a Judicial Review should take place. At this hearing the 

request for permission to apply for a JR was refused.   

7. The delivery of Phase 1 (consisting of Phase 1.1 and Phase 1.2) of the Wessex 

Fields Link Road was programmed to be completed no later than 31st March 

77



 

2021. This constraint represents the end of the funding window for the Dorset 

Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) Bournemouth International Growth (BIG) 

Programme. Funding for Phase 1.1 has been agreed with DLEP. The remaining 

budget is expected to partly finance Phase 1.2, with the funding source(s) for the 

remainder of the project to be confirmed.  

8. Based on the required completion date for Phases 1.1 and 1.2 of the project, the 

construction of Phase 1.1 of Wessex Fields commenced in early September 

2018. Key tasks for Phase 1.2, including detailed design, undertaking compulsory 

purchase orders (CPOs) securing the remaining funding, and procurement 

planning also need to commence as soon as possible. Delays to these tasks will 

increase the risk of the project completion date extending beyond the constraint 

of 31st March 2021. 

9. As well as the DLEP funding constraint date, the Project Team are coordinating 

construction with Wessex Water, who are completing works that interface with 

the Wessex Fields scheme. Wessex Water commenced their works at the end of 

July 2019 ahead of the start of construction for the Wessex Fields Link Road in 

September 2019. The completion of the Wessex Water element is dependent 

upon Phase 1.1 Wessex Fields commencing as planned. Any delay to the 

Wessex Fields construction will delay the completion of Wessex Water works, 

which in turn will delay the completion of Wessex Fields Phase 1.2 beyond 31st 

March 2021. 

Project Review  
 

10. The creation of the Unity Alliance and subsequent change of leadership of BCP 

Council has prompted a review of this project by Members. The declaration of a 

climate emergency, the need for more transparency, and community engagement 

and ownership of key plans, has driven a forensic analysis of this programme 

since June 2019.  This paper recommends changes to the programme that take 

account of these drivers whilst still looking to achieve the original aims. These 

changes are to: 

- To unlock the site for development by continuing with Phase 1.1 linking the 

site to the A338 and to proceed with Phase 1.2 to the site boundary 

- Hold a public consultation event to engage the community in the future 

development potential of the employment site, in order to evolve the current 

vision and masterplan prior to construction of roads through the site pursuant 

to the outcomes of the consultation.  

- Seek alternative options focusing on sustainable travel for Phase 2, once the 

future use of the site is determined 

DLEP Funding 

11. DLEP agreed £8 million funding to deliver the Cooper Dean Widening works and 

access to the Wessex Fields site from a new southbound junction on the A338. 

The Council developed a scheme to deliver the latter, which it divided into 

78



 

Phases 1.1 and 1.2. The latest estimate for delivering these works is £12.5 

million. This figure is likely to reduce following the completion of the Cooper Dean 

Widening works, once all of the costs have been finalised, but will still be greater 

than the £8 million of approved funding. To date, £5.3 million of funding has 

already been spent to deliver the project to its current stage. Costs include the 

construction of Cooper Dean Widening, design fees, planning fees and land 

acquisition. No funding was agreed for improvements to Castle Lane or Phase 2 

of Wessex Fields as part of the funding grant.   

12. The remaining DLEP funds within the budget will ensure the completion of Phase 

1.1, however further funding arrangements are required for Phase 1.2, even to 

only construct it to the site boundary. Once the actual costs for Phase 1.1 and the 

Cooper Dean Widening have been agreed, there may be some funds available to 

construct this part of Phase 1.2. As the recommendation is now to only 

implement Phase 1.2 to the boundary of the development site, whilst further 

consideration is given to how the site will be used, there will need to be further 

discussions with DLEP to secure whatever the funding gap is. How the remaining 

part of Phase 1.2 (inside the site boundary) is delivered and funded will depend 

on the future use of the site.  

Sustainable Transport Opportunities 

13.  In addition to the sustainable measures already agreed as part of the planning 

approval, further consideration can be given to both promoting smarter travel 

choices, encouraging a shift in transport mode from car use to cycling, walking 

and public transport, and the improvement of routes to the site from the major 

anticipated origin and destinations.   

14. There are further opportunities as part of the recommended public consultation 

and the evolution of the site masterplan. A masterplan and vision have been 

produced for the Wessex Fields site which considered at a conceptional level the 

need for sustainable transport facilities, and which adhered to current Council 

planning policies.   

15. Other scheme proposals for the area have also been developed as part of the 

Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) bid and the Local Transport Plan (LTP.) 

Summary of financial implications  

16. The Cooper Dean Widening scheme and BIG Programme A338/Blackwater 

Improvement scheme have been designed and constructed to link to Phase 1.1 

and 1.2 of the Wessex Fields scheme. Further funding would need to be secured 

at a later date to meet the costs of any future design work and subsequent 

planning applications required, if the future use of the site dictates that a different 

road design is required.     

17. Funds will have to be secured to run the consultation process, which will depend 

on the scale and nature of this. 

79



 

Summary of legal implications  

18. There may be legal implications should the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership 

(DLEP) funding not be fully spent in line with the agreements that have been 

negotiated between the Council and the DLEP.  

Summary of human resources implications  

19. The project team currently delivering the A338 BIG Programme will continue to 

work on the scheme to deliver Phase 1.1 and Phase 1.2 up to the boundary of 

the site. This team could also be utilised to deliver any further changes required 

following the consultation process. However, a funding source will need to be 

secured in order to allow this.    

20. Resources will have to be identified to progress the consultation and to collate 

the results of this into a report that can be considered further by Members.  

Summary of environmental impact  

21. The Environmental Statement submitted with the Planning Application sets out in 

detail the environmental impacts of the scheme for Phase 1 and Phase 2, and the 

required mitigation to address those impacts where applicable. These have been 

fully assessed by the LPA prior to the recommendation to approve. 

22. Further specific details on how the natural environment will be protected 

throughout the works have been agreed via the discharge of pre-commencement 

planning conditions for the scheme. 

23. Any subsequent change to the proposed road infrastructure, following the 

consultation process, would have to go through the planning process again and 

the environmental impacts would have to be re-assessed along with the required 

mitigation.  

Summary of public health implications  

24. There are no public health implications as identified in the Environmental 

Statement.  

Summary of equality implications  

25. An Equalities Impact Needs Assessment (EINA) has been completed for the 

proposed scheme.  This identifies that the scheme will provide positive outcomes 

for user groups attributed to one or more of the defined protected characteristics.  

Positive outcomes include improved access to the Royal Bournemouth Hospital 

and employment opportunities within the Wessex Fields development site.  

26. The assessment has identified negative outcomes for the scheme including loss 

of privacy for occupants of the Retired National Nurses Home (RNNH) on 

Riverside Avenue.  An action plan has been developed to mitigate against 

negative impact, including implementing noise mitigation measures and 

commissioning a sustainable transport plan for the Wessex Fields development.  

80



 

27. Any subsequent change to the proposed road infrastructure, following the 

consultation process, would have to go through the planning process again and 

an Equalities Impact Needs Assessment (EINA) would have to be completed 

again.  

Summary of risk assessment  

28. Failure to implement Phases 1.1 and part of 1.2 of Wessex Fields could lead to 

the realisation of a number of risks to BCP which are both financial and 

reputational. 

29. With only part project completion there is the financial risk that DLEP will request 

part of, or full funding spent to date on design fees, planning fees and 

construction activities to be repaid. 

30. Failure to deliver jobs on the Wessex Fields site could lead to reputational 

damage for BCP with DLEP. This could result in DLEP re-profiling funds to 

pipeline schemes outside of the BCP Council area. For future DLEP funding and 

other central government funding the ability of BCP to deliver schemes may be 

questioned. 

31. There could also be reputational damage with the public and the business 

community based on previous extensive consultation and communications 

relating to the planning application process. However, it is recognised by the new 

administration that the planning application process was unpopular with some 

members of the public. This has been in progress since Spring 2017 and 

continues to date. Not progressing the scheme may be damaging to future 

relationships, ambition and discussions across a wide range of partners, 

stakeholders, businesses and the public. The governance of the project has been 

ongoing since early 2017 with key stakeholders, with the expectation of the 

delivery of the scheme. 

32. The development land was purchased by the Council, and without the opportunity 

to develop, there will be no opportunity to recoup this cost. The employment site 

is unique within BCP and therefore the associated benefits of these cannot be 

achieved elsewhere. 

33. If the project continues as per the recommendations, the main programme and 

financial risks for delivery of the project are regarding land acquisition and the 

need to make Compulsory Purchase Orders and a Side Roads Order. To mitigate 

any possible delay to the project work on this, the Orders and land acquisition 

need to progress as soon as possible.  

34. Due to the current delays of the project commencing, there is an increased risk of 

works being delayed further and an increase in cost due to severe weather 

events and possible flooding on site. To mitigate this as far as possible, works for 

Phase 1.1 of the project commenced on site as planned in early September 

2019.  

81



 

Background papers  

Wessex Fields Link Technical Review (22nd July 2019) 
Planning Application Ref: 7-2018-9177-DL – Published Works 
Wessex Fields EINA 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – A338 Wessex Fields Phasing Plan  
 
 
 
 

82



C
U

T
 
L

I
N

E
C

U
T

 
L

I
N

E

Wessex Water Treatment

Works

New slip road from A338 to new

roundabout

Connection to the new third

lane of A338 (delivered by

Dorset County Council)

10SLOW

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

RIDG

RIDG

GUT

GUT

GUT

PARA

PARA

PARA

7.338

7.365

6.496

10.410

9.591

10.114

10.121

11.340

13.211

8.791

13.815

8.790

13.810

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

C
U

T
 
L
I
N

E
C

U
T

 
L
I
N

E

Royal Bournemouth

Hospital
Playgolf

Bournemouth

R

i

v

e

r

s

i

d

e

 

A

v

e

n

u

e

Riverside Avenue

Employment Site

Retired Nurses National

Home (RNNH)

Pond 02

Pond 01

Pond

04

Notes

1. Existing Stour Valley Way route to be

redirected in both phases. For proposed

amendments refer to drawings;

1076648-MOU-HA-WS-DR-H-1105

Proposed Phase 1 Pedestrian and Cycle

Routes 1076648-MOU-HA-WS-DR-H-1106

Proposed Phase 2 Pedestrian and Cycle

Routes.

2. Pond 02 and 04 to be delivered within

Phase 1.2 works.

3. Environmental enhancement/Nature

Reserve (not shown on this plan) shall be

delivered withing Phase 1.2 works.

New roundabout at

existing ground level

New access road

to treatment works
New slip road onto A338

from new roundabout

New third lane ends on Cooper Dean slip road.  Existing
two lanes continue over Cooper Dean flyover

Length of Stour Valley Way

up to existing footbridge to be

removed in Phase 1

Key

Phase 1.1 works

Cooper Dean

Widening Works

Phase 1.2 works

Phase 2 works

Stour Valley Way

New road to connect to

Deansleigh Road

Access to Ageas Insurance and

Bournemouth Crown and County

Courts re-aligned to suit new road

New road with footway
and cycleway through
proposed Wessex Fields
development site

Footway / cycleway

connection to Riverside

Avenue to maintain link

over A338

Existing footbridge over

A338 to remain for Phase 1

New roundabout

Riverside Avenue re-aligned and

upgraded

New slip road from A338

to new roundabout

New slip road from

new roundabout to

A338

New roundabout

Non-intrusive retaining walls
to protect Veteran Tree roots

Riverside Avenue converted to

shared use footpath/cycle path

beyond RNNH

Northbound merge from
Cooper Dean improved. New bridge ramp with footway

and cycleway facilities

New road bridge with footway and cycleway
facilities over the A338.  Current footbridge
over A338 removed. Cob Barn retained.

Holdenhurst Village Road alignment

maintained adjacent to Cob Barn

A338 widened to provide third lane northbound
between Cooper Dean and the new junction. Holdenhurst Village

Road closed off to

motorised vehicles

just beyond the

village hall

Holdenhurst Village Road connected to

new bridge ramp to maintain access

Footway and cycleway link to
Holdenhurst Road.

Continuous route for pedestrains/cyclist

without crossing the bridge ramp.

Existing footbridge and length of

Stour Valley way over A338 to be

removed in Phase 2

Uncontrolled

crossing (Raised

table) for cyclist

and pedestrians

Refer to note 1

New bridge ramp with footway and cycleway facilities
linking Phase 1 to the new bridge over the A338.

A338 widened to 3 lanes
southbound

S2 FOR INFORMATION

1:1250

m

03

C 22

THIS MAP IS REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY

MATERIAL WITH THE PERMISSION OF ORDNANCE SURVEY ON

BEHALF OF THE CONTROLLER OF HER MAJESTY'S STATIONERY

OFFICE © CROWN COPYRIGHT. UNAUTHORISED

REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT AND MAY LEAD

TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS. AL 100030649 2017

DRAWING NUMBERSCALE :

DRAWING TITLE

DATE :

CLIENT

DESIGN :

APPD :

DRAWN :

CHKD :

PROJECT ORIGINATOR VOLUME

LOCATION TYPE ROLE NUMBER

REFERENCE No.

h:\a338 wessex fields\10 - documents\c - drawings\cad drgs\0001 1076648-mou-pd-ws-dr-t-0001 phasing plan c22.dwg

REVISION

AGENT

A1

AS-BUILT

EXTERNAL ISSUE

PRELIMINARY DRAWING

WORKING DRAWING

SUITABILITY:

MOU

DRAWING STATUS:
SCHEME NAME

DIMENSIONS :

ORIG DWG SIZE:

SCHEME

100mm0

A338 Wessex Fields

Phasing Plan

SAP

JM

JM

GSH

28/03/17

1076648
PD

WS DR T 0001

1076684

N

REV DETAILS CHKD APPD DATE

C1 FIRST ISSUE JM GSH 28/03/2017

C12

PHASE 1 LAYOUT UPDATED TO

SHOW FLARED THROUGH ROAD

JM RJW 20/09/2017

C13

SPINE ROAD LINK REMOVED.

EASTERN ROUNDABOUT SOUTH

MOVED INTO PHASE 1

JM RJW 02/10/2017

C14 POND 2 AMENDED JM RJW 06/11/2017

C15

POND TEXT NOTES AMENDED FOR

CLARITY

JM RJW 14/11/2017

C16

KEY UPDATED, PHASING HATCH

UPDATED

JM RJW 28/11/2017

C17 MINOR AMENDMENTS RJW RJW 17/08/2018

C18

SPINE ROAD SOUTH LAYOUT

AMENDED, HATCHING UPDATED TO

SUIT

RJW RJW 05/09/2018

C19 MINOR AMENDMENTS RJW RJW 10/09/2018

C20

FOR OCTOBER 2018 PLANNING

APPLICATION

RJW RJW 04/10/2018

C21 PHASE 1 SPLIT RJW RJW 12/04/2019

C22 PHASE 1.1 SPLIT
RJW RJW

09/05/2019

83

AutoCAD SHX Text
Co Const Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Boro Const & UA Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
CHESHIRE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
THROOP ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
DEANSLEIGH ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
WILKINSON DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
CHESHIRE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
WILKINSON

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
WILKINSON DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
NOYCE GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
VICKERS CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Co Const Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
Boro Const & UA Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
Boro Const & UA Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
Co Const Bdy



T
his page is intentionally left blank

84



1 

 

CABINET  

 

Report subject Garden Waste 2020 

Meeting date 30 September 2019 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary Refuse and recycling waste collections are a statutory 
function which local authorities are required to by law provide. 
Separate garden waste collections are a discretionary service 
that Councils can legally charge householders a reasonable 
fee for. Chargeable garden waste collections have been 
operated by the legacy Councils since 2012.  

The service is popular with 49,681 subscribers for 2019, 
collecting 14,250 tonnes of garden waste across BCP in 
2018/19. 

There are several variations in the service across BCP which 
over time need to be reviewed and aligned to ensure parity. 

In December 2018, the Government published a new Waste 
and Resource Strategy for England and consultations on 
many aspects of waste management followed in April/May 
2019. These consultations included proposals on garden 
waste bin size, collection frequencies and whether garden 
waste collections should be provided free of charge by local 
authorities.  

Full alignment of garden waste collection services across 
BCP must consider the Government’s new waste strategy, 
outcomes of subsequent consultations and associated 
legislation (requiring compliance by 2023). 

85

Agenda Item 8



2 

 

Recommendations The Cabinet is recommended to approve: 

(a) The alignment of the annual garden waste 

collection service price across BCP for the 2020 

service at £46 per household for one bin. 

(b) The pro-rota of the Christchurch service collection 

fee for 2020 at £37.65 per household to reflect the 

service length from April to December 2020 

(c) The retention of the current multiple bin options: 

i) For Bournemouth residents at a rate of £64 

for 2    140l bins (280l) and £86 for 3 140l 

bins (420l)  

ii) For Christchurch & Poole residents at the 

full one bin price (£46 per extra 240l) 

(d) Further modelling and analysis by officers to 

establish full alignment of garden waste 

collections services across BCP with 

consideration to the Government’s new Waste 

Strategy, outcomes of subsequent consultation 

and associated legislation. 

  

Reason for 
recommendations 

1. BCP Council is facing a challenging efficiency agenda to 

deliver substantial financial savings whilst retaining 

frontline services that are efficient, reliable and valued by 

residents.  

2. Garden waste is one of the few waste materials that 

Councils can legally charge householders a reasonable 

fee for collection. Of the 326 English councils who collect 

garden waste, 212 (65%) now charge for this collection.  

3. Benchmarking comparing 16 of our neighbouring 

authorities geographically and statistically across the 

country, found that of the 11 that charge for garden waste 

collections, bin charges vary from £25 to £60, with an 

average of £46.62. 

4. The alignment of collection prices offers consistency, 

steps towards parity and future-proofs service delivery 

across BCP.   

5. The Garden Waste Service in Dorset (including 

Christchurch) historically starts and finishes in April for 

Dorset residents, which will result in a shorter service year 

86



3 

 

for Christchurch residents in year one from BCP Council. 

This can be addressed by a pro rata payment for the 

service in Christchurch for 2020. 

6. Retaining the multiple bin price structure in Bournemouth 

offers some consolation for provision of the smaller bin 

size for an interim period. A bin replacement programme 

swapping Bournemouth’s 140l for 240l would incur capital 

costs of £289,000, plus delivery cost. As a result, it is 

prudent to maintain the current bin sizes across BCP until 

the outcomes of the Government’s new waste strategy are 

better understood.   

7. Full alignment of garden waste collections services across 

BCP should consider the Government’s new waste 

strategy, outcomes of subsequent consultations 

(concerning garden waste bin size, collection frequency, 

service charges) and associated legislation (requiring 

compliance by 2023). 

8. Garden waste collected through the service is diverted 

from the refuse stream, for composting in Open Windrows 

producing high quality compost, which is used locally on 

farmland and sold in garden centres. 

9. Residents can still dispose of garden waste for free at 

Household Waste & Recycling Centres. 

10. BCP also encourages home composting and promotes 

compost bin offers.  

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Dr Felicity Rice (Portfolio Holder for Environment 
and Climate Change) 

Corporate Director Kate Ryan  

Contributors Rachel Davies – Waste Strategy Manager 

Georgina Fry - Major Projects, Strategy & Commissioning 
Manager  

Larry Austin - Director of Environment 

Ian Poultney – Head of Environmental Development 

Wards All Wards 

Classification For Decision 
Title:  

87



4 

 

Background  

1. Bournemouth, Christchurch (as part of Dorset) and Poole all operate 
chargeable Garden Waste collection services. Bournemouth has had a 
chargeable service since 2016, both Christchurch and Poole since 2012. 

2. The Garden Waste Collection Services are popular with residents with 49,681 
subscribers (19,253 in Bournemouth, 7,394 in Christchurch, 23,034 in Poole) to 
the 2019 Garden Waste Collection Service across BCP. 

3. The 2018/19 Garden Waste Collection Services across BCP captured 14,250 
tonnes of garden waste that may have been disposed of in the refuse stream or 
taken to a Household Waste & Recycling Centre for free, where the Council 
would have funded onwards haulage and disposal costs.    

4. The Government’s Waste and Resource Strategy was published in December 
2018 and consultations on many aspects of waste management took place in 
April/May 2019. The Government’s proposals are likely to significantly impact 
on the tonnage, composition and value of waste that BCP is required to 
manage in the future. As part of the consultations, there were proposals on 
garden waste bin size, collection frequencies and whether garden waste 
collections should be provided free of charge by local authorities. BCP will be 
required to comply with new legislation resulting from the National Waste 
Strategy by 2023.     

5. There are several service variations in each legacy authority as set-out below 
which need to be addressed to provide a completely fair and equitable service 
to all BCP residents. 

 
Garden Waste Comparison, BCP – 2019 

 Bournemouth Christchurch Poole 

No. of 
households 

(2018) 

 
89,840 

 
23,780 

 
68,420 

 
Number of 

Subscribers 
2019 

Registrations 
19,253 

 
140 litre bins 

23,154 

Registrations 
7,394 

 
240 litre bins 

7,390 
4 sack customers 

Registrations 
23,034 

 
240 litre bins  

 24,051 

 
Service length 

 
22 collections 

 

 
Variable from 8-25 

weeks 

 
22 collections 

 

 
Bin size 

 
140 litre 

 
240 litre 

 
240 litre 

 

 
Sacks 

 
N/A 

 
Variable pricing for 

16- 50 sacks 

 
N/A 

 

 
Price 2019 

 

 
1 bin = £43.00 

 
£50.50 

(25 weeks) 

 
£42.95 

 
Extra bins 

 
2 bins = £60.00 
3 bins = £80.00 

 
£50.50 

 
£42.95 

 

88



5 

 

 
Discounts 

offered 

 
None 

 
None 

AtLL – half price first bin 
only £21.50 

(1251 AtLL* for 2018) 

 
Start 

promotions 
for 2020 

 
1 November 19 

 
1 January 20 

(system live by 1 Nov 
19) 

 
1 November 19 

*Access to Leisure & Learning 
 

6. Any service changes for garden waste collections across BCP should consider 
the Government’s new waste strategy, outcomes of subsequent consultations 
and associated legislation (requiring compliance by 2023). 

7. Dorset residents may register and pay for the 2020 service from 1 November 
onwards.  A Communications Plan will start in October 2019 to ensure anyone 
wishing to pay at this point will be directed to BCP rather than Dorset Council. 
However, the main communications for the Service will start in January. This 
aligns with the wider agreement with Dorset Council that BCP can 
communicate with Dorset residents from January 2020.     

 

Options considered 

8. The following options have been considered and rejected: 

A. To maintain current historic service prices across BCP 
B. To increase historic prices by RPI 
C. To replace Bournemouth’s 140l bins with 240l bin for the 2020 

service 
D. To introduce a litre price to reflect the smaller bin size in 

Bournemouth 
E. To fully align garden waste collection services across BCP 

 

Summary of financial implications  

9. Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole currently have different prices for the 
Garden Waste Service: 

10. Based on the anticipated collection costs, the 2020 service will cost £2.11m to 
deliver across BCP. Registration numbers for the 2020 service are projected to 
vary due to the new pricing structure, resulting in a predicted income of £2.14m 
across BCP. 

11. As the service previously delivered in Christchurch was pan Dorset, the service 
fee of £50.50 for 2019 and £52 or 2020 has been set with consideration to 
Dorset-wide rural demographics and associated operational demands. Based 
on Bournemouth & Poole modelling, it is anticipated the cost  of service 
delivery for BCP in Christchurch will be lower.  

12. Historically, Bournemouth residents have received a discount on multiple bins. 
These are indicated below for the current year 2019 and proposed increased 
for 2020 based on proportional increase of 140l bin price. 

 

89



6 

 

 2019 price 2020 price 

1 bin £43.00 £46.00 

2 bins £60.00 £64.00 

3 bins  £80.00 £86.00 
 
13. Replacing the Bournemouth 140l bins with 240l bins would incur a capital cost 

of £289,000 to purchase 240 litre bins, plus delivery costs. 

Summary of legal implications  

14. In the Controlled Waste Regulations (1992), garden waste is classified under 
Schedule 2 (Regulation 4), as a type of waste for which a charge may be 
made. 

15. In accordance with the ‘Delegation of Waste Function’ as agreed by the 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Shadow Executive Committee on 7 
November 2018, Dorset Council will manage waste & cleansing services in  the 
existing Christchurch Borough area using the current operating model, transfer 
arrangements and disposal routes until 31 March 2020. This decision was 
taken, due to the tight timescales of LGR to ensure service continuity from April 
2019. 

16. With effect from 1 April 2020, BCP will be responsible for operating waste 
cleansing services, including garden waste collections within the Christchurch 
area.  

Summary of human resources implications  

17. Staff currently employed by Dorset Council to deliver the Christchurch service 
will transfer to BCP on 1 April 2020 subject to TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) (Amendment)) Regulations 2014. 

18. Planned staff engagement is set out as part of the overall Christchurch 
Communications Plan (Appendix 1). Meaningful consultation with staff will be 
undertaken in line with Council Policy. 

Summary of environmental impact  

19. Garden waste collected through the garden waste collection service is diverted 
from the refuse stream, for composting in Open Windrows locally at Hurn. This 
process creates a high-quality compost that is sold locally.  

20. The most cost-effective solution for managing garden waste would be for 
residents to compost at home, however this is not always convenient due to 
limited space and opportunity. 

21. Without a designated garden waste collection, this material could end up in  the 
general waste bin and not be composted. This would mean a fall in the 
Council’s recycling rate. With no kerbside garden waste collection service, it is 
likely that the recycling rate would fall below the Government’s target. 

22. The garden waste kerbside collection service enables materials of this type to 
be sent to a local facility where it is turned into a soil improver. 

23. Without kerbside garden waste collections, more pressure may be put onto  the 
Household Waste Recycling Centres as this is the only other place it could be 

90



7 

 

disposed of if not composted at home. This would likely increase traffic at  the 
already busy sites. 

Summary of public health implications  

24. None identified. 

Summary of equality implications  

25. A full Equality Impact Assessment has been completed (Appendix 2); impacts 

have been identified relating to age, disability, race and transient populations. 

26. These impacts will be mitigated by the encouraging home composting and 

ensuring free garden waste disposal options are available at Household Waste 

& Recycling Centres. Any language barriers will be mitigated by a well-

designed and flexible communications strategy that will include pictorial and 

translated summary leaflets where needed.   

27. These impacts will be subject to ongoing monitoring. 

Summary of risk assessment  

28. A full risk register has been completed with the following risks identified: 

 Income revenue is not sufficient to cover service costs 

 Reduction in recycling rate 

 Increased amount of garden waste disposed of at Household Waste & 
Recycling Centres 

 Increased amount of garden waste fly-tipped across the borough 

 Increased amount of residual waste and associated disposal costs  

 Residents are unhappy about paying for the collection service.  

 The Customer team are not able to accommodate within current resources 
the demand for registrations and take payments. 

 Inconsistencies in service delivery between Bournemouth, Christchurch & 
Poole for the same cost i.e. 140l bin in Bournemouth vs. 240l bin in Poole & 
Christchurch for same price. 
 

The following mitigating actions have been proposed: 

 Costs have been modelled on an uptake of 50,000 households, 50,088 
registered so far for the 2019 service.  Comprehensive communications 
campaign to engage and inform residents of the service improvements and 
reasons for charging.  

 Recycling rates will be monitored closely and alternative methods to improve 
BCP's recycling may need to be implemented 

 Service enhancements will be supported by comprehensive communications 
campaign to engage with residents and the local media, communicating the 
service and charges to encourage residents to register. Customer team will be 
engaged and well briefed.   

 Customer team have been involved from early planning, processes 
requirements have been specified and agreed   

 Legally charges can only be made for garden waste collection, not disposal. 
Outcomes from the Government's Waste Strategy, concerning charging for 

91



8 

 

garden waste collections need to be fully understood before investing in bin 
replacement 

Background papers  

None 

Appendices  

1. Communications Plan   

2. Equality Impact Assessment 

92



GARDEN WASTE IMPLEMENTATION 2020 - Christchurch
Cost per bin - Agreed 11th September 2019 - Cabinet Meeting

KEY DATES / AREAS

Meet with Customer Services, Comms inc. Marketing Ongoing
Finance re: Payment methods August

Dorset cease taking payment for 2019 - Christchurch 31/10/2019
BCP Council start taking payments 01/11/2019

Web site page amends 07/10/2019

Payment go - live online (Friday) 01/11/2019
Payment go - live phones (Friday) 01/11/2019

Bin deliveries to new properties 01/03/2020
End of registration period for new registrations for guaranteed April 
collections 29/02/2020
Data up to 29/02 sent to Mailing House 02/03/2020
Packs sent out (beginning) 09/03/2020
Email advising pack on its way 02/03/2020
Email - still time to pay 09/03/2020

Service commences (Wednesday) 01/04/2020
Finishes week ending 11/12/20

COMMUNICATIONS PLAN Owner Start date End date
Communications Preparation (Service promotion)

* Message on phones  Dorset 31/10/2019 01/01/2020 Payment taken from November onwards
* Send email to Subscribers in October Dorset 21/10/2019 22/10/2019 Payment taken from November onwards
* Message on web page to advise November start for payment Dorset 14/10/2019 14/10/2019 Payment taken from November onwards

Mailings - Emails/Address data
* Email address data required Dorset 14/10/2019 14/10/2019
* Postal address data required Dorset 14/10/2019 14/10/2019

* Send out email to all GW subscribers with email addresses BCP/Dorset 06/01/2020 08/01/2020 Service promotion
* Send out joint letter with Dorset BCP/Dorset 06/01/2020 08/01/2020 Service promotion

* Prep data for reminder email BCP/Dorset 27/01/2020 27/01/2020
* Send out reminder email to all GW subscribers with email 
addresses Web team 03/02/2020 03/02/2020

* Prep data for  'sticker/pack' email (for April 2020 start) BCP 09/12/2019 20/12/2019

* Prep data for reminder email (for April 2020) BCP 09/12/2019 20/12/2019

*Send out 'Waste promotion' email to all GW subscribers BCP/Dorset TBC TBC
January - check dates

* Send out Press release Comms 04/11/2019 04/11/2019 or leave till January?

Social media
* Facebook Comms Ongoing Ongoing Ongoing from January 2020

Service Delivery
Web pages
* Co-ordinate pages for BCP 2019 Service details Web team August October 

Admin Panel
* Close of Service for 2019

  
team 12/08/2019 31/10/2019 Block on Dorset website on BH23 (Christchurch)

Email response
* Review email responses for online subscribers BCP/Dorset 23/09/2019 04/10/2019
* Change email response once service has gone live (April 20) BCP/Dorset 01/04/2020 01/04/2020

Payment
* Soft launch of payment Web team 28/10/2019 31/10/2019

Service Fulfilment (preparation)
* Welcome letter BCP 25/11/2019 06/12/2019
* Sticker BCP 25/11/2019 06/12/2019
* Calendar BCP 25/11/2019 06/12/2019
* T&Cs BCP/Dorset 25/11/2019 06/12/2019

Other

93



This page is intentionally left blank

94



Equality Impact Assessment Template for the BCP Programme 
 

1 

Part 1 - The Project 

Policy/Service under development/review: Garden Waste Service for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 

BCP Workstream 
 
Environment 

BCP Workstream Lead 
 
Larry Austin 

Equality Impact Assessment Team: 
 
Rachel Davies, Georgina Fry 

Date assessment started: 
29/07/2019 

 

Date assessment completed: 
05/08/2019 

Date approved: 
15/.08/19 

What are the aims/objectives of the policy/service? 
 
To provide a chargeable kerbside collection of garden waste to all residents who would benefit from using the service. The collection of garden 
waste is a discretionary service and one for which a Council can make a charge.  
 

What outcomes will be achieved with the new or changed policy/service? 
 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole all currently operate chargeable Garden Waste Services.  

Are there any associated services, policies or procedures?
   

Yes, Waste services across BCP, assisted collections, contamination policy, 
Household Waste & Recycling Centres, Corporate Communications, Customer/IT – 
MS Dynamics. 

Please list the main people, or groups, that this 
policy/service is designed to benefit and any other 
stakeholders involved: 

This service is for Residents who create green waste as a result of gardening / 
garden clearing activities who choose to pay for a kerbside collection. Garden 
Waste can still be disposed of for free at the Household Waste Recycling Centres.  

95



Equality Impact Assessment Template for the BCP Programme 
 

2 

Part 1 - The Project 

With consideration for their clients, please list any other 
organisations, statutory, voluntary or community that the 
policy/service/process will affect: 

Voluntary or Community organisations are also able to use the Service.  

 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

Please list and/or link to below any recent & relevant consultation & engagement that can be used to demonstrate a clear understanding of 
those with a legitimate interest in the policy/service/process and the relevant findings: 
 
Consultation involved the immediate and wider project team consisting of:  
 
Executive Director Environment & Economy, Director of Environment; Head of Environmental Development, Head of Streetscene, 
Environmental Productivity & Business Analyst, Waste Disposal & Contracts Manager, Waste Strategy Manager, Streetscene Operations 
Manager, Corporate Fleet Transport Manager, Group Accountant, Refuse Manager, Customer Contact Manager, IT Development Manager, Risk 
Manager 
 
A presentation to Cabinet Members was held on 31/07/19 to challenge, review and inform the proposals.  
 
As there is no loss of service, instruction from Corporate Consultation is that a dedicated public consultation is not required. 
 
Neighbouring local authorities that have implemented similar schemes have been consulted and advice offered has been used to shape 
proposed operational implementation. Benchmarking comparing 16 of our neighbouring authorities geographically and statistically across the 
country, found that of the 11 that charged for garden waste collection, bin charges vary from £25 to £60, with an average of £46.62. 
 

                                         
1 This could include: service monitoring reports, research, customer satisfaction surveys & feedback, workforce monitoring, staff surveys, opinions and 
information from trade unions, previous completed EIAs (including those of other organisations) feedback from focus groups & individuals or organisations 
representing the interests of key target groups or similar 
 

96



Equality Impact Assessment Template for the BCP Programme 
 

3 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

Previous consultations with DOTS Disability and advice from the Corporate Legal and Equality & Diversity team related to introducing the 
chargeable service has been considered. 

If there is insufficient consultation or engagement information please explain in the Action plan what further consultation will be undertaken, who 
with and how. 
 
Officers will to continue to engage with residents regarding the price changes. 
 

Please list or link to any relevant research, census and other evidence or information that is available and relevant to this EIA: 
 
Assessment of increased charging arrangements in 2020 for garden waste by other local authorities; 16 of our neighbouring authorities 
geographically and statistically across the country were surveyed; 11 Local Authorities run chargeable garden waste collections. Bin charges 
vary from £25 to £60, with an average of £46.62. 

Please list below any service user/employee monitoring data available and relevant to this policy/service/process and what it shows in relation 
to any Protected Characteristic: 
 

From a total of 176,000 households, there are currently 50,088 subscribers (23,034 in Poole, 19,253 in Bournemouth, 7,801 in Christchurch) to 

the 2019 Garden Waste Collection Service across BCP. 

Of the 395,800 residents in BCP, 17% are under 15, 62% are working age (16-64) and 21% are over 65 years of age (Census, 2011) - the average 
age of someone who gardens was 54 in 2009 and has increased by 6% since 1999 (Horticultural Trades Association, 2012). 
 
19% of BCP residents have long-term health problem or disability (Census, 2011), which may limit their ability to dispose of garden waste for 
free at a Household Waste & Recycling Centre or home compost. This is slightly higher than the percentage for England overall (18%). 
 
3% of households in BCP are classified as transient renters (MOSAIC, 2019) 
 

97



Equality Impact Assessment Template for the BCP Programme 
 

4 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

36,421 households (20.6%) in BCP have no car or van, which may limit their ability to dispose of garden waste for free at a Household Waste & 
Recycling Centre. 
 
25.5% (47,000) of BCP’s households are on low incomes (less than £20k pa) and 21,120 (12%) of BCP’s households are on mean tested benefits, 
meaning little availability for spending on non-essential items. 
 

If there is insufficient research and monitoring data, please explain in the Action plan what information will be gathered.  

 
 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

1.  Age2 

All residents may access a kerbside garden waste collection 
for a discretionary charge. Assisted collections are available 
for resident who are physically unable to put their bin out 
and have nobody else that can help them. 
 
Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

In some cases elderly residents have a lower income, 
meaning less availability for spending on non-essential 
items such as garden waste collections. 
 
Residents without access to a car (which is more 
common in elderly residents) will not be able to dispose 
of their garden waste for free unless they use a home 
compost bin. 
 

2. Disability3 
All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. Assisted collections are available for 
resident who are physically unable to put their bin out and 

Households with a disabled member are potentially 
more likely to have a lower income than households 
where no one is disabled, meaning less availability for 

                                         
2 Under this characteristic, The Equality Act only applies to those over 18 
3 Consider any reasonable adjustments that may need to be made to ensure fair access 

98



Equality Impact Assessment Template for the BCP Programme 
 

5 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

have nobody else that can help them. 
 
Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

spending on non-essential items such as garden waste 
collections. 
 
Residents without access to a car will not be able to 
dispose of their garden waste for free unless they use a 
home compost bin. 
 
Residents who are unable to carry or lift garden waste 
may not be able to access Household Waste Recycling 
Centres to dispose of their garden waste for free unless 
they are assisted to place garden waste in a vehicle or 
use a home compost bin. 

3. Sex/Gender  

All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. 
 
Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

 

4. Gender 
reassignment4 

All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. 
 
Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

 

5. Pregnancy 
and Maternity 

All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. 
 

 

                                         
4 Transgender refers to someone who considers that they do not identify strictly to one gender to the other, identifying themselves as neither male nor female.   

99



Equality Impact Assessment Template for the BCP Programme 
 

6 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

6. Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. 
 
Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

 

7. Race  

All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. 
 
Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

For those whose first language is not English, the 
collection charges and instructions may not be 
understood sufficiently to participate. 
 

8. Religion or 
Belief 

All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. 
 
Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

 

9. Sexual 
Orientation 

All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. 
 
Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

 

10. Any other 
factors/groups 
e.g. socio-
economic 

All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. 
 
Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 

Transient populations such as migrant workers or 
students may not be willing to commit to an annual 
service charge 

100



Equality Impact Assessment Template for the BCP Programme 
 

7 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

status/carers 
etc5 

Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

11. Human Rights 

All residents may access garden waste collections for a 
discretionary charge. 

Residents are also able to access the Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to dispose of waste for free.    

 

 

Any policy which shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination must be stopped, removed or changed. 
 

Part 4 – Equality Impact Action Plan 
 
Please complete this Action Plan for any negative or unknown impacts identified in the assessment table above.  
 

Issue identified Action required to reduce impact Timescale Responsible officer 

In some cases, elderly residents have a 
lower income, meaning less availability for 
spending on non-essential items such as 
garden waste collections. 
 
Residents without access to a car (which is 
more common in elderly residents) will not 
be able to dispose of their garden waste for 
free unless they use a home compost bin. 

Residents are encouraged to home compost to help 
mitigate the financial impact and manage garden 
waste arisings. 
 
The Council supports a national promotional offer for 
home compost bins that includes home delivery, which 
will be promoted alongside the garden waste 
collections. 

From service 
introduction 

Rachel Davies 

                                         
5 People on low incomes or no income, unemployed, carers, part-time, seasonal workers and shift workers 

101



Equality Impact Assessment Template for the BCP Programme 
 

8 

 

Households with a disabled member are 
potentially more likely to have a lower 
income than households where no one is 
disabled, meaning less availability for 
spending on non-essential items such as 
garden waste collections. 
 
Residents without access to a car will not be 
able to dispose of their garden waste for 
free unless they use a home compost bin. 
 
Residents who are unable to carry or lift 
garden waste may not be able to access 
Household Waste Recycling Centres to 
dispose of their garden waste for free 
unless they are assisted to place garden 
waste in a vehicle or use a home compost 
bin. 
 

Residents are encouraged to home compost to help 
mitigate the financial impact and manage garden 
waste arisings. 
 
The Council supports a national promotional offer for 
home compost bins that includes home delivery, which 
will be promoted alongside the garden waste 
collections 

From service 
introduction 

Rachel Davies 

For those whose first language is not 
English, the collection charges and 
instructions may not be understood 
sufficiently to participate. 
 

Any language barriers will be mitigated by the well 
designed and flexible communications strategy that 
will include pictorial and translated summary leaflets 
where needed 

From service 
introduction 

Rachel Davies 

Transient populations such as migrant 
workers or students may not be willing to 
commit to an annual service charge 

Residents are encouraged to home compost to help 
mitigate the financial impact and manage garden 
waste arisings. 
 
Garden waste can be taken to Household Waste & 

From service 
introduction 

Rachel Davies 

102



Equality Impact Assessment Template for the BCP Programme 
 

9 

Recycling Centres for free disposal 

 
 

Key contacts for further advice and guidance:  
 
Equality & Diversity: 
 
Sam Johnson -  E&D Lead for Bournemouth & Poole   sam.johnson@bournemouth.gov.uk  
Beverley Elliott – D&D Lead for Christchurch & East Dorset  belliott@christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk 
Susan Rice-Ward – E&D Lead for Dorset County Council   susan.ward@dorsetcc.gov.uk 
  
 
Consultation & Research: 
 
Lisa Stuchberry – Insight Manager for Bournemouth & Poole 

103

mailto:sam.johnson@bournemouth.gov.uk
mailto:belliott@christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk
mailto:susan.ward@dorsetcc.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank

104



 
 

CABINET 

 

Report subject Management of waste & cleansing services in 
Christchurch from April 2020. 

Meeting date 11 September 2019 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary From 1 April 2020, BCP will be responsible for operating 
waste & cleansing services within the Christchurch area, 
meaning a pragmatic operating model is required to ensure 
sustained service delivery and a smooth transition for 
Christchurch residents.  

A new waste strategy and uniform collection methodology for 
BCP will take time to develop, agree and implement across 
the conurbation. Alignment of waste & cleansing services will 
provide parity across BCP, greater flexibility operationally, 
financial efficiencies and environmental improvements. 

In December 2018, the Government released a new Waste 
Strategy, ‘Our Waste, Our Resources: A strategy for 
England’. The strategy sets out proposals for how the 
Government’s ambitious aims will be achieved. These 
proposals have recently been consulted on and are likely to 
significantly impact on the tonnage, composition and value of 
waste that BCP is required to manage. BCP will be required 
to comply with new legislation resulting from the National 
Waste Strategy by 2023. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that: 

 (a) Christchurch’s waste & cleansing services are 
managed by BCP directly from 1 April 2020 

(b) An interim solution (Option 3) is introduced from 1 
April 2020 where by BCP operate Christchurch’s 
waste & collection services in line with the current 
Dorset Council collection model, except for mixing 
glass with other dry recyclables in the recycling bin. 

(c) Officers are authorised to complete a strategic 
review of existing waste & cleansing services 
across BCP to develop our future waste strategy 
and uniform collection methodology in line with the 
Government’s Waste Strategy, ‘Our Waste, Our 
Resources: A strategy for England’ and 
subsequence legislation scheduled for 2023. 

105

Agenda Item 9



 
 

Reason for 
recommendations 

From 1 April 2020, waste & cleansing services in 
Christchurch must continue with minimal disruption for 
residents.  

It is therefore recommended to continue a fortnightly 
collection of residual waste, weekly collection of food waste 
and a fortnightly collection of garden waste. However, in line 
with recycling collections in Poole and Bournemouth, 
residents in Christchurch would present all mixed recycling 
(including glass) in their recycling bin for fortnightly collection 
rather than sorting glass in a separate kerbside box. 

This collection methodology offers a simpler collection with 
fewer containers, less lifting and an enhanced recycling offer 
for Christchurch residents as additional materials such as foil 
and cartons can also be included in the recycling bin, aligning 
with the recycling service in Bournemouth and Poole. To 
ensure a smooth transition, the current Dorset Council 
operational staff will be transferred to BCP on 1 April 2020 
and will continue to operate their current collection rounds. 

This interim solution offers consistency, steps towards parity 
for Christchurch residents and future-proofs service delivery, 
allowing sufficient time for the development of the 
Government’s new waste strategy, subsequent consultations 
and legislation (requiring compliance by 2023), which will 
influence BCP’s local waste strategy and uniform collection 
methodology.  

The net financial benefit of operating a mixed recycling 
collection service in Christchurch (Option 3) is £342k per 
annum, £2.39m over 7 years (vehicle lifespan). 

In all options considered, the collected glass is recycled in the 
UK, usually as an aggregate that replaces sand in road or 
building construction. 

With Option 3, fewer waste collection vehicles will be used as 
glass and other recyclables will be collected on the same 
vehicle. New collection vehicles will contain more efficient 
Euro 6 engines. Both these factors will reduce emissions of 
carbon and other pollutants that contribute to local air 
pollution and climate change globally. 

Both Bournemouth & Poole Councils have operated 
comingled recycling collections since 2006. The collected 
recycling is sorted at a highly technical Material Recovery 
Facility (MRF), using the latest separation technology to 
ensure the quality of the end materials. 

Comingled recycling collections provide a safer working 
environment for staff. A recent study by University of 
Greenwich and Glasgow Caledonian University published by 
the Institution of Occupational Safety and Health’s (IOSH) 
advises that Local Authorities should discontinue ‘box type’ 
collections for waste and recycling as a matter of urgency, in 

106



 
 

favour of wheeled bins, on the grounds of the significantly 
increased musculoskeletal disorders found among workers 
on box, basket and sack collections.  

There are also significant noise issues associated with 
separate glass collections for both residents and staff with the 
Health & Safety Executive (HSE) advising Councils should 
look to eliminate or reduce the risks from noise for separate 
glass by using alternate collection methodologies.  
 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Dr Felicity Rice (Portfolio Holder for Environment 
and Climate Change) 

Corporate Director Kate Ryan (Strategic Director for Environment and 
Community) 

Contributors Larry Austin – Director of Environment, Ian Poultney – Head 
of Environmental Development, Kate Langdown - Head of 
Streetscene, David Rickards - Waste Disposal and Contracts 
Manager, Neil Rawlings - Principal Environment, Productivity 
and Business Manager, Rachel Davies - Waste Strategy 
Manager, Georgina Fry - Major Projects, Strategy & 
Commissioning Manager 

Wards All Christchurch Wards – Burton & Grange, Christchurch 
Town, Commons, Highcliffe & Walkford, Mudeford, Stanpit & 
West Highcliffe. 

Classification For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. In accordance with the ‘Delegation of Waste Function’ as agreed by the 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Shadow Executive Committee on 7 
November 2018, Dorset Council will manage waste & cleansing services in the 
existing Christchurch Borough area using the current operating model, transfer 
arrangements and disposal routes until 31 March 2020. This decision was taken, 
due to the tight timescales of LGR, to ensure service continuity from April 2019.   

2. Waste & cleansing services include waste collection operations (for refuse, 
recycling, food waste, garden waste, commercial waste, litter bin collections, 
seafront waste collections), street cleaning operations, strategy development, 
contract management and environmental compliance. 

3. From 1 April 2020, BCP will be responsible for operating these waste & 
cleansing services within the Christchurch area, meaning a pragmatic solution is 
required to ensure sustained service delivery.  

4. While significant similarities exist in the methodologies currently used to collect 
waste and deliver waste services across the three towns, there are some 
variations. The table below provides an overview of the current kerbside 
collection arrangements.  

 

107



 
 

 Bournemouth Christchurch Poole 

Refuse 140l black bin collected  

Fortnightly 

140l black bin collected  

Fortnightly 

180l black bin collected  

Fortnightly 

Food 
Waste 

23l brown container  

5l kitchen caddy 

Weekly 

23l brown container 

7l kitchen caddy 

Weekly 

 

Recycling 240l black bin for cans, 
card, glass, paper, plastic 
bottles/containers 

 

Fortnightly 

240l black bin with green 
lid for cans, card, paper, 
plastic bottles/containers   

40l green box for glass 

Fortnightly 

240l blue bin for cans, 
card, glass, paper, plastic 
bottles/containers 

 

Fortnightly 

Garden 
Waste 

140l black bin with green 
lid 

Fortnightly  

22 collections @ £43 

240l black bin with brown 
lid 

Fortnightly 

26 collections @ £50.50 

240l green bin with green 
lid 

Fortnightly 

22 ollections 
@£42.95 

 
5. A new waste strategy and uniform collection methodology for BCP will take time 

to develop, agree and implement across the conurbation. Long-term aligning 
waste & cleansing services will provide parity across BCP, greater flexibility 
operationally and financial efficiencies.  

6. When designing these new services, BCP will need to consider its new 
demographic, infrastructure requirements, customers’ needs, financial 
implications of any service implementation, environmental consequences and 
legislative requirements, particularly in relation to the Government’s new Waste 
Strategy, ‘Our Waste, Our Resources: A strategy for England’, released on 18 
December 2018 and subsequent outcomes of associated consultations.  

7. The Government’s strategy aims to strengthen the UK a world leader in resource 
efficiency and productivity, moving away from a linear model towards a circular 
economy. The strategy includes ambitions for at least 65% of municipal waste to 
be recycled by 2035, with no more than 10% ending up in landfill and the 
elimination of food waste to landfill by 2030. 

8. The strategy sets out proposals for how these ambitions will be delivered, which 
have recently been consulted on and are likely to impact on the tonnage and 
composition of waste that BCP is required to collect, transfer and process. 

9. As a result of these recent consultations, Government plans to legislate to 
ensure a core set of materials are collected for recycling, weekly separate food 
waste collections are offered to every household and businesses provide 
separate recycling and food waste collections, in line with the EU’s Circular 
Economy Package. Further consideration will be given to whether garden waste 
collections should be free. The Government is also keen to ban avoidable 
plastics, introduce an all-in deposit return scheme (including all sizes of drinks 
containers) and extend the producer responsibility of packaging, meaning 
councils would receive a fee for managing waste and recycling on behalf of 

108



 
 

producers. Further consultations are planned in 2020, with subsequent 
legislation anticipated by 2021, ready for service implementation by 2023. 

Options considered 

10. Option 1 - Do nothing - From 1 April 2020, extend current arrangements with 
Dorset Council to manage Christchurch’s waste on behalf of BCP for a further 7 
years (waste collection vehicle lifespan as vehicle procurement is required to 
continue the service). Significant cost implications - £28m over 7 years based 
on £4m paid to Dorset Council for 2019/20 service delivery 

11. This option is not favoured as waste management is a high-risk service 
regarding customer value, financial costs and environmental impact. BCP would 
not be able to deliver parity, service efficiencies or environmental improvements, 
while under the management of Dorset Council.  

12. Benchmarking of the legacy authorities’ 2018/19 budgets showed that per tonne 
of household waste, Poole and Bournemouth were comparatively low spending 
(ranked 5th and 6th lowest amongst 55 unitary authorities), whereas 
Christchurch (reported as Dorset Waste Partnership), whilst not a unitary 
authority, would have ranked 31st, highlighting the potential for efficiencies 
across BCP.  

11. Option 2- Maintain the status quo - From 1 April 2020, BCP operate 
Christchurch’s waste collection services using the current collection methodology 
and existing disposal routes. 

12. From 1 April 2020, Christchurch’s collection services continue with BCP 
operating Christchurch’s waste services using the current collection model (a 
fortnightly collection of residual waste, weekly collection of food waste, fortnightly 
collection of mixed dry recycling, a fortnightly collection of glass in a kerbside 
box and a fortnightly collection of garden waste) and existing disposal routes.  

13. Utilising existing disposal routes with Dorset Council would require a two-year 
commitment of material. Collection and disposal costs for this option are 
modelled at £23.27m over 7 years (standard collection vehicle lifespan).  

14. Option 3 - An interim solution - From 1 April 2020, BCP operate Christchurch’s 
waste collection services in line with the current DWP collection model, except 
for mixing glass with other dry recyclables. 

15. From 1 April 2020, collection services would continue with minimal disruption for 
residents in Christchurch with a fortnightly collection of residual waste, weekly 
collection of food waste and a fortnightly collection of garden waste. However, in 
line with Poole and Bournemouth’s recycling collections, residents in 
Christchurch would present all their mixed recycling (including glass) in the 
recycling bin for fortnightly collection rather than sorting glass into the separate 
kerbside box.   

16. The kerbside box could be emptied and removed after the first collection. 
Alternatively, residents may wish to retain the box for other storage purposes.  

17. Additional materials such as foil and cartons could also be included in the 
recycling bin, enhancing the range of materials currently recycled in 
Christchurch, aligning with the service in Bournemouth and Poole.  

18. A comprehensive communication and engagement campaign would support this 
interim solution as detailed in the Communications Plan Summary (Appendix 1) 

109



 
 

19. BCP officers would undertake a complete review of existing services and begin 
developing the future waste strategy for BCP in late 2020. 

20. Collection and disposal costs for this option are modelled at £20.88m over 7 
years (standard collection vehicle lifespan). 

21. Option 4 - Full-service review - From 1 April 2020, BCP introduce a new 
uniform waste collection system across the conurbation with alignment of policy 
and process. 

22. This would involve a comprehensive review of current waste services across 
BCP, followed by extensive modelling/data analysis to propose and agree future 
options. 

23. Considering necessary timescales for consultation, decision-making, vehicle and 
container procurement, round remodelling and comprehensive public 
engagement, a full-service review would not be achievable by April 2020, 
particularly with the uncertainty surrounding the national waste strategy.  

Summary of financial implications  

24. Modelling indicates separating glass for collection and disposal would realise 
financial savings of £122k per annum, based on current market prices. This price 
differential is due to the dedicated glass stream requiring no further separation 
via the Material Recycling Facility, where as glass mixed with other recyclables 
incurs a price per tonne to separate.  

25. This revenue income would however be diminished by the additional expenditure 
required to collect separated glass, £464k per annum, as an additional 3 
vehicles and 9 staff would be required.  Vehicles used for glass collection only 
have a reduced life expectancy (from seven to five years), increasing the whole 
life costs of the vehicles. 

26. The net financial benefit of operating a uniform mixed recycling collection service 
across BCP (Option 3) is therefore £342k per annum, £2.39m over 7 years 
(vehicle lifespan).  

27. Capital expenditure was approved by the Shadow Executive Committee in 
March 2019 to purchase standard waste collection vehicles, at a cost of up to 
£1,200,000 to deliver BCP waste collections in Christchurch from April 2020.  
Following the emergence of information from Dorset Council regarding narrow 
access service provision needs, food waste participation levels and service 
resilience to allow for vehicle down time (servicing etc), this expenditure is 
anticipated to increase to £1,487,000, however exact costs will not be confirmed 
until the final tenders are received.  

28. No additional funding is sought as both option 2 and 3 are deliverable within the 
disaggregated budget from Dorset County Council in relation to Christchurch’s 
waste & cleansing services. Efficiencies will be realised via round optimisation, 
policy alignment and service review, once all waste services are managed by 
BCP, once this has taken place it will be possible to evaluate financial savings. 

Summary of legal implications  

29. An agreement is needed with Dorset Council and W&S Recycling Ltd (Site 
Management Contractor until 2024) for BCP to use Hurn Transfer Station to 
access, store and bulk mixed dry recycling, separately to Dorset’s waste, prior to 
transportation by W&S Recycling Ltd for processing. 

110



 
 

30. BCP’s contractual arrangements with Viridor Waste Management Ltd (until 
August 2027) to dispose of mixed dry recycling will be varied to include 
Christchurch’s mixed recycling tonnage. 

31. W&S Recycling Ltd also are contracted to manage Wilverley Road Household 
Recycling Centre until 2024. In 1 April 2019, this contract novated from Dorset 
Council to BCP Council, however as part of the Delegation of Waste Function, 
Dorset Council are managing this contract until 31 March 2020.  

32. BCP will be required to comply with any relevant new legislation generated as a 
result of the National Waste Strategy by 2023. 

Summary of human resources implications  

33. Staff currently employed by Dorset Council to deliver the Christchurch service 
will transfer to BCP on 1 April 2020 subject to TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) (Amendment)) Regulations 2014.  

34. Planned staff engagement is set out as part of the Communications Plan. 
Meaningful consultation with staff will be undertaken in line with Council Policy. 

Summary of environmental impact  

35. In all options, the collected glass is recycled in the UK into a valuable resource 
that prevents use of virgin material, usually as an aggregate that replaces sand 
in road or building construction. 

36. With Option 3, fewer waste collection vehicles will be used as glass and other 
recyclables will be collected on the same vehicle. New collection vehicles will 
contain more efficient Euro 6 engines. Both these factors will reduce emissions 
of carbon and other pollutants that contribute to local air pollution and climate 
change globally. 

Summary of public health implications  

37. There are significant noise issues associated with separate glass collections for 
both residents and staff with the Health & Safety Executive (HSE) advising 

a. Councils should look to eliminate or reduce the risks from noise for 
separate glass by using alternate collection methodologies.  

38. Comingled recycling collections provide a safer working environment for staff as 
published in the recent study Institution of Occupational Safety and Health’s 
(IOSH) report concerning the significant increase of musculoskeletal disorders 
found among workers on box, basket and sack collections. 

39. Residents will also not be required to lift their glass waste in the recycling 
container, instead it can be wheeled in the recycling bin. 

Summary of equality implications  

40. A full Equality Impact Assessment has been completed (Appendix 2); impacts 
have been identified relating to age, disability, race, large families and those with 
medical conditions that produced recyclable packaging as a result. 

41. These impacts will be mitigated by the offer of second recycling bins where 
needed or alternative suitable containers can be used. Any language barriers will 
be mitigated by a well-designed and flexible communications strategy that will 
include pictorial and translated summary leaflets where needed.   

111



 
 

42. These impacts will be subject to ongoing monitoring. 

Summary of risk assessment  

43. A full risk register has been completed with the following risk identified: 

 Political resistance to changes in waste services 

 Poor resident/customer perception of changes to waste services 

 Long build times for waste collection vehicles 

 Issues with transferring/bulking arrangements at Hurn Transfer Station  

 Issues with Recycling Disposal Contract 

 Confusion with customer contact/complaints process 

 Poor staff engagement 

 Issues with information sharing particularly associated with GDPR 
 

44. The following mitigating actions have been proposed: 

 Early engagement and detailed modelling will be carried out to evidence the 
basis for decisions. Members briefing undertaken in July to engage and raise 
awareness of the waste services and strategy review. Careful management to 
ensure service continuity 

 A detailed Communications Plan will be written for each stage of the project. 

 Customer teams will be fully briefed on service changes including rationale, 
timescales and activities 

 Sufficient time will be allocated in project planning for vehicle procurement, 
build and testing prior to operational service requirement. Procurement 
documents will be pre-planned ahead of decision. If there are further delays in 
vehicle build times due to Brexit or other factors, leasing options will be 
explored 

 Early engagement with Dorset Council and W&S. A separate waste storage 
bay can be accommodated at Hurn for Christchurch's waste 

 Early engagement with recycling processing contractor. A clear commitment 
for waste tonnages, transfer points, timescales. 

 Clear instruction provided to residents on the website, social media etc. Staff 
are fully briefed from processes established about how to direct and respond 
to enquiries from residents in different geographical areas of BCP 

 Staff engagement planned at a corporate level for key milestones via 
roadshows, e-news, email updates 

 Early request for required data. Ongoing communications with Dorset Council  

Background papers  

‘Our Waste, Our Resources: A strategy for England’, released on 18 December 2018 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf 
 
Using body mapping as part of the risk assessment process – a case study’, Policy 
and Practice in the Health and Safety, Published by the Institution of Occupational 
Safety and Health. https://ciwm-journal.co.uk/councils-urged-to-discontinue-box-
type-recycling-collections/  
 

Health & Safety Executive, Noise in glass collection 
http://www.hse.gov.uk/waste/noise.htm 

112

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf
https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/14773996.2018.1491146
https://ciwm-journal.co.uk/councils-urged-to-discontinue-box-type-recycling-collections/
https://ciwm-journal.co.uk/councils-urged-to-discontinue-box-type-recycling-collections/
http://www.hse.gov.uk/waste/noise.htm


 
 

 

Appendices  

1. Communications Plan Summary 
 
2. EIA 
 
 
 
 
 

113



This page is intentionally left blank

114



OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

 
 

 
 

APPENDIX 1  
 

 

 

 

 

Waste Management in Christchurch  

Communications Strategy  
 

DRAFT – July 2019 

 

 

115



OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

 
Communication Strategy: Waste Management in Christchurch (2020/21) 

Responsible Officers: Kate Ryan / Larry Austin / Ian Poultney / Georgina Fry  

Our overarching communication objectives: 
 
Ensure all residents/business customers 
 

- have an understanding that from 1 April 2020, all waste 
services in Christchurch will be provided by BCP Council 
 

- understand that they will receive a similar level of service 
provision as they do now 
 

- understand how changes which will affect them 
 

- understand that Dorset Council will no longer provide any 
waste services in Christchurch from 1 April 2020 

 
- know where they can go to access information about their 

waste services, including reporting issues 
 

- are clear that until 31 March 2020 services in Christchurch 
will still be carried out by Dorset Council 

Our narrative: 
 
BCP Council  
 

- is ready and equipped to provide all waste services in 
Christchurch  

 
- has worked closely with Dorset Council to ensure the transition 

causes minimal disruption to residents 
 

- has invested in new vehicles to service Christchurch  
 

- is committed to providing a good level of service for Christchurch 
residents and businesses 
 

- understands the needs of residents and businesses in 
Christchurch 
 

- values the refuse staff who currently serve Christchurch 
 
 
 
 
 

Background to project and current position: 
 

Dorset Council’s 12-month delegated function commitment ceases on 31 March 2020. BCP Council is preparing to provide all waste 

services in Christchurch from 1 April 2020.  

116



OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

 
Timeline 
 
To avoid confusion, BCP Council will not directly communicate with Christchurch residents prior to 1 February 2020. An agreed timeline of 
key communications will be included in the detailed Communications Plan, which will support this strategy. 
A media release will be issued, prior to the BCP Council cabinet meeting in September, which will be jointly agreed by Dorset Council and 
BCP Council. 
 
Stakeholder engagement: 

Stakeholders Engagement Type Channels 

Residents / Business customers Inform BCP News magazine 
BCP Council waste e-newsletter  
BCP Council website 
BCP Council’s social media channels 
Direct letters to those who will have a 
change in service (approx. 400) 

Councillors  Inform 
Involve 
Consult 

Emails 
Meetings 
Cabinet reports  
Progress updates  

Dorset Council Inform 
Involve 
Consult 

Emails 
Regular Board meetings 
Progress updates 

Customer Services   Inform 
Involve 
Consult 

Regular Board meetings 
Regular customer service/comms meetings 
Progress updates 

Christchurch Town Council 
Highcliffe & Walkford Parish Council 
Burton & Winkton Parish Council 
Hurn Parish Council 

Inform Emails 
Meetings, if requested 

Christchurch Residents’ Associations Inform Emails 
Meetings, if requested 

Media Inform Media statements 

 

 

 

117



T
his page is intentionally left blank

118



Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

1 

Part 1 - The Project 

Policy/Service under development/review: Management of waste & cleansing services in Christchurch from April 2020. 

BCP Workstream 
 
Environment 

BCP Workstream Lead 
 
Larry Austin 

Equality Impact Assessment Team: 
 
Georgina Fry, Rachel Davies, Ian Poultney, Sarah Speakman-Jones 

Date assessment started: 
20/06/2019 

 

Date assessment completed: 
06/08/2019 

Date approved: 
15/08/19 

What are the aims/objectives of the policy/service? 
 
From 1 April 2020, BCP will be responsible for operating waste & cleansing services within the Christchurch area, meaning a pragmatic operating 
model is required to ensure sustained service delivery and a smooth transition for Christchurch residents.  
 

What outcomes will be achieved with the new or changed policy/service? 
 
It is recommended: 
 

a) From April 2020, Christchurch’s waste & cleansing services are managed by BCP directly  
b) An interim solution (Option 3) is introduced from 1 April 2020 where by BCP operate Christchurch’s waste & collection services in line 

with the current Dorset Waste Partnership collection model, except for mixing glass with other dry recyclables in the recycling bin. 
c) Officers are authorised a complete strategic review of existing waste & cleansing services across BCP to develop our future waste 

strategy and uniform collection methodology in line with the Government’s Waste Strategy, ‘Our Waste, Our Resources: A strategy for 
England’ and subsequence legislation scheduled for 2023. 

  

119



Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

2 

Part 1 - The Project 

Are there any associated services, policies or procedures?
   

Yes, Waste & Cleansing services across BCP, Corporate Communications, 
Customer/IT – MS Dynamics. 

Please list the main people, or groups, that this 
policy/service is designed to benefit and any other 
stakeholders involved: 

Christchurch residents, Operational staff transferring from Dorset Council to BCP  

With consideration for their clients, please list any other 
organisations, statutory, voluntary or community that the 
policy/service/process will affect: 

 

 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

 
Consultation involved the immediate and wider project team consisting of:  
 
Executive Director Environment & Economy, Director of Environment; Head of Environmental Development, Head of Streetscene, 
Environmental Productivity & Business Analyst, Waste Disposal & Contracts Manager, Waste Strategy Manager, Streetscene Operations 
Manager, Corporate Fleet Transport Manager, Group Accountant, Refuse Manager, Customer Contact Manager, IT Development Manager, Risk 
Manager 
 
A presentation to Cabinet Members was held on 31/07/19 to challenge, review and inform the proposals.  
 
As there is no loss of service, instruction from Corporate Consultation is that a dedicated public consultation is not required. 

                                         
1 This could include: service monitoring reports, research, customer satisfaction surveys & feedback, workforce monitoring, staff surveys, opinions and 
information from trade unions, previous completed EIAs (including those of other organisations) feedback from focus groups & individuals or organisations 
representing the interests of key target groups or similar 
 

120



Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

3 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

   
A local authority (East Sussex) that have implemented similar service changes have been consulted and advice offered has been used to shape 
proposed operational implementation 
 
Colleagues in Dorset Council have been consulted throughout the service development. 
 

If there is insufficient consultation or engagement information please explain in the Action plan what further consultation will be undertaken, who 
with and how. 
 
A detailed Communication Plan has been developed to ensure residents and staff are informed and full engaged in the service transition. 
  

Please list or link to any relevant research, census and other evidence or information that is available and relevant to this EIA: 
 
Christchurch & East Dorset Partnership Survey 2015 & associated Christchurch Report 2015 
 
https://public.tableau.com/profile/bcpinsight#!/ - Demographic data by ward 

Please list below any service user/employee monitoring data available and relevant to this policy/service/process and what it shows in relation 
to any Protected Characteristic: 
 
Of the 50,032 residents in Christchurch, 15% are under 15, 26% are aged between 65–84 years of age and 5% are over 85 years of age (Mid-Year 
Estimate, 2018). The percentage of over 65s in Christchurch is considerably higher than in Bournemouth (18%) or Poole (23%).  
 
4,629 (9.6%) residents in Christchurch have a long-term health problem or disability which limits their day-to-day activity a lot. 6,071 (12.7%) of 
residents have a long-term health problem or disability which limits their day-to-day activity a little (Census, 2011). Both (22.3%) of which may 
limit their ability to lift recycling boxes or wheel waste bins or travel to a Household Waste & Recycling Centre.   
 
3,843 households (7.6%) in BCP have no car or van, which may limit their ability to dispose of waste at a Household Waste & Recycling Centre. 

121

https://public.tableau.com/profile/bcpinsight#!/


Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

4 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

 
2.5% of residents were from an alternate ethnic group to White (Census 2011). 
 
According to the Christchurch Report 2015, 77% of residents were satisfied with their recycling collections, while 75% with their refuse 
collections, both of which had reduced by 4% since 2013. 79% of residents were satisfied with the household waste & recycling centre (local tip), 
which had also reduced by 2%.  
 

If there is insufficient research and monitoring data, please explain in the Action plan what information will be gathered.  

 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

1.  Age2 

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
The wheeled bin is easier for residents to move with no lifting 
of the kerbside box (and contained glass) required. Assisted 
collections are available for resident who are physically 
unable to put their bin out and have nobody else that can 
help them. 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 
been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 

Elderly residents with medical needs currently filling 
both their recycling bin and kerbside box each fortnight 
may have excess recycling that won’t fit in the recycling 
bin. 

                                         
2 Under this characteristic, The Equality Act only applies to those over 18 

122



Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

5 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

the resident. 
 

2. Disability3 

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
The wheeled bin is easier for residents to move with no lifting 
of the kerbside box (and contained glass) required. Assisted 
collections are available for resident who are physically 
unable to put their bin out and have nobody else that can 
help them. 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 
been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 
 

 
Residents with medical needs currently filling both their 
recycling bin and kerbside box each fortnight may have 
excess recycling that won’t fit in the recycling bin. 

3. Sex/Gender  

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
The wheeled bin is easier for residents to move with no lifting 
of the kerbside box (and contained glass) required. 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 

 

                                         
3 Consider any reasonable adjustments that may need to be made to ensure fair access 

123



Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

6 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 
been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 
 

4. Gender 
reassignment4 

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
The wheeled bin is easier for residents to move with no lifting 
of the kerbside box (and contained glass) required. 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 
been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 
 

 

5. Pregnancy 
and Maternity 

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
The wheeled bin is easier for residents to move with no lifting 
of the kerbside box (and contained glass) required. 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 

 

                                         
4 Transgender refers to someone who considers that they do not identify strictly to one gender to the other, identifying themselves as neither male nor female.   

124



Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

7 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 
 

6. Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 
been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 
 

 

7. Race  

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 
been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 
 

For those whose first language is not English, the 
collection changes may not be understood sufficiently 
to participate correctly. 
 

8. Religion or 
Belief 

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 

 

125



Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

8 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 
 

9. Sexual 
Orientation 

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 
been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 
 

 

10. Any other 
factors/ 
groups e.g. 
socio-
economic 
status /carers 
etc5 

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
The wheeled bin is easier for residents to move with no lifting 
of the kerbside box (and contained glass) required. 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 
been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 
 

Residents (large families, those with medical needs) 
currently filling both their recycling bin and kerbside box 
each fortnight may have excess recycling that won’t fit 
in the recycling bin. 

                                         
5 People on low incomes or no income, unemployed, carers, part-time, seasonal workers and shift workers 

126



Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

9 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

11. Human Rights 

All residents will have access to the recycling collection 
service, using their wheeled bin for all recycling (rather than 
separating glass into the kerbside box). 
 
The wheeled bin is easier for residents to move with no lifting 
of the kerbside box (and contained glass) required. 
 
Residents will be able to recycle a wider range of materials in 
the kerbside bin including cartons and foil, which may have 
been previously taken to a neighbourhood recycling centre by 
the resident. 

 

 

Any policy which shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination must be stopped, removed or changed. 
 

Part 4 – Equality Impact Action Plan 
 
Please complete this Action Plan for any negative or unknown impacts identified in the assessment table above.  
 

Issue identified Action required to reduce impact Timescale Responsible officer 

Residents (large families, those with medical 
needs) currently filling both their recycling bin and 
kerbside box each fortnight may have excess 
recycling that won’t fit in the recycling bin. 

Additional recycling bins are available 
where needed or alternative suitable 
containers can be used (paper and 
cardboard must be kept dry) 

From April 2020 Georgina Fry/Rachel 
Davies  

For those whose first language is not English, the 
collection changes may not be understood 
sufficiently to participate correctly. 

Any language barriers will be mitigated by 
a well-designed and flexible 
communications strategy that will include 

From Feb 2020 Georgina Fry/Rachel 
Davies 

127



Equality Impact Assessment for the BCP Programme 
 

10 

 pictorial and translated summary leaflets 
where needed.  

 
 

Key contacts for further advice and guidance:  
 
Equality & Diversity: 
 
Sam Johnson -  E&D Lead for Bournemouth & Poole   sam.johnson@bournemouth.gov.uk  
Beverley Elliott – D&D Lead for Christchurch & East Dorset  belliott@christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk 
Susan Rice-Ward – E&D Lead for Dorset County Council   susan.ward@dorsetcc.gov.uk 
  
 
Consultation & Research: 
 
Lisa Stuchberry – Insight Manager for Bournemouth & Poole 

128

mailto:sam.johnson@bournemouth.gov.uk
mailto:belliott@christchurchandeastdorset.gov.uk
mailto:susan.ward@dorsetcc.gov.uk


CABINET   

  

Report subject  BCP Council Corporate Safeguarding Strategy  

Meeting date  30 September 2019  

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Ensuring that the Council’s Safeguarding responsibilities are 

fulfilled and delivered is the responsibility of all officers and 

Councillors.  The BCP Council Corporate Safeguarding 

Strategy sets out how the Council will deliver its 

safeguarding duties; the accountabilities of individual 

officers and Councillors; the training and development 

standards across the Council and how the Council will 

monitor the delivery of the framework. 

Recommendations  

  

It is RECOMMENDED that:  

Having due regard to the comments of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees as detailed in Appendix 2, the 

Corporate Safeguarding Strategy as attached at 

Appendix 1 be approved. 

Reason for 

recommendations  

This is a key strategy.  As BCP Council has both a statutory 

and moral duty to make appropriate arrangements to 

safeguard the welfare of children, young people and adults at 

risk of harm. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  
Councillor Vikki Slade, Leader 

 

Corporate Director  Jan Thurgood, Corporate Director, Adult Social Care 

Judith Ramsden, Corporate Director, Children’s Social Care 

Contributors  Sarah Webb, Service Manager – Statutory Services, ASC 

David Vitty, Service Director – ASC 

Phil Hornsby, Service Director – Adults Commissioning  

Kelly Ansell – Service Director – Housing 

Tanya Coulter – Service Director – Legal & Democratic 

Sam Johnson – Policy & Performance Manager 

Anthi Minhinnick – Community Safety Partnership Manager 

Tracy Kybert – Housing Manager (Integrated Health & Social   

Care) 

129

Agenda Item 10



Wards  All 

Classification  For Recommendation  
Title:  

Background   

1. Safeguarding is about supporting and protecting people in their relationships with 
other people.  It can range from taking responsibility for not causing harm 
through our interactions, to being mindful of people’s emotional wellbeing & 
welfare, through to reporting concerns about a child, young person or vulnerable 
adult being at risk of harm or abuse.   

2. Safeguarding is not just about meeting our statutory duties, it is about keeping 
each other and ourselves safe, it is about speaking out and taking appropriate 
action to prevent any kind of harm or abuse from happening.  

3. Through this Strategy, BCP Council seeks commitment from its staff and 
representatives to promote the welfare of children, young people and adults at 
risk of harm, to ensure that it’s residents have local, timely and high-quality 
services that support them to stay safe.   It seeks to reinforce that this is not just 
the responsibility of those who work directly with these groups of people. 

4. This Strategy emphasises that BCP Council believes this responsibility should 
be the ‘golden thread’ which runs through all our work with our communities and 
staff.   

5. The Strategy has been presented to both the Health and Adult Social Care 
Overview & Scrutiny and the Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees.  

Summary of financial implications   

6. The Council provides training in safeguarding across a range of levels to suit the 
many roles across the Council and it is not expected that the training 
requirements in the Strategy will lead to additional costs. 

7. DBS Checks for Councillors may lead to additional costs.  The amounts are yet 
to be determined and will be based upon the numbers and types of DBS Checks 
undertaken. 

Summary of legal implications   

8. The Council has statutory responsibilities to Safeguard children, young people 
and adults at risk of harm.  This Strategy seeks to support the Council in carrying 
out these statutory duties. 

Summary of human resources implications   

9. The Strategy sets out the Council’s commitments to safe recruitment of officers, 
volunteers and sessional employees and expectations in relation to staff training, 
development and support in relation to safeguarding.  

130



Summary of environmental impact   

10. None anticipated  

Summary of public health implications   

11. The purpose of the Strategy is to protect the wellbeing of residents and protect 
those most vulnerable from harm. 

Summary of equality implications   

12. In exercising its safeguarding duties, the Council needs to take full account of its 
duties under Equalities Legislation to ensure that it understands the needs to 
people with protected characteristics in relation to safeguarding and to ensure 
that it can meet the needs of all residents in relation to safeguarding.  

Summary of risk assessment   

13. The Strategy seeks to raise awareness and therefore reduce risk of harm 
occurring.  This in turn reduces risks to the Council or to residents if the Council 
does not fulfil its statutory safeguarding duties. 

Background papers   

None  

Appendices   

Appendix 1 – BCP Council Safeguarding Strategy 

Appendix 2 – Overview & Scrutiny Committee’s comments 

131



This page is intentionally left blank

132



 

1 
 

Appendix 1 
 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 
BCP COUNCIL 
SAFEGUARDING 
STRATEGY 
  

 

 

Author:  Sarah Webb 
Version:  V3.7 

Date:   21 August 2019 

133



 

2 
 

 
1. Purpose 
 
 
This Safeguarding Strategy supersedes the safeguarding policies and strategies of the preceding 
Councils of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. In this Strategy BCP Council sets out what 
you can expect from us and others who are expected to comply with this strategy. 
 
1.1 Definition of ‘safeguarding’ 

Safeguarding is about supporting and protecting people in their relationships with other 
people.   

 
It can range from taking responsibility for not causing harm through our interactions, to 
being mindful of people’s emotional wellbeing & welfare, through to reporting concerns 
about a child, young person or adult with care and support needs being at risk of harm or 
abuse.   

 
Safeguarding is not just about meeting our statutory duties, it is about keeping each other 
and ourselves safe, it is about speaking out and taking appropriate action to prevent any 
kind of harm or abuse from happening.  For further detail, see Appendix 1. 

 
1.2   BCP Council has a statutory and moral duty to make appropriate arrangements to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children and adults at risk of harm.   
The key pieces of legislation are the Care Act and Childrens Act. 

 
BCP Council is committed to ensuring that it’s residents, who are at risk of being unable to 
protect themselves from harm or abuse, have local, timely and high-quality services that 
support them to stay safe.  

 
Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, young people and adults at risk of 
harm is a responsibility for all BCP Council staff and its representatives and not just the 
responsibility of those who work directly with these groups of people. 

 
BCP Council believes this responsibility is core to the work of BCP Council and therefore, 
runs through all our work with our communities and staff.  We seek to promote awareness 
of the personal contribution that any individual can make towards Safeguarding others.  

 
This strategy: 

 
• sets out how BCP Council meets its legal obligations 
• ensures staff and representatives understand their responsibilities  
• sets out how we will protect and safeguard children, young people and adults at risk of 

harm or abuse 
• embeds Safeguarding at the heart of planning, commissioning, decision making and 

delivery of services 
• seeks to maximise the opportunities to identify and respond to Safeguarding needs  

 
 
 
 

134

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/17


 

3 
 

 
 

2. Who does the Strategy apply to? 
 

 
2.1 BCP Councillors; employees; people on work placements; contractors; volunteers; 

partners and anyone delivering a service on behalf of BCP Council or its representatives. 
 
2.2 We will ensure that all employees, potential employees and contractors are made aware of 

this Strategy and any acceptance of an offer of employment or contract will automatically 
be taken as a commitment of acceptance of the Strategy and a pledge to demonstrate that 
commitment in their performance. 

 
2.3 This Strategy is applicable to all who represent BCP Council and applies in day to day 

interactions with customers and staff. 
 

 
3 The Strategy  

 
 
3.1 Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility.  BCP Council has a leadership role and seeks to 

promote this ethos within our communities and, through promotion of joint working with our 
partners.  

 
3.2 BCP Council believes that anyone who may have direct or indirect contact with children, 

young people or adults at risk of harm - or who has access to information about them - has 
a responsibility to safeguard and promote their welfare.  
 

3.3 The Safeguarding Strategy focuses on the workplace responsibilities of staff, although 
BCP Council recognises that responsibilities of safeguarding and promoting welfare 
extends to an individual’s personal and domestic life. 
 

3.4 It is BCP Council’s Strategy to ensure that no act or omission on the part of BCP Council, 
or that of its staff puts a child, young person or adult with care and support needs at risk  
 

3.5 In doing so, this Strategy highlights how BCP Council administers systems and processes. 
 

• Prevent Harm - robust systems and procedures to proactively prevent harm from 
occurring, to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, young people and adults 
at risk and support staff to fulfil their obligations; 

• Competent & Aware - that BCP Council’s Councillors, employees and volunteers are 
confident, competent, capable and receive training, so they are aware of their roles and 
responsibilities; for example, officers in Trading Standards or staff responsible for 
Licensing Taxis, will need to be aware of issues such as domestic violence, modern 
slavery and exploitation and how to report it.  

• Information - to provide staff with information about the procedures they must adopt if 
they suspect a child or adult with care and support needs may be at risk of 
experiencing harm or abuse; 

• Welfare and wellbeing - of children and adults at risk is considered throughout 
planning and commissioning processes.  

135



 

4 
 

• Public awareness - is raised through the provision of accessible information which 
helps people understand different types of abuse, how to stay safe and, how to raise a 
concern; 

• Oversight - of work which involves safeguarding practice through line management 
arrangements (i.e. Supervision / line management / appraisal processes), so it is 
robust;  

• Quality assurance - thorough scrutiny processes and systems, which measure the 
effectiveness of services, including that effective recording and monitoring are in place; 

• Partnerships – collaborative working with statutory, voluntary and independent agency 
partners, sharing responsibility for Safeguarding and providing good examples of 
leadership.  For example, the Local Authority Education Safeguarding Advisor and 
Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) works with the designated safeguarding 
leads in schools to promote the safeguarding agenda. 

 
 
4. How is this Strategy implemented and communicated? 

 

4.1  The following procedures will support the implementation of this strategy: 
 

 Recruitment and selection procedures 

 Induction, training and supervision procedures 

 Whistleblowing policy 

 Complaints procedure 

 Children’s safeguarding procedures 

 Pan Dorset Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults policy and procedure 

 in the planning, design, commissioning and delivery of all BCP Council Services 
 
4.2 This Strategy will be made publicly available on BCP Council’s website.   
 
4.3 The Strategy will also be publicised amongst staff.  Information and training material will 

be issued to all new staff and Councillors as part of their induction package. 
 
4.4 The Strategy will be shared with all partners through relationships e.g. Safeguarding 

Boards 
 
  

136



 

5 
 

5. Roles and Responsibilities 
 
 
5.1  The Role of Councillors   
 

Councillors are accountable for ensuring that safeguarding priorities are identified, and 
sufficient resource is available for these needs to be addressed. They will undertake 
scrutiny to understand the issues and whether safeguarding is effective within BCP 
Council.  

  
Councillors have a responsibility to support BCP Council’s commitment to the 
safeguarding of children, young people and adults at risk of harm within BCP Council and 
should:  

 

 adhere to the Councillors Code of Conduct;  

 attend safeguarding training to ensure that they fully understand the key issues with 
regards to the BCP Council’s statutory safeguarding duties and responsibilities;  

 scrutinise the BCP Council’s Policies and Procedures on Safeguarding;  

 hold the Leader, Chief Executive, Corporate Directors and Portfolio Holders with 
responsibility for these areas to account;  

 listen to complaints /allegations and report all concerns to the appropriate BCP Council 
Units.   

  
Where elected members do not act in a way that promotes safeguarding or in line with 
their codes of conduct, there may be grounds for reporting their behaviour to the 
Standards Committee, which may require an investigation under the Councillor Code of 
Conduct. 
 
If a safeguarding issue occurs relating to a Councillor, the Designated Officer informed of 
the breach should contact the Monitoring Officer immediately. Where there is evidence of 
illegal activity, the Councillor will be reported to the relevant authorities and may face 
criminal investigation. Annual awareness training will be offered to Councillors.   

  
In view of the raised awareness of safeguarding issues and to set an example, it is 
appropriate for all elected BCP Councillors to be requested to undertake a basic DBS 
check. 
 
There is no national guidance available, from sources such as the Local Government 
Association (LGA), in relation to DBS Checks for Elected Members. 

 
However, in line with the Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002, 
Councillors undertaking regulated activity will be required to agree to undertake an 
Enhanced DBS.   

 
Regulated activity includes if they: 

 are the Leader of the Council 

 discharge, as a result of their membership, any education or social services function; 

 are a Cabinet Member (the Cabinet with responsibility for discharging education and 
social services functions); 

137



 

6 
 

 are a Member of a committee of the council which discharges education or social 
service functions;  

 are a Member of a fostering/adoption panel 

 are a Member of the Corporate Parenting Board 
BCP Council will fund the checks.  A log of DBS checks will be maintained by Law and 
Governance Services.  
 
Councillors will be expected to review their DBS every four years on re-election.  

  
5.2  Leader of BCP Council  
 

The Leader of the BCP Council is responsible for the following with regards to 
safeguarding:  
• to encourage all Councillors to attend training and seek each Political Group Leader’s 

support in ensuring all Councillors do attend specific training provided;  
• to hold the Chief Executive, Directors and Officers to account to ensure the Local 

Authority is fulfilling its statutory role with regards to safeguarding;  
• to appoint a Portfolio Holder with the capability and willingness to undertake the 

Champion role and statutory role for Children’s Services;  
• to appoint a Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Adult Safeguarding who is also aware 

and politically accountable for ensuring the Local Authority fulfils its legal responsibilities 
with regards to safeguarding adults.  

 
5.3  Lead Councillors Roles  
 

Lead Councillor roles include certain Portfolio Holders, Chairs of Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees and Chairs of Licensing Boards. 
 
They are politically accountable for ensuring that the local authority fulfils its legal 
responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children, young people and 
adults at risk of harm. Chairs of relevant Committees and Boards need to work with 
relevant officers to ensure that Councillors on the Committees and Boards have sufficient 
and relevant training and development in related safeguarding issues. 
  
They should focus on satisfying themselves that there are systems in place for effective 
co-ordination of work with other agencies with relevant responsibilities (such as the police 
and health).  
 
Lead Councillors should also take steps to assure themselves that effective quality 
assurance systems are in place and functioning effectively in the local authority, and for 
challenging partner agencies on how they fulfil their responsibilities.   
  
The roles of the Portfolio Holders with responsibility for safeguarding children, young 
people and adults at risk of harm are to:  
• challenge and ensure that partner agencies are fulfilling their roles in safeguarding; 
• support, challenge and monitor the roles of the Chief Executive, Corporate 
Directors and officers in their safeguarding roles and responsibilities. 
 
For more information about the Lead Member for Children’s Services (LMCS), see 
Appendix 2. 

138



 

7 
 

 
 

5.4  Safeguarding Responsibilities - Roles of BCP Council Officers   
 

Whilst safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility, there are several specific safeguarding 
roles that individuals hold within BCP Council.   
 
The following is a guide as to the safeguarding roles within the BCP Council: 

   
5.4.1 Chief Executive   
 

The Chief Executive has overall responsibility regarding all aspects of 
safeguarding. They are expected to understand how safeguarding operates on 
the front-line through reporting processes and other means of hearing and 
observing this (this is described as a ‘line of sight’).  

 
The Chief Executive is responsible for ensuring that the Directors of Children’s 
Services and Adult Services champion safeguarding within the organisation, are 
fulfilling their managerial responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children, young people and adults at risk of harm, including by 
ensuring that the Safeguarding Children’s Arrangements and the Safeguarding 
Adults Board are working effectively. 

 
The Chief Executive and other executive officers have a Governance role to 
ensure that both of the above are working effectively. 
 

5.4.2 Corporate Director of Children’s and Corporate Director of Adult Social 
Care Services  

 
These roles have specific responsibilities:  
• to provide effective strategic professional leadership for the Children’s and 

Adult’s Services and ensure the delivery of improved outcomes for children, 
young people and adults in the BCP Council;  

• to champion Safeguarding throughout the organisation 
• to support effective interagency and partnership working to protect children, 

young people and adults at risk from harm;  
• to lead improvements of preventative services and those delivering early 

interventions;  
• to lead and manage any necessary cultural change; 
• to lead the implementation of standards and ensure performance and practice 

monitoring arrangements are in place;  
• to be a member of the relevant Safeguarding Board (i.e. Safeguarding 

Children’s Arrangements or the Safeguarding Adults Board);  
• to provide an example to partner agencies and organisations of good 

leadership and accountability in safeguarding;  
• to have a line of sight of practice across services, through reporting processes 

and some direct contact.  
 
 
 

139



 

8 
 

 
 

5.4.3  Corporate Directors   
 

Corporate Directors of other Services: 
• will ensure that staff within their Directorates have good awareness of 

Safeguarding, are aware of their associated responsibilities. 
• will ensure their staff are aware of the processes which support BCP Council’s 

commitment to Safeguarding and to work effectively across the organisation.  
• where there are ways to support the Safeguarding commitment, they will 

enable their staff to do so. 
• will provide leadership to promote a commitment to Safeguarding  
• ensure safeguarding is considered in business planning and service delivery 
 

5.4.4 Director of Organisational Development 
 

This post holder works to ensure that stringent recruitment procedures are in 
place and that appropriate checks are made on staff working with children and 
adults at risk of harm. This includes being responsible for the administration of 
the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks and ensuring that DBS 
referrals are made if appropriate.   

  
The post holder will act as the first point of call for staff reporting safeguarding 
allegations against employees and will link with relevant Local Authority 
Designated Officer (LADO).   
 

 
5.4.5  Service Directors   
 

• maintain a clear organisational and operational focus on safeguarding;  
• identify within their Unit a Safeguarding Champion  
• ensure the Safeguarding Strategy is taken account of within Service and Team 

plans  
 

The roles of the Service Directors within Children and Adults Social Care 
Services, relating to safeguarding responsibilities are to:  

 
• play a key role as Senior Officers in promoting the safety and wellbeing of 

children and adults who may be at risk of harm, abuse of neglect;  
• ensure that relevant statutory requirements and other national standards are 

met 
• contribute fully to the effective working of the relevant Safeguarding 

governance arrangements which cover the Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole areas 

• ensure that effective liaison and management of any concerns about the 
health and welfare of a child or an adult who may be at risk of harm are 
responded to in line with the relevant safeguarding adults or safeguarding 
children’s policy and procedures 
 
 

140



 

9 
 

 
 
 
 

 
5.4.6  Safeguarding Lead Managers in Adult’s and Children’s Services  
  

The post-holders will: 
• work to ensure the effective implementation of the Safeguarding Policies & 

Procedures throughout BCP Council 
• raise awareness of safeguarding issues amongst staff and equip them with the 

information and links, including facilitating the Safeguarding Champion’s 
network meetings;  

• establish and maintain effective multi-agency working with all relevant 
statutory and non-statutory agencies;  

• identify needs and oversee provision of staff training, including disseminating 
lessons learnt;  

• provide professional support and advice to other colleagues and Safeguarding 
Champions across BCP Council and from partner organisations. 

 
5.4.7  Line Managers across BCP Council 
   

Managers across BCP Council: 
 

• will ensure that recruitment procedures are followed and that appropriate 
checks for all job roles, particularly for staff working with children and adults 
care and support needs, including agency, voluntary, temporary or work 
placements. This also includes requesting Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) checks and ensuring that DBS referrals are made if appropriate.   

• will carry out the correct safeguarding induction process for all new staff 
including ensuring the appropriate training is attended.  

• will ensure that all staff within their remit are made aware of the relevant 
safeguarding procedures and have the appropriate ongoing training.   

• provide management oversight to ensure that the Safeguarding principles 
communicated through training are implemented in day to day practice 

• will support Service unit Safeguarding Champions to attend relevant training 
and meetings relevant to their role  

• will support staff to raise safeguarding concerns when necessary 
• to ensure that accurate records are kept in relation to any concerns raised  

 
5.4.8  Service Unit Safeguarding Champions  
  

Each Service Unit will identify at least one Safeguarding Champion and they will 
be supported to attend quarterly network meetings led by the Safeguarding Lead 
officers. 

 
This role will ensure that effective liaison and management of any concerns 
about the health and welfare of a child or an adult who may be at risk of harm, 
are responded to in line with the BCP Council safeguarding adults and 
safeguarding children’s policy and procedures.  

141



 

10 
 

 
The key responsibilities of the Service Unit Safeguarding Champion are: 

 
Please note that this is not a job description but allows clarity of the role of the 
Service Unit Safeguarding Champion:  
• to attend the safeguarding meetings 
• to act as a source of support, advice, and expertise when staff within the Team 

/ Unit have a concern about possible risk or harm  
• to assist colleagues to refer any cases of concern of suspected harm or abuse 

in conjunction with their line manager 
• to receive and consider safeguarding messages and update and disseminate 

them, as relevant within the Unit/Team 
• to ensure staff know how to access relevant safeguarding Adults and Children 

awareness training and Domestic Violence awareness training  
• to attend regular Safeguarding Champion liaison meetings and disseminate 

information within their Unit/Team  
• to contribute to Audits, Internal Management Reviews and Serious Case 

Reviews as and when required and relevant 
• to give feedback on existing safeguarding policies and procedures and their 

development 
  

5.4.9  Outside Organisations, Contractors and Partnership Agencies   
  

Organisations delivering services involving children or adults at risk of harm on 
behalf of BCP Council are required to comply with the relevant Safeguarding 
Policies and, where relevant, to have their own policy and procedures in place.  

 
This includes the requirement that all specifications for contracted and 
commissioned services are required to comply with this Strategy. 
 
This will be part of commissioning and contracting arrangements, which is in line 
with the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, having regard to the economic, 
social and environmental well-being of the public.   

 
Relevant and proportionate safeguarding criteria will be built into the procurement 
documents and processes as required.  
 
Remember “Safeguarding is Everyone’s Business” 

  

142



 

11 
 

 
6. Behaviours, Induction, Training and Supervision 

 
 
6.1 So that the behaviours of those involved in service delivery, including BCP Councillors, are 

above reproach and they are equipped with the skills to Safeguard people in our 
community, BCP Council will ensure that all staff have an appropriate level of awareness 
to recognise and respond to signs of harm or abuse.   

 
6.2 This will be done by: 

 
• A requirement that anyone who will have contact with or access to records about 

children, young people, or adults at risk of harm, is subject to the appropriate statutory 
DBS checks before being allowed to work unsupervised with these groups or have 
access to their records.  

• A requirement to adhere to BCP Council’s Code of Conduct, BCP Councils Behaviour 
Framework and any relevant professional Code of Conduct 

• A requirement that all staff, BCP Councillors and contracted services will undertake a 
basic level of awareness training as part of their induction.  Some staff will be required 
to undertake additional training depending upon their role. 

• A commitment from BCP Council to uphold the Behaviour Framework or the relevant 
Code of Conduct 

 
 
7.  Enforcements and Sanctions 
 
 
7.1 Failure to comply with our Safeguarding Strategy could have significant legal and financial 

implications for BCP Council and individuals. That is why it is important to embed 
Safeguarding and demonstrate consideration of Safeguarding in our strategies, policies, 
plans and procedures.   

 
7.2 Councillors who fail to comply with this Strategy will be subject to procedures set out in 

their code of conduct.   
 
7.3 Officers who breach this Strategy will be subject to BCP Councils Disciplinary Procedure. 
 
 

8. Information Sharing and Reporting Concerns  
  
  
8.1 BCP Council will ensure that there are clear and effective procedures in place to enable 

the reporting of any suspected or actual cases of abuse or harm.  
 
8.2 When there is a reasonable cause to believe that a child, young person or adult with care 

and support needs, may be experiencing, or at risk of experiencing neglect abuse or harm, 
consideration must always be given to referring these concerns to Children’s or Adults 
Social Care. Matters must be referred to the Police if there is suspicion that a crime may or 
has been committed. 

 

143



 

12 
 

8.3 Feedback must be given to the referrer about the action taken. However, the persons’ right 
to confidentiality may limit the detail that can be given to third parties. 

 
8.4 The above principles of confidentiality apply to all Councillors, employees and contracted 

staff.   However, information about children, young people, families and adults at risk of 
harm, neglect or abuse will be shared appropriately, and always in accordance with BCP 
Council’s Information Management and Data Sharing Strategy. If there is any doubt 
whether the information ought to be shared advice must be sought from the Information 
Governance Team. 

 
Contact details for reporting harm or abuse relating to an child, young person or adult at 
risk of harm can be found here. 

 
8.5 BCP Council will apply the principles set out in its Whistle Blowing Strategy to encourage 

the reporting of legitimate concerns and by reassuring staff, representatives or anybody 
acting on their behalf that they will be protected from victimisation or future disadvantage if 
they raise legitimate concerns in good faith. 

 
8.6 If you feel that a Councillor has not behaved in a correct way you can make a complaint to 

the BCP Council to request the matter is investigated.  
 
8.7 More information about how you may raise your concerns about a Councillor can be found 

here. 
  

144

https://www.earlyhelppartnership.org.uk/contacts/Documents/NEW-BCP-Council-Children-and-Adult-Care-Contacts.pdf
https://www.poole.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/52829.docx
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=151&MId=3671&Ver=4


 

13 
 

Appendix 1 – Definitions of Safeguarding 
 

Safeguarding is about supporting and protecting people in their relationships with other 
people   

 
It can range from taking responsibility for not causing harm through our interactions, to 
being mindful of people’s emotional wellbeing & welfare, through to reporting concerns 
about a child, young person or adult with care and support needs being at risk of harm or 
abuse   

 
Safeguarding is not just about meeting our statutory duties, it is about keeping each other 
and ourselves safe, it is about speaking out and taking appropriate action to prevent any 
kind of harm or abuse from happening 

 
Children and Young People 

 
Are defined as anyone under the age of 18 

  
Safeguarding children includes: 
• protecting children from maltreatment; 
• preventing impairment of children's health or development; 
• ensuring that children grow up with care that keeps them safe and well; and acting to 

enable all children to have the best outcomes 
 

Children can be harmed through: 
• witnessing and being involved in domestic violence; 
• neglect of their physical care, emotional needs or living in poor home conditions; 
• the impact of drug or alcohol misuse by parents; 
• sexual exploitation / trafficking often linked with going missing and running away; 
• exploitation involving criminal activity 
• sexual abuse by family people in authority /other young people /people linked to the 

family; 
• physical abuse; 
• the impact of parents’ mental health problems or learning disability; 
• being victims of anti-social behaviour / bullying; 
• cybercrime, including on-line grooming; 
• exposure to radicalisation 

 
Adults at risk 
An adult at risk is anyone aged 18 and over who: 
• has needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority is meeting any of 

those needs, e.g. the person may be purchasing their own care, or having it provided by 
family) and; 

• is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and 
• as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either 

the risk of, or the experience of abuse or neglect 
 
An adult at risk may therefore be a person who: 
• is frail due to age, ill health, physical disability or cognitive impairment; 
• has a learning disability; 

145



 

14 
 

• has a physical disability and/ or a sensory impairment; 
• has mental health needs including dementia or a personality disorder; 
• has a long-term illness /condition; 
• is addicted to alcohol or illicit substances; 
• is a victim of domestic violence or abuse; 
• is an unpaid carer or unpaid member of family/ friend who provides support and 

personal care 
 
Other adults who may face risk may not be considered as an adult at risk of harm within 
the definitions above, they may be: 
• victims or witnesses of domestic abuse; 
• victims or people at risk of honour-based violence; 
• victims of sexual violence; 
• victims or people at risk of forced marriage; 
• adults susceptible to radicalisation; 
• victims or people at risk of human trafficking or modern slavery 
• Care leavers up to the age of 25, if they have care or support needs 

 
 
  

146



 

15 
 

Appendix 2 Further Information about lead responsibilities 
 
 

Statutory guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the Director of Children’s Services 
(DCS) and the Lead Member for Children’s Services For local authorities (April 2013) 
states:  
 
The Lead Member for Children’s Services (LMCS)  
 
Section 19 of the Children Act 2004 requires every top tier local authority to designate one 
of its BCP Councillors as Lead Member for Children’s Services. The LMCS will be a local 
BCP Councillor with delegated responsibility from the BCP Council, through the Leader or 
Mayor, for children’s services. The LMCS, as a member of the BCP Council Executive, 
has political responsibility for the leadership, strategy and effectiveness of local authority 
children’s services. The LMCS is also democratically accountable to local communities 
and has a key role in defining the local vision and setting political priorities for children’s 
services within the broader political context of the BCP Council.  
  
The LMCS is responsible for ensuring that the needs of all children and young people, 
including the most disadvantaged and vulnerable, and their families and carers, are 
addressed. In doing so, the LMCS will work closely with other local partners to improve the 
outcomes and well-being of children and young people. The LMCS should have regard to 
the UNCRC and ensure that children and young people are involved in the development 
and delivery of local services. As politicians, LMCSs should not get drawn into the detailed 
day-to-day operational management of education and children’s services. They should, 
however, provide strong, strategic leadership and support and challenge to the DCS and 
relevant Councillors of their senior team as appropriate.  
 

147



This page is intentionally left blank

148



Appendix 2 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee’s Comments 

 

Cabinet is asked to note that the Minutes of both Committees were only available in 

draft format at the point of producing this Report, the points below are taken from 

these draft documents. 

 

Health and Adult Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee commented and 

Resolved that: -  

A number of questions were raised and discussed by members including: 

• The Committee supported a requirement for all Councillors to undertake an 

enhanced DBS check however it was also acknowledged that there was no legal 

requirement for a DBS check; 

• That safeguarding training should be mandatory for all councillors; 

• That there should be a clearer definition of what makes someone a vulnerable 

person or an adult at risk of harm (NB – This has been amended in the Strategy, with 

the phrase ‘adult at risk’ being consistently applied); 

• That having an advanced DBS Check protects councillors and individuals; 

• Details around how the DBS Check would be undertaken and the information 

subsequently used and stored;  

• That more work would need to be carried out around the strategy of the 

policy, including who would make decisions;  

• That the information from a DBS check would be considered personal data so 

would not be subject to freedom of information requests; 

• Whether the consequences for officers of not following the policy should also 

be outlined in the policy document (NB – This has been made clearer in the 

Strategy);  

• That a DBS Check shows unspent crimes and an advanced DBS Check also 

reveals spent crimes. Officers could provide a briefing paper on the differences; 

• The Committee wished to express to Cabinet that the DBS Check should be 

as robust as possible;  

RESOLVED that: -  

(a) The policy should include a clearer definition for ‘vulnerable person’ and 

‘adult at risk of harm’; 

(b) The consequences for officers who did not follow the policy should be 

included, in addition to the consequences for councillors; 

(c) The Committee would express its support for a robust DBS check to 

Cabinet; 

149



(d) The Committee unanimously voted in support of recommending 

mandatory safeguarding training for councillors. 

 

Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee Recommended that Cabinet 

consider and note the Committee’s comments as follows: 

• A grammatical error was highlighted at Paragraph 3.2 – it should read “has a 

responsibility…” instead of “have a….” (NB - This has been amended) and in 

Appendix 1 it should read “sexual abuse by family / people in authority / other young 

people” instead of “sexual abuse by family people in authority / other young people” 

• A Councillor expressed concern that the Strategy would only be available on 

the Council’s website and that a proportion of the Council’s residents may not use or 

have access to the internet.  It was requested that consideration be given on how to 

share the Strategy with a wider audience 

• There were discussions regarding the DBS checks and the Committee 

supported the requirement for anyone from the Council who had contact with 

children or vulnerable adults to be checked 

• In response to a query about BCP Council’s procurement of businesses and 

services, the Committee was advised that the requirement for DBS checks would 

form part of any relevant contract, which would then be monitored 

• In response to a query regarding secondary school children attending 

businesses for work experience, the Corporate Director advised that it was the 

responsibility of the Headteacher and School to ensure they were placing students in 

a safe environment 

• A Councillor felt that all Councillors should be enhanced DBS checked as they 

had access to and dealt with the most vulnerable members of the community 

• In response to a query, the Corporate Director advised that she would 

investigate the cost of a DBS check and the renewal frequency and circulate the 

information to the Committee 

• The Chairman requested consideration be given as to how best to engage all 

Councillors in awareness of the Safeguarding Strategy and their responsibilities 

• With reference to Appendix 1, a Councillor thought the definition of children 

and young people’s age should be extended to include, if considered vulnerable, up 

to 25 years old. (NB – This has been made clearer within the Appendix) 

• In response to a query, the Corporate Director advised that female gender 

mutilation would be classed as extreme physical abuse.  A Councillor felt that, due to 

its severity, a separate category may be more appropriate. 

 

150



 

CABINET 

 

Report subject Dorset Business Growth Programme – EU funding 

Meeting date 30 September 2019 

Status Public Report 

Executive summary The Dorset Business Growth Programme, run by WSX 
Enterprise Ltd, provides free business advice to people 
running or setting up small and medium sized enterprises 
(SMEs) in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, and Dorset.  
It has been very successful in helping create new businesses 
and new jobs in the area.  

The programme receives EU funding from the European 
Structural Investment Fund, match funding and in-kind 
support from local partners and local authorities.   

At the beginning of the programme, Bournemouth Council 
agreed to be the Accountable Body, and subsequently 
agreed to guarantee the obligations of WSX Enterprise as to 
the delivery of the programme as set out in the funding 
agreement provided by the Ministry for Housing Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG). Bournemouth Council 
made appropriate legal and financial provisions so as to 
protect the Council’s interests. These agreements have 
novated over to BCP Council. The original funding is coming 
to an end and a project extension has been applied for by 
WSX Enterprise Ltd.  For this to be granted, BCP Council is 
requested to extend the term of its commitment accordingly.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that: 

 (a) BCP Council continues as the Accountable Body 
for the Dorset Business Growth Programme; and 
that: 

(b) BCP Council continues its role in guaranteeing the 

obligations of WSX Enterprise Limited as to the 

delivery of the programme. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The recommendations support BCP Council’s priority for a 
thriving, sustainable economy.  

151

Agenda Item 11



 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Mark Howell (Portfolio Holder for Regeneration 
and Culture) 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton (Director Economy and Regeneration) 

Contributors Chris Shephard, Director Development 

Wards All 

Classification For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. The Dorset Business Growth Programme is run by WSX Enterprise Limited under 
the brand “Dorset Growth Hub” and delivers a programme of free business 
support and guidance to people looking to set up or those already running a small 
or medium sized business in the area. The Dorset Business Growth Partnership 
is a consortium of 5 delivery partners - Bournemouth University, DORMEN, Arts 
Development Company, Silicon South and YTKO (Outset and GetSet for 
Growth).   

2. The programme started in February 2017 and was due to end in December 2019.  
It is an evolution and a simplification of various models of free business support 
that have been available in Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole and wider Dorset.  

3. The programme is funded through a combination of European Structural 
Investment Funding, matched by local contributions, in-kind commitments from 
local authorities and business investment (through a grants programme). The 
total value of the programme is £12,640,000, which includes match funding. 

4. To date the Dorset Business Growth programme has helped to create jobs and 
grow businesses in Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, and across Dorset.  
Officers from BCP Council have attended regular operational and strategic 
progress meetings with WSX and it is predicted that the programme will meet or 
exceed all its targets making it one of the most successful EU funded 
programmes in the UK. WSX have also been through two (Section 125) audits 
with MHCLG with no significant issues found giving further assurance of 
compliance to MHCLG and EU regulations. 

5. On September 7th 2016, Bournemouth Borough Council (BBC) Cabinet agreed to 
be the Accountable Body for the programme (Background Paper 1) at the request 
of the Government. It also subsequently agreed, through a Cabinet Member 
Decision Record (Background Paper 2), to guarantee the obligations of WSX 
Enterprise Limited as to the delivery of this programme, as set out in the Funding 
Agreement (Background Paper 3) provided by the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).  Financial and legal provisions 
were made to limit the Council’s risk. On the creation of BCP Council the 
agreements novated from BBC to BCP Council.  

6. The programme is reaching the end of its original timeframe. MHCLG have asked 
WSX Enterprise to bid for a project extension which would see further investment 
flow into Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, and wider Dorset to continue the 
programme.  Whilst the new total value of the programme is yet to be confirmed it 

152



 

will be no more than £2.5m (meaning a total project value of £5m including match 
funding).  The extension has been granted in principle and will run from January 
2020 to December 2021. However, to move forward, Government and 
subsequently WSX Enterprise have requested a re-commitment from the Council 
to the roles it has played to date. 

7. This report therefore seeks approval for BCP Council to continue its role as the 
Accountable Body for the Dorset Business Growth Programme and to commit to 
continuing its role in guaranteeing the obligations of WSX Enterprise Limited in 
relation to the programme. The current legal and financial agreements would 
remain in place to ensure the risk to BCP Council continues to be limited.  

Summary of financial implications 

8. The summary or risk assessment sections (31-37) of this report set out for 
Members the risks to BCP Council and BCP council tax payers of taking on the 
role as Accountable Body status and guaranteeing the obligations of WSX 
Enterprise Limited for the Dorset Business Growth Programme.  

9. BCP Council will be responsible for ensuring appropriate financial administration 
and governance of the projects grant income and associated expenditure. In this 
regard BCP Council will be discharging a significant element of its responsibilities 
to WSX Enterprise who will adhere to the detailed guidance issued by MHCLG. 

10. The risks need to be considered in the context of the benefits to businesses in 
Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole and wider Dorset, and assessed in the 
knowledge that appropriate mitigation arrangements can be put in place. 

11. In committing to this project BCP Council is also committing within the context of 
its 2019/20 and 2020/21 Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) to 
providing officer time to the value of £129,682 (£64,841 per annum * 2yrs) and 
office space at Darracott Rd to the value of £40,000 (£20,000 per annum *2 
years). 

12. BCP Council is also committed to covering the cash-flow implications between 
payments out and grant recovery. 

13. To date, WSX have claimed for 10 quarters (in arrears) amounting to £9,962,309 
(including match) averaging £996, 231 per quarter or £332,077 per month. The 
amount of funding that WSX actually receive from MHCLG is 50% of this (£166k 
a month) as the remaining 50% is the match funding element. 

14. The current cash flow exposure to BCP Council would be no more than two claim 
periods (approximately £1.0m - 6 *£166k) of ERDF funding. This would be on a 
gap funding basis and would only be incurred if there was a significant 
discrepancy. This amount will reduce for the extension as the budget and claims 
(and therefore exposure) will be smaller.  

15. BCP Council, through novation from BBC, has undertaken to guarantee WSX’s 
obligations meaning that it becomes primarily responsible for paying any losses, 
costs and expenses sustained by the MHCLG as a result of WSX breaching its 
obligations under the Funding Agreement. The previous amount under the 
Funding Agreement was £6,700,000. In order to limit the risk of BCP Council 
becoming responsible for any repayment the Council has; 

153



 

i. Agreed with MHCLG the maximum liability under the Guarantee will be 
75% of the greater of (a) the amount drawn down by WSX under the 
Funding Agreement at any given time and (b) £6,700,000; and 

ii. Entered into an agreement with WSX (Appendix 5) whereby a) WSX and 
BCP Council agree to work collaboratively and to monitor the Project 
jointly via a Project Board and b) WSX agrees to indemnify BCP Council 
against any liabilities accruing to the Council pursuant to the Guarantee.  

16. The extension of the project is expected to be an additional £2,500,000. The 
summary legal implications suggest how this is progressed. 

17. The exchange rate will inevitably fluctuate. As with previous projects there is a 
standardised agreed exchange rate that is used across al EU funded projects.  

Summary of legal implications  

18. MHCLG previously agreed to provide grant support to WSX Enterprise Limited 
(“WSX”), subject to it complying with the terms of a funding agreement dated 8 
February 2017 (the “Funding Agreement”).   

19. Bournemouth Borough Council (“BBC”) was asked to guarantee the obligations 
of WSX as set out in the Funding Agreement under a deed of guarantee (the 
“Guarantee”) and those obligations now bind Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole Council (“BCP Council”).  Pursuant to the Guarantee (Background Paper 
4), BCP is liable for any losses, costs and expenses sustained by MHCLG 
through any default by WSX of its obligations under the Funding Agreement, 
including in respect of any warranties it gives.  The Guarantee also makes BCP 
Council primarily responsible for such liabilities, i.e. MHCLG would not first have 
to pursue WSX for any losses but could take preliminary action to recover any 
such sums from BCP Council. 

20. The extent of BCP’s liabilities under the Guarantee is 75% of the sums advanced 
to WSX under the Funding Agreement (up to £6,700,000). 

21. The key risk identified by BBC, as guarantor, was the ability of MHCLG to require 
repayment by BCP Council of the whole of any payments made to WSX up to 
that point in time if an event of default or material breach were to occur (or were 
found to have occurred).  An event of default toward the end of the term is 
capable of triggering a repayment of the whole amount of grant funding provided 
up to that point; any demand for repayment would require such repayment to be 
made within 20 working days. 

22. To mitigate against the risk of an event of default, BCP Council and WSX entered 
into a Memorandum of Understanding which sought to formalise governance 
arrangements so as to give BCP Council a framework within which to oversee 
performance of the guaranteed obligations and intervene where necessary.   

23. It would be advisable for BCP Council to review the current governance 
arrangements set out in the MoU to ensure that they are still observed and fit for 
purpose; the arrangements (varied as may be required) should remain in place 
for the period during which the extended funding arrangements are in place.   

24. It would also be advisable for BCP Council to enter into a new guarantee in 
relation to the proposed additional funding in order to disaggregate any liability 
from that which might arise under the Funding Agreement.  If MHCLG’s 
preference is instead for the Guarantee to cover the proposed additional funding 

154



 

to WSX, then BCP Council should seek to obtain confirmation in writing from 
MHCLG that MHCLG are not aware of any extant risk of clawback rights being 
exercised in respect of any funding provided to date. 

25. No terms have been provided by MHCLG for review at this stage and legal 
advice should be sought on the terms of any extension of the Guarantee or a new 
guarantee, and any changes to the Memorandum of Understanding.  

26. Whilst a guarantee given by a public body could constitute state aid if the relevant 
conditions were met, WSX has advised that Council that it has taken advice and 
that it has determined that it is not an undertaking (because it is not using the 
grant monies to engage in an economic activity).  We do not therefore consider 
that the guarantee given by BCP Council of the performance by WSX of its 
obligations under the Funding Agreement constitutes state aid.  

Summary of human resources implications  

27. To provide the required match funding for this programme, specified staff time will 
continue to be used for the extension. This is business as usual.  Staff involved in 
providing timesheets have direct contact with businesses or work on the 
management and governance which supports the smooth running of the 
programme.  

Summary of environmental impact  

28. None. This report is about governance and administration.  

Summary of public health implications  

29. The creation of more jobs will help to provide work opportunities for local people, 
helping with their well-being.  

Summary of equality implications  

30. This programme follows the requirements as laid out by EU regulations and is 
therefore fully compliant with and supports equality legislation.  

Summary of risk assessment  

31. Risks have been properly assessed as part of ongoing governance of the 
programme. From BCP Council’s perspective, there are clear mitigations against 
the key risks and the risk to the Council is low. It should be noted that at no stage 
during the project, which is now ~80% complete, have the measures put in place 
to limit the Council’s risk been required. 

32. The DGH finance department has over 10 years experience managing ERDF 
projects. Senior officers have attended regular meetings with WSX throughout 
the course of the project and have been satisfied with the progress of the 
programme and assured of the compliance arrangements. This has been further 
strengthened by WSX passing both of their (Section 125) audits with MHCLG 
demonstrating their compliance with MHCLG and EU requirements. 

33. The Government has announced an extension to their guarantee to honour 
existing EU funded projects, which will now cover the full 2014-20 programme 
period and allocation in the event of a no-deal. The extension means that 
Government departments will continue to approve new projects after EU exit up 

155



 

to the value of programme allocations.  This is being continually monitored to 
ensure continuity.  

Summary of other risks associated with becoming Accountable Body  

34. The same process will be followed with this extension as with the original 
programme including WSX being responsible for all MHCLG and EU audit 
requirements and project governance. The Partnership Agreements will ensure 
that partners are still responsible and must repay any clawback should they 
spend ERDF funds in a way that does not comply with rules.  

Summary of risks of not becoming Accountable Body  

35. The major risk is that the project extension will not happen and local businesses 
(and residents starting up a new business venture) miss out on the significant 
services provided. The economy of the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
region would also lose economic value. 

36. By continuing the role of Accountable Body it shows leadership and confidence to 
the business community – there is reputational damage if we do not continue.  

37. There are also potential job losses for partners delivering the scheme if there is 
no extension - many of which will be residents of Bournemouth, Christchurch, 
Poole and Dorset. 

Background papers  

Background Paper 1: Bournemouth Cabinet paper 7th September 2016 

Background Paper 2: Cabinet Member Decision Record  

Background Paper 3: Funding Agreement 

Background Paper 4: Deed of Guarantee 

Appendices  

None 

156


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes
	5 Happyland, East Undercliff Promenade – Grant of Lease
	Appendix 1 - Site Plan

	6 Lansdowne
	Appendix 1 - Lansdowne Programme Update

	7 Wessex Fields Development Site
	Appendix 1 – A338 Wessex Fields Phasing Plan
	Sheets and Views
	0001
	OLE1
	OLE2




	8 Garden Waste Collection Service
	Appendix 1 - Communications Plan
	Comms 

	Appendix 2 - Equlity Impact Assessment

	9 Management of waste & cleansing services in Christchurch from April 2020.
	Appendix 1 - Communications Strategy
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment

	10 BCP Council Corporate Safeguarding Strategy
	Appendix 1 - BCP Safeguarding Strategy
	Appendix 2 - Overview and Scrutiny Committees Comments

	11 Dorset Business Growth Programme – EU funding

